ASSESSMENT OF THE BIOLOGY, ECOLOGY AND GENETIC STRUCTURE OF THE SEA CUCUMBER CUCUMARIA FRONDOSA FOR MANAGEMENT OF THE FISHERY IN THE NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR REGION

JUSTIN J. SO



·

ASSESSMENT OF THE BIOLOGY, ECOLOGY AND GENETIC STRUCTURE OF THE SEA CUCUMBER *CUCUMARIA FRONDOSA* FOR MANAGEMENT OF THE FISHERY IN THE NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR REGION

By

© Justin J. So

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Ocean Sciences Centre and Department of Biology,

Memorial University,

St. John's (Newfoundland and Labrador) Canada

25 August 2009

ABSTRACT

The biological traits of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* relevant from both ecological and resource management perspectives were investigated; including distribution, growth and predation on juveniles and adults, and population genetics. Natural densities were mainly dependent on substrate type and location. Spawning occurred from March to May in response to increasing phytoplankton abundance and larvae settled in ca. 5 weeks. Growth of juveniles and adults was slow (indicating ca. 25 years to reach market size) with seasonal patterns correlated with food supply. Juveniles of *S. endeca* fed upon post-metamorphic sea cucumbers, whereas adult feeding rates were modulated by temperature and biased towards small and injured sea cucumbers, suggesting that trawling may exacerbate predation pressure. Population genetic parameters are consistent with persistence in refugia through the last glacial maximum and local genetic patchiness is likely due to variations in recruitment. A precautionary management approach is advisable to ensure the sustainability of the fishery.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are so many people I need to thank for my M.Sc. This project was truly a collaboration in every sense of the word and I would not have been able to do this without the help of all the people involved from government, industry and academia.

I am grateful to my supervisor Annie Mercier and to Jean-François Hamel for their thoughts, support and guidance. Their curiosity and enthusiasm will always have a lasting impact on me and I was lucky to have such great people to work with. Thanks to Sven Uthicke at the Australian Institute of Marine Sciences (AIMS), who with great patience half a world away, guided me through population genetics. I also appreciated the comments and input of my committee members, Ian Fleming and Don Deibel and my examiners Bruce MacDonald and Dawn Marshall.

From the Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture (DFA), Lew Barrett provided me with unwavering support and insight into the fishery. His drive and passion to see a sustainable, economically viable sea cucumber fishery were a constant inspiration for this project. Thanks to Don Stansbury and Elaine Hynick from the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) who provided me with invaluable data on the fishery. Information and data on the habitat utilization study provided by Paul Winger and Chris Keats (Marine Institute) was much appreciated.

This project could not have succeeded without help from people all across the North Atlantic. The following personnel from DFO, DFA and the Bedford Institute of Oceanography (BIO) assisted me greatly in sample collection in Canadian waters; Tim Siferd, Martin Curtis, Guy Parsons, Shawn Melindy, Pat Mackey, Tyson Russell, Joe Drew, Vonda Wareham, Rabindra Singh, Bill Dennis, Darrell O'Brien, Sherrylynn Rowe, Bill MacEachern, and Juliette Francis. The following processors and local harvesters aided me in sample collection in Canada; Reginald Russell, Wayne Russell, Ed Russell, Baxter Hedderson, Wayne Minor, Danny Loveless, Chester Davis, Brian Sullivan, Stanley Lahey, Jules LeBlanc, Bruce Stewart, L. Arragutainaq, Bert Lambert, Todd Saunders, Derrick Kearly, Harvey Richardson, Elmina Richardson, Roger Foulem, Joey Angnatok, Martin Guay, Boyd Oram, Hollis Fowler and in Iceland; Kari Olafsson.

The following colleagues and researchers helped with collections in Canada; Philip Sargent, Bob O'Donnell, Renee Boland, Will Coffey, in the United States; Scott Feindel, James Berke, in Norway; Christoffer Schander, Halldis Ringvold, Trond Jørgensen, and in Russia; Elena Gudimova, Peter Zolotarev.

Special thanks to my colleague Zhao Sun for her help and advice over the last two years and to all the students in the Mercier lab; Gina Doyle, Chris Negrijn, Nikita Laite and Meghan Goobie who put up with me and helped me with my sampling and data collection. Sincere thanks as well to Matt Rise and Jules Doré for use of their laboratories and equipment.

The following people also graciously assisted me in some way or another throughout my M.Sc.: Lana Combdon, Daryl Jones, Connie Short, Pascal Kriwy, Scott Grant, Nicholas Duprey and the staff and collegues of the Ocean Sciences Centre (OSC) and Australian Institute of Marine Sciences (AIMS).

Finally, thanks to my family and friends for their support throughout my graduate studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	Г іі
ACKNOWI	EDGEMENTS iii
TABLE OF	CONTENTSv
LIST OF TA	ABLES vii
LIST OF FI	GURES viii
LIST OF AH	BREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS xi
LIST OF AF	PPENDICES
CO-AUTHO	DRSHIP STATEMENT xiv
CHAPTER	1: INTRODUCTION
1.1	Sea cucumber fisheries
1.2	Overview of the biology of Cucumaria frondosa1-3
1.3	Emerging Cucumaria frondosa fishery 1-8
1.4	Background information for the present study 1-10
1.5	Objectives of research
1.6	References
1.7	Figures 1-25
CHAPTER 2: ABUNDANCE, GROWTH AND PREDATION PRESSURE IN JUVENILES AND ADULTS OF <i>CUCUMARIA FRONDOSA</i> (ECHINODERMATA: HOLOTHUROIDEA): KEY FACTORS IN FISHERY MANAGEMENT	
2.1	Abstract
2.2	Introduction
2.3	Materials and Methods
2.4	Results
2.5	Discussion2-28
2.6	Acknowledgements
2.7	References2-49
2.8	Tables
2.9	Figures
CHAPTER 3	3: TRANS-ATLANTIC GLACIAL PERSISTENCE: RECONCILING

3.1	Abstract	3-2
3.2	Introduction	3-3
3.3	Materials and Methods	3-7
3.4	Results	3-12
3.5	Discussion	3-14
3.6	Acknowledgements	3-24
3.7	References	3-26
3.8	Tables	3-39
3.9	Figures	3-44
CHAPTER	4: SUMMARY	4-1
4.1	Biology and ecology of Cucumaria frondosa	4-2
4.2	Implications for the fishery	4-6
4.3	Future research	4-7
4.4	References	4-11
4.5	Tables	1-16
APPENDIC	CES	1

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1: Mean measurements of whole specimens of Cucumaria frondosa from various
substrates on the St. Pierre Bank. The number of specimens in each set is indicated
(n) and standard deviation is noted in brackets. See text for description of
measures and substrate
Table 2-2: Description of main substrate types on the St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland and
Labrador
Table 2-3: Initial size classes used for the growth study of Cucumaria frondosa in the
laboratory. Food supplemented classes are noted with an "F". IW represents
immersed weight; WW represents wet weight; CL represents contracted length
and CW represents contracted width
Table 2-4: Development of Cucumaria frondosa in the laboratory. A new stage was
established when ca. 50 % of embryos reached it. Larvae were reared under
ambient photoperiod and temperature (-1 to 0 °C)
Table 2-5: One way ANOVA of immersed weight between replicates of Cucumaria
frondosa in size Classes 4-8. See Table 2-2 for size class details
Table 3-1: Diversity measures for populations of Cucumaria frondosa using 618 bp of
COI. The number of samples per site (N), unique haplotypes (H) and polymorphic
sites (PS) are listed as well as Fu's Fs neutrality value. Standard deviation is noted
in brackets and significant values are shown in bold
Table 3-2: Effective migration rates of populations of Cucumaria frondosa between three
regions in the North Atlantic calculated with MIGRATE (Beerli 2008). Upper and
lower 95 % profile confidence limits are noted in brackets
Table 3-3: Pairwise FST values of Cucumaria frondosa across the North Atlantic
calculated with 16002 permutations of haplotypes. Significant values (p<0.05) are
shown in bold. Refer to Table 3-1 for sample site identification. Sites 3KC and
BEN were excluded due to low sample size. Negative values are the result of
imprecision in the calculations and can be interpreted as zero (Long 1986) 3-41
Table 3-4: Hierarchical analysis of molecular variance of populations of Cucumaria
frondosa across the North Atlantic
Table 3-5: Ecological characteristics of Cucumaria frondosa that support survival
through last glacial period and subsequent population expansion
Table 4-1: Summary of ecological and biological characteristics of Cucumaria frondosa
Table 4-2: Summary of ecological and biological characteristics of Cucumaria frondosa
on the St. Pierre Bank

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Capture and processing of <i>Cucumaria frondosa</i> . A) Retrieving the sea cucumber drag, B) whole sea cucumbers in the processing plant, C) gutted circular and longitudinal muscle bands, D) packaged muscle bands ready for shipment, E) dried body wall and aquapharyngeal bulb (flower), F) packaging dried body wall.
Figure 2-1: Sample sites for determining substrate related condition in <i>Cucumaria</i> frondosa on the St. Pierre Bank. Samples were collected from rocky (R1), gravelly (G1 and G2) and sandy (S1 and S2) substrates. See text for descriptions of substrates. 2-70
Figure 2-2: Frequency of substrate type relative to the presence or absence of <i>Cucumaria</i> frondosa and Solaster endeca. Miscellaneous substrate is comprised of a mixture of other substrates including rock, gravel, sand and shell
Figure 2-3: Densities of <i>Cucumaria frondosa</i> in areas where the predator <i>Solaster endeca</i> is present or absent on the St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland and Labrador (Canada) determined by survey trawls in 2007 and densities of <i>S. endeca</i> in the presence of <i>C. frondosa</i> . There was insufficient data to determine densities of <i>S. endeca</i> in areas devoid of <i>C. frondosa</i> . Error bars indicate standard deviation and number of tows is indicated above the bars
Figure 2-4: Average population size structure of <i>Solaster endeca</i> from the Barents Sea (1997-1999; 68°36'N, 40°00'E; data from Zolotarev 2002) and from the St. Pierre Bank (2006-2007; 45°46'N, 56°05'W; data from present study)
Figure 2-5 : Average measurements of <i>Cucumaria frondosa</i> from rock (R1), mixed gravel and rock (G1 and G2) and sand (S1 and S2) substrate from the St. Pierre Bank. Error bars indicate standard deviation. Means with the same letter within the same graph are not significantly different (Bonferroni, α =0.05). See text for substrate descriptions and Figure 2-1 for location. 2-74
 Figure 2-6: Principal stages of development in <i>Cucumaria frondosa</i> in the laboratory. A) Fertilized oocyte showing elevated fertilization envelope. B) 4-cell stage, C) 32-cell stage, D) blastula, E) young gastrula, F) vitellaria showing podial pit, G) early pentactula showing five tentacles, H) late pentactula showing a pair of ambulacral podia. E: elevated fertilization envelope; B: blastopore; P: podial pit; T: tentacles; AP: ambulacral podia. Scale bars represent 0.5 mm
Figure 2-7: Development of juveniles of <i>Cucumaria frondosa</i> . A) two month old juvenile with first pair of podia, B) three month old juvenile showing ossicles and two pairs of podia, C) four month old juvenile showing stomach, anus and aquapharyngeal bulbs, three pairs of podia and the tentacles becoming ramified, D) six month old juvenile with four pairs of podia, E) 12 month old juvenile with five pairs of podia, F) 19 month old juvenile with eight pairs of podia, G) 22 month old juvenile with nine pairs of podia, H) 25 month old juvenile with ten pairs of podia. T: tentacles; AP: ambulacral podia; O: ossicles. Scale bar represents 1 mm.

- Figure 3-1: A) Schematic current structure of the North Atlantic between April and June (during pelagic larval phase of *Cucumaria frondosa*), adapted from Fratantoni

(2001) showing population sites and B) enlarged map of eastern Canada and Maine (USA) from boxed area in A. Scale bar represent 500 km. See Table 3-1 for population identification details. The major currents are labeled as follows; GS-Gulf Stream; NAC-North Atlantic Current; NC-Norwegian Current; EGC-Eastern Greenland Current; IC-Icelandic Current; WGC-Western Greenland Current; LC-Labrador Current. Thickness of arrows indicates strength of current.

Figure 3-3: Bayesian skyline plots depicting the demographic history of C. frondosa across the North Atlantic. The solid line represents the median value for the log of effective population size (Log N_e) and the dashed lines represent the upper and lower 95 % credible intervals. The x-axes represents thousands of years before 2008 with minimum and maximum time estimates based on previously calculated sea urchin COI mutation rates of 1.6-3.5 % Myr⁻¹ (Lessios et al. 1999, 2001; McCartney et al. 2000). Time estimates of the LGM are noted with arrows on the x-axes.
Figure 3-4: Slatkin's (1993) linearized genetic distance (F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST})) plotted against

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

AMOVA	Analysis of molecular variance
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BW	Body wall of the sea cucumber.
CL	Contracted length; length of a sea cucumber that is stimulated to contract measured from mouth to anus.
COI	Cytochrome oxidase I gene region of the mitochondrial DNA.
CPUE	Catch per unit effort: The amount of catch that is taken per unit of fishing gear per unit of fishing time.
CW	Contracted width; width of a sea cucumber that is stimulated to contract measured medially.
D _{cdf}	Cumulative density frequency statistic in SAShA; the average root mean squared difference between the observed and expected cumulative distributions across all geographic distance bins.
DFA	Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada.
DFO	Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada.
dNTP	Deoxynucleotide Triphosphate
DW	Dry weight: the weight of a sea cucumber dried in an oven at 60 °C for 5-6 days until constant weight.
EtOH	Ethanol
F _{ST}	F-statistic/fixation index: a measure of the genetic distance between two groups based on genotypic frequencies.
Фст	Φ -statistic corresponding to the correlation between the variance of defined groups compared to all sampled populations.
Φ _{SC}	Φ -statistic corresponding to the correlation between populations within groups compared to the variance of defined groups.

Φ_{ST}	Φ -statistic corresponding to the correlation between all populations compared to the total variance of all sampled populations.
IW	Immersed weight; the weight of an animal suspended in water measured in grams.
L	Length of a preserved sea cucumber from mouth to anus.
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA.
R	Arm radius of a sea star measured from the mouth to the tip of the longest undamaged arm.
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
SAShA	Statistical analysis of shared alleles; a statistical analysis that compares the spatial arrangement of shared alleles to the expectation under panmixia.
SI	Size index: contracted length multiplied by contracted width multiplied by a scaling factor of 0.1.
SW	Split weight: weight of a sea cucumber cut ventrally from the mouth to a few centimetres before the anus with the internal fluid drained. Measured in grams.
Ti/TV	Transition/transversion ratio: The ratio of the number of transitions to the number of transversions for a pair of sequences.
W	Width of a preserved sea cucumber measured in the middle of the animal.
ww	Wet weight; blotted weight of an animal.
vbp	Years before present.

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: List of presentations delivered	
Appendix 2: Cucumaria frondosa CO1 haplotypes and their frequencies across 20	
sample sites in the North Atlantic. See Table 3-1 for sample site identification	
(ID)	III

CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

The research described in this thesis was carried out by Justin So, with guidance from Annie Mercier, Jean-Francois Hamel and Sven Uthicke. Justin So was responsible for data collection and analysis. Manuscripts resulting from this thesis were prepared by Justin So, with editing assistance and intellectual input from co-authors as follows:

Authorship for Chapter 2 is J.J. So, J.-F. Hamel and A. Mercier.

Authorship for Chapter 3 is J.J. So, S. Uthicke, J.-F. Hamel and A. Mercier

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION



Sea cucumber dish from Stone House Restaurant, St. John's, NL, Canada with the "flower" and body wall.

1.1 Sea cucumber fisheries

The demand for sea cucumbers, or holothuroids, dates to the 16th and 17th centuries in China where they were touted as an invigorating health food. Their name in Chinese; "Hai-shen" translates to "Ginseng of the sea". Today, China remains the main market for sea cucumber products and the global fisheries in Asia and the Indo-Pacific Islands remain active due to the high and ever growing demand (Chen 2004). Currently 90 % of the fisheries target tropical aspidochirotid species (e.g. *Holothuria atra, H. scabra, Stichopus horrens*), however more recently a few dendrochirotid species have also been fished, mainly in temperate waters (e.g. *Cucumaria frondosa, Athyonidium chilensis, Pattalus mollis*; Toral-Granda et al. 2008). The fisheries in Asia and the Pacific region exploit over 80 species of sea cucumbers, resulting in catches of 20 000-40 000 tonnes per year (Toral-Granda et al. 2008).

The main commercial sea cucumber product is "beche-de-mer" made from the boiled and dried body wall of the animal. Fresh or frozen body wall, muscle bands, gonad and oral tentacles are also popular products. Few parts are discarded in processing as nearly 90 % of the animal is edible. Further research into the nutritional value of sea cucumbers indicates that it is low in fat, high in protein and contains many essential amino acids. Recently, dried sea cucumbers in capsule form have been marketed as a health supplement that can be a useful treatment for anemia, arthritis, ulcers and cancer (Chen 2004; Mamelona et al. 2007).

Unfortunately, holothuroids are quite vulnerable to overfishing as demonstrated by the numerous examples of "boom and bust" fisheries, which have brought some sea cucumber populations close to local extinction (Toral-Granda et al. 2008). Sea cucumber populations in Fiji were quickly depleted within a decade following the re-opening of the fishery in the early 1990's, reaching exports of over 700 tonnes of beche-de-mer product (Kinch et al. 2008). This pattern, where harvesting precedes any kind of management strategy or biological research, is often the norm. Scientific studies are now being conducted in many countries on several species of commercially important holothuroids in an attempt to restore their populations. Sea cucumbers are generally slow moving, have low recruitment rates, and are easy to harvest (Levitan and Petersen 1995; Uthicke and Conand 2005). Combined with the high value of some species, this provides a good recipe for overexploitation and in some areas illegal harvesting (Bruckner et al. 2003). Overfishing can also lead to a prolonged recovery time for the fishery when populations are brought down to very low densities. Furthermore, most holothuroids are broadcast spawners and are subject to Allee effects as they generally depend on close proximity of individuals to ensure acceptable fertilization rates (Uthicke and Conand 2005). Lower than normal densities of sea cucumbers could thus lead to impaired annual recruitment.

1.2 Overview of the biology of Cucumaria frondosa

The decline in harvests of traditional fisheries species in Canada has led to a shift in focus to underutilized species. Several exploratory fisheries are being conducted to determine if underutilized species would be commercially sustainable. At the forefront of emerging fisheries in Atlantic Canada is the orange-footed sea cucumber, *Cucumaria* *frondosa*. A common holothuroid in North Atlantic and Arctic waters, *C. frondosa* has been well researched due to its wide distribution and potential as a fishery.

Cucumaria frondosa is a dendrochirotid sea cucumber (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) with ten branched oral tentacles ranging in colour from orange to black. This species has a football shape with a leathery skin ranging in colour from yellowish white to dark brownish-black and is covered with five rows of retractile tube feet (ambulacral podia) (Jordon 1972; Gosner 1978). Three of these bands of tube feet are found ventrally whereas the dorsal rows are often reduced into papillae. Adults of *C. frondosa* have a reduced numbers of spicules (skeletal structures) shaped like rounded plates with regular perforations that range in size from 160 to 350 μ m (Levin and Gudimova 2000). The species is sexually dimorphic with a conspicuous tube-shaped (female) or heart-shaped (male) gonopore located under the crown of oral tentacles (Hamel and Mercier 1996a).

Cucumaria frondosa generally inhabits rocky areas where the bottom consists of ledges or boulders and is well distributed from shallow water to depths of more than 300 m (Klugh 1923; Coady 1973; Gosner 1978). Mature individuals have even been collected from depths of 1300 m (J.-F. Hamel, personal observation). Although *C. frondosa* has been found on a variety of substrates such as sand and gravel, it prefers hard rocky substrates (Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Singh et al. 2001). *Cucumaria frondosa* is the most common sea cucumber in the North Atlantic and is found in densities of 5-50 individuals m⁻² (Hamel and Mercier 1995; Singh et al. 2001) although its distribution is patchy in some areas (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006). Higher densities are observed in areas where currents provide a good source of food (Singh et al. 1998). The species has an arctic and subarctic distribution along the North Atlantic including the Norwegian, Barents and North Seas. Its southern range extends to the North Shore of Cape Cod in the western Atlantic and to the south of Scandinavia and northern British Isles in the eastern Atlantic (Jordan 1972; Coady 1973; Smirnov 1994). As suspension feeders (Singh et al. 1998; Hamel and Mercier 1998) and prey to several other species (Legault and Himmelman 1993; Francour 1997; Hamel and Mercier 2008), adults of *C. frondosa* form a key component of many cold-temperate ecosystems.

Like other dendrochirotid sea cucumbers, *C. frondosa* captures particles in the water column (Hamel and Mercier 1998). As shown in other species of sea cucumbers, adhesive material is secreted by papillae onto the finely branched tentacles as a means of physiological ensnarement (Fankboner 1978). Particles are ingested when individual tentacles are inserted into the mouth one at a time (Singh et al. 1999). Studies in the St. Lawrence Estuary showed that *C. frondosa* is not a very selective feeder and captures living (planktonic cells, eggs, embryos) and non-living particles, from 25-350 µm in diameter. Intestinal structure, however, seems to be designed primarily for digesting refractory plant material (Hamel and Mercier 1998). *Cucumaria frondosa* shows distinct seasonal feeding patterns dependant on daily food abundance (Jordan 1972; Sutterlin and Waddy 1976; Hamel and Mercier 1998; Singh et al. 1999). Laboratory and field observations indicate that feeding rate is related to food abundance as detected by the oral tentacles, which contain chemosensory and mechanosensory cells (Fankboner 1978; Hamel and Mercier 1998).

The main predators of sea cucumbers include fishes, sea stars and crustaceans, although sea stars are the dominant and best known predators in North Atlantic waters

1-5

(Legault and Himmelman 1993; Francour 1997). The predatory sea star Solaster endeca shares a similar arctic and subarctic distribution with C. frondosa (Gosner 1978). It also has a comparable spawning period (Britt and Petersen 1982; Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995). Solaster endeca has been observed feeding on various holothuroids (Mauzey et al. 1968; Gaymer et al. 2004) and other echinoderms (Bull 1934; Mayo and Mackie 1976); however well developed escape responses of C. frondosa to S. endeca suggest they have cohabited for a very long time. In the presence of S. endeca, C. frondosa undergoes strong elongation and contraction motions, making it harder for the sea star to wrap its arms around the sea cucumber (Legault and Himmelman 1993). Unlike C. frondosa, the sea star generally exhibits low densities (0.001-0.100 ind m⁻²) throughout its geographic distribution (Mauzey et al. 1968; Himmelman and Dutil, 1991; Hamel and Mercier, 1996a; Ellis and Rogers 2000; Zolotarev, 2002; Gaymer et al., 2004). Sea cucumbers have also been found to be consumed by wolffish and walruses (Hamel and Mercier 2008) and larval/juvenile sea cucumbers are subject to predation by grazing species such as the green sea urchin Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, 2008).

Gametogenesis in *C. frondosa* is initiated in January in correlation with increasing photoperiod. Spawning occurs annually between February and June with variations among regions (Hamel and Mercier 1996b, d, 2008; Singh et al. 2001). High phytoplankton abundance and tidal cycles act as spawning cues (Hamel and Mercier 1995, 1996b, 1999, 2008). Males release spermatozoa first which triggers subsequent release of large buoyant reddish oocytes from females (Hamel and Mercier 1996d, 2008). At depths where there is little light penetration, gametogenesis is triggered through

1-6

mucus-mediated chemical communication with conspecifics from populations in the shallower photic zone (Hamel and Mercier 1996b, c, 1999).

Gametes are produced in the gonadal tubules which undergo synchronous or asynchronous development depending on the region or latitude (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). Sea cucumbers with uniform gonadal tubules are associated with areas that have a long and intense feeding period enabling them to develop their gonads and release mature gametes from the entire gonadal tubules in a single year. In regions with lower food abundance or a restricted feeding period, sea cucumbers simultaneously produce two sets of tubules, each requiring two years to develop mature gametes. *Cucumaria frondosa* from these regions are still able to spawn annually by having one set of tubules with mature gametes ready for spawning every year (Hamel and Mercier 1996b).

The buoyant, fertilized sea cucumber eggs occur in high densities in the water column after massive spawning (>95 m⁻³) and undergo pelagic lecithotrophic development, staying in the water column for ca. 6 weeks, depending on environmental conditions (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, d; Medeiros et al. 1995). Each oocyte is around 0.5-0.8 mm in diameter and estimates of annual fecundity range from 8,000-12,000 mature oocytes (Hamel and Mercier 1996b) to 60,000-150,000 total oocytes per female (Falk-Peterson 1982; Hamel and Mercier 2008). The pentactula larvae settle preferentially on shaded hard substratum including crevices between pebbles and rocks or on shells, kelp and rhodoliths (Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995; Hamel and Mercier 1996a, 2008; Medeiros-Bergen and Miles 1997). In the St. Lawrence Estuary, growth of *C. frondosa* is slow, with individuals growing from fertilized eggs to a maximum of 102 mm in 40 months (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). Sexual maturity occurs when individuals reach

lengths of 80-102 mm. No studies have followed the growth of the sea cucumber to their maximum size (ca. 350 mm), but it has been estimated to take over 10 years (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). Growth rates seem to be influenced directly by environmental conditions such as temperature and food availability.

1.3 Emerging Cucumaria frondosa fishery

The fishery for C. frondosa was successfully started in Maine (USA) in the 1980's, and the feasibility of a similar fishery in Canada was assessed soon thereafter (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006; Hamel and Mercier 2008). Main commercial products derived from this sea cucumber include the dried body wall (beche-de-mer), the frozen muscle bands and the flower (aquapharyngeal bulb) (Figure 1-1). The Scotia-Fundy sector, which encompasses Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, has the oldest and largest C. frondosa fishery in Canada. Until 2008, the fishery was limited to five exploratory licenses and harvests were over 1,000 tonnes of sea cucumber annually (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006; Hamel and Mercier 2008). Between 2006 and 2008, Newfoundland had up to eight exploratory licenses for the St. Pierre Bank, with combined annual quotas of over 600 tonnes. Sea cucumber bycatch from the scallop fishery were also processed in Québec (Hamel and Mercier 1998) where an official fishery has yet to develop (Hamel and Mercier 2008). The Maine (USA) fishery has recorded annual landings up to 4650 tonnes over the past decade, higher than any other sea cucumber fishery in the United States (Bruckner 2005). There is a small sea cucumber fishery in Iceland; however its future is uncertain due to the low abundance and patchy distribution of populations in that area. No other European country directly fishes sea cucumbers. Based on available data,

Russia has a small unregulated bycatch fishery for sea cucumbers where landings do not exceed 250 tonnes per year (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006; Hamel and Mercier 2008). Already, overfishing of *C. frondosa* populations has been reported in Maine, where effort was concentrated within a few areas (Gudimova et al. 2004; Bruckner 2005; Hamel and Mercier 2008).

Unlike most other sea cucumbers that are hand caught by divers or snorkelers, C. frondosa is fished with a modified scallop dredge designed specifically for catching sea cucumbers and minimizing bycatch (Barrett et al. 2007; DFA 2002). The depth of the water where the sea cucumbers are found (ca. 20-100 m), cold temperatures (0-8 °C), poor water transparency and high local biomasses that can reach 50 kg m⁻², prompted the development of industrial methods for capture (Hamel and Mercier 2008). The use of towed gear allows harvesters to exploit deeper waters and increase their catch per unit effort (CPUE), however towed gear has inherent negative effects on benthic habitats. The impacts of sea cucumber trawl gear have not been researched specifically, but there are numerous studies on the effects of scallop trawling. Although, the effects on bottom dwelling species depends on how intensively the area was fished (Stokesbury and Harris, 2006), trawls generally damage invertebrates by crushing them and flipping over rocks on top of them (Veale et al. 2000a; Robinson et al. 2001). In addition, the presence of damaged animals attracts predators and scavengers to the area, putting further pressure on the benthic communities (Veale et al. 2000b; Robinson et al. 2001).

1.4 Background information for the present study

Cucumaria frondosa has been described as having a strong preference for hard rocky substrates throughout its life history (Hamel and Mercier 1996a); however, natural populations have been previously observed in areas with soft bottoms (Klugh 1923). In fact, camera tow surveys on the St. Pierre Bank south of insular Newfoundland (Canada) showed that sea cucumbers on sand-dominated areas exhibited unusual rolling and tumbling behaviours and had their tentacles retracted (CSAR 2006). Using laboratory trials, Hamel and Mercier (1996a) found that larvae of C. frondosa settled preferentially on rocks or gravel over all other substrates tested (mud, sand). The higher density of sea cucumbers observed on cobbles and rocks than on sandy substrate in nature further supports these results. Differences in habitat could potentially affect the growth and morphology of adults. Rogers-Bennett et al. (1995) observed that the red sea urchin (Strongylocentrotus franciscanus) has significantly heavier gonads and shorter spines in shallow waters compared to deeper waters, and suggested shifting harvesting emphasis to sea urchins at deeper levels that have less reproductive potential as a management strategy. Similarly, if sea cucumbers on sand substrates were found to have decreased fitness or reproductive potential, they would be good candidates to harvest, reducing the impact on healthy reproductive populations.

Growth studies are important for determining quotas for a fishery. However the problem associated with measuring sea cucumbers is the plasticity in their physical characteristics. Length, width and wet weight are all dependent on the water content within the sea cucumber. Nonetheless, researchers have devised numerous creative ways of studying holothuroid growth rates. Growth rates have been established for several species including *C. pseudocurata* (Rutherford 1973), *C. elongata* (Fish 1967), *Isostichopus fuscus* (Herrero-Pérezrul et al. 1999) and *Actinopyga echinites* (Wiedemeyer 1994). In the St. Lawrence Estuary, the growth curve was established for *C. frondosa* (Hamel and Mercier 1996a); however growth was extrapolated from length increments of small individuals (initial size of 35 mm) in the field in areas where phytoplankton levels are greater than around Newfoundland. The St. Lawrence Estuary has high chlorophyll levels of 1.0 mg Chl m⁻³ (Afanasyev et al. 2001) for 11 months of the year compared to only 3 months of the year in Newfoundland. It is therefore important to determine the most accurate way of measuring growth in sea cucumbers and use it to assess if and how Newfoundland sea cucumbers deviate from the growth rate of other, presumably better fed populations.

Predation on holothuroids has rarely been studied even though it can have major impacts on population structure and dynamics. Sea cucumbers are a major part of the diet of some predatory sea stars. In the North East Pacific, *C. lubrica* made up between 58-89 % of the stomach contents of four asteroids, including *Solaster endeca*, *S. stimpsoni*, *Dermasterias imbricate* and *Leptasterias hexactis* (Birkeland et al. 1982). Although sea cucumbers were a major part of their diet, the sea stars were estimated to remove only ca. 3 % of the local population annually (Birkeland et al. 1982). Francour (1997) identified *Crossaster papposus*, *Asterias rubens* and *S. endeca* as sea star predators of *Cucumaria* species; however *C. papposus*, and *A. rubens* are more likely scavengers, feeding on the remains of sea cucumbers rather than active predators (Emerson 1973). Sea stars can have a major influence on population dynamics of commercial species and their impact may even be exacerbated by fishing activities (MacKenzie and Pikanowski 1999; Zolotarev 2002).

Genetics can be a powerful tool for fisheries management, enabling species identification, and determination of stock structure or origin (Ward 2000). Determination of population genetic structure is especially important for management of broadcast spawning holothuroids due to the high dispersal abilities of their larval stages. If a fishery consists of more than one stock, separate assessment should be made to determine a sustainable catch rate for each. A stock that crosses political or management boundaries would require management at a larger scale (e.g. federal rather than provincial, Ward 2000; Uthicke and Benzie 2001, 2003). *Cucumaria frondosa* has a wide distribution throughout the North Atlantic (Jordan 1972; Gosner 1978). Does this consist of one single stock that interbreeds or separate stocks that do not interact? For instance, do sea cucumber larvae produced in Greenland waters travel south to contribute to the populations in Labrador or Newfoundland? A population structure analysis of putatively separated populations distributed in the North Atlantic is crucial in determining to what extent they interact.

The emerging fisheries policy in Canada provides guidelines to ensure economic viability and sustainable harvesting of new commercial species (DFO 2001). In an effort to exploit underutilized commercial species and conserve natural populations, sound scientific data must be collected to provide the basis for effective fisheries management. According to the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) Canada, these data are required before any official commercial fishery of *C. frondosa* can begin in eastern Canada. Solid knowledge on the local ecology and biology of this species will assist the

government to ensure sustainable harvesting with minimal impacts on natural populations.

1.5 Objectives of research

Research on *C. frondosa* dates to over a century ago; however the emergence of an Atlantic sea cucumber fishery has prompted more recent studies focusing about management-related questions. Studies in Maine, Québec and New Brunswick have provided details on much of the basic biology of this species including settlement, early growth and spatial distribution (Klugh 1923; Hamel and Mercier 1996a), reproductive biology (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, b; Singh et al. 2001) diet and feeding (Hamel and Mercier 1998, Singh et al. 1998), general ecology (Jordan, 1972) and biochemical content of tissues (David and Macdonald 2002; Mamelona et al 2007; Zhong et al. 2007). However, except for the work of Coady (1973) and preliminary assessments made by Grant (2006) and Grant et al. (2006), very few studies have concentrated on populations from Newfoundland waters which are subject to more oceanic conditions.

In this study, key biological aspects of *C. frondosa* were investigated to provide managers with the information necessary to develop sustainable management strategies. The abundance and distribution of this species relative to habitat type were assessed through field surveys and complementary laboratory analyses were conducted to determine whether substrate had any influence on the biometrics and fitness of individuals. Factors affecting population dynamics were established through examination of several components such as spawning periodicity, growth rates, predation pressure and

1-13

gene flow. More precisely, I studied predation pressure under various temperature and light regimes and according to the size of predators in an effort to better assess the impact of predation on local sea cucumber populations in light of the abundance of predatory sea stars. Lastly, sources of recruitment to populations were determined by assessing gene flow among *C. frondosa* populations in the North Atlantic. These data were also used to assess whether groups sampled were part of a single inter-breeding population or several populations.

This thesis first presents the ecology, growth and predation pressure as key factors in the management of *Cucumaria frondosa* in Eastern Canada (Chapter 2). This is followed by a chapter on reconciling genetic parameters with life history traits in *Cucumaria frondosa* (Chapter 3). Finally I provide a summary of the research and highlight the main conclusions that are relevant for management of the emerging fishery (Chapter 4).

1.6 References

- Afanasyev, Y.D., Nezlin, N.P., and Kostianoy, A.G., 2001. Patterns of seasonal dynamics of remotely sensed chlorophyll and physical environment in the Newfoundland region. Remote Sens. Environ. **76**: 268-282.
- Barrett, L., Way, E., and Winger, P.D. 2007. Sea cucumber drag reference manual. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. No. 2736. St. John's, Newfoundland. pp. 1-21.
- Birkeland C., Dayton, P.K., and Engstrom, N.A. 1982. A stable system of predation on holothurians by four asteroids and their top predator. Aus. Mus. Mem. 16: 175-189.
- Britt, I., and Petersen, F. 1982. Breeding season and egg morphology of echinoderms in Balsfjorden, Northern Norway. Sarsia 47: 215-216.
- Bruckner, A.W. 2005. The recent status of sea cucumber fisheries in the continental United States of America. S.P.C Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 22: 39-46.
- Bruckner, A.W., Johnson, K.A., and Field, J.D. 2003. Conservation strategies for sea cucumbers: Can a CITES appendix II listing promote sustainable international trade? S.P.C Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 18: 24-33.
- Bull, H.O. 1934. Aquarium observations on the rate of growth and enemies of the common starfish *Asterias rubens*. Dove Mar. Lab. Rep. 3: 60-65

- Chen, J. 2004. Present status and prospects of sea cucumber industry in China. In Advances in sea cucumber aquaculture and management. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 463. Edited by A. Lovatelli, C. Conand, P. Purcell, S. Uthicke, J.-F. Hamel and A. Mercier. Rome, FAO. pp. 25–38.
- Coady, L.W. 1973. Aspects of the reproductive biology of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Gunnerus, 1770) and *Psolus fabricii* (Düben and Koren, 1846) (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in shallow waters of the Avalon peninsula, Newfoundland. MSc Thesis, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Newfoundland, Canada.
- CSAR, Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources. 2006. Habitat utilization and density of sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) on St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland:
 Observations using a towed camera sled in 2004 and 2005. Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources Project Report P-172a. Fisheries and Marine Institute of Memorial University, St. John's, Newfoundland.
- DFA, Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture. 2002. Sea cucumber dive harvest/gear design and testing. Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture Report FDP 424-3. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's, Newfoundland.
- DFO, Department of Fisheries and Oceans. 2001. New emerging fisheries policy. Available at http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/communic/fish_man/nefp_e.htm. Accessed February 4, 2009.

- Ellis, J.R., and Rogers, S.I. 2000. The distribution, relative abundance and diversity of echinoderms in the eastern English Channel, Bristol Channel, and Irish Sea. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 80: 127-138.
- Emerson, I.P. 1973. Aspects of the biology and local distribution of sea stars inhabiting a sloped, rocky bottom in Logy Bay, Newfoundland. M.Sc. Thesis. Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's. Canada.
- Falk-Petersen, I.B. 1982. Breeding season and egg morphology of echinoderms in Balsfjorden, Northern Norway. Sarsia 67: 215-221.
- Fankboner, P.V. 1978. Suspension-feeding mechanisms of the armoured sea cucumber *Psolus chitinoides* Clark. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **31**: 11-25.
- Fish, J.D. 1967. The biology of *Cucumaria elongata* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 47: 129-143.
- Francour, P. 1997. Predation on holothurians: A literature review. Invertebr. Biol. **116**: 52-60.
- Gaymer, C. F., Dutil, C., and Himmelman, J. H. 2004. Prey selection and predatory impact of four major sea stars on a soft bottom subtidal community. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 313: 353-374.
- Gosner, K.L. 1978. Peterson field guides: Atlantic seashore. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.

- Gudimova, E.N., Gudimov, A., and Collin, P. 2004. A study of the biology for fishery in two populations of *Cucumaria frondosa*: In the Barents Sea (Russia) and in the Gulf of Maine (USA). *In* Echinoderms: Munchen Proceedings of the 11th International Echinoderm Conference. *Edited by* T. Heinzeller and J.H. Nebelsick: CRC Press, London. pp. 269-275.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1995. Spawning of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, eastern Canada. S.P.C. Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 7:12-18.
- Hamel, J.-F. and Mercier, A. 1996a. Early development, dettlement, growth, and spatial distribution of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 253-271.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996b. Gonad morphology and gametogenesis of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. S.P.C. Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 22-33.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996c. Evidence of chemical communication during the gametogenesis of holothuroids. Ecology 77: 1600-1616.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996d. Gamete dispersion and fertilization success of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. S.P.C Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 34-40.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1998. Diet and feeding behaviour of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, Eastern Canada. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1194-1198.
- Hamel, J. -F. and Mercier, A. 1999a. Mucus as a mediator of gametogenic synchrony in the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). J. Mar.
 Biol. Assoc. U.K. 79: 121-129.
- Hamel, J.-F. and Mercier, A. 2008. Precautionary management of *Cucumaria frondosa* in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *In* Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 516. *Edited by* V. Toral-Granda, A. Lovatelli and M. Vasconcellos. Rome, FAO. pp. 293–306.
- Herrero-Pérezrul, M.D., Reyes Bonilla, H., García-Domínguez, F., and Cintra-Buenrostro, C.E., 1999. Reproduction and growth of Isostichopus fuscus (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in the southern Gulf of California, Mexico. Mar. Biol. 135: 521-532.
- Himmelman, J. H., and Dutil, C. 1991. Distribution, population structure and feeding of subtidal sea stars in the Northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 76: 61-72.
- Jordan, A. J. 1972. On the ecology and behaviour of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea at Lamoine Beach, Maine. Ph.D. thesis, University of Maine and Orono, Orono. United States.

Klugh, A.B. 1923. The habits of Cucumaria frondosa. Can. Field-Nat. 37: 76-77.

- Legault, C., and Himmelman, J. H. 1993. Relation between escape behaviour of benthic marine invertebrates and the risk of predation. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **170**: 55-74.
- Levin, V. S., and Gudimova, E. N. 2000. Taxonomic interrelations of holothurians *Cucumaria frondosa* and *C. japonica* (Dendrochirotida, Cucumariidae). S.P.C. Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 13: 22-29.
- Levitan, D. R., and Petersen, C. 1995. Sperm limitation in the sea. Trends Ecol. Evol. 10: 228-231.
- MacKenzie, C.L., and Pikanowski, R. 1999. A decline in starfish, Asterias forbesi,
 abundance and a concurrent increase in Northern Quahog, Mercenaria
 mercenaria, abundance and landings in the Northeastern United States. Mar. Fish.
 Rev. 6: 66-71.
- Mamelona, J., Pelletier, É, Girard-Lalancette, K., Legault, J., Karboune, S., and Kermasha, S. 2007. Quantification of phenolic contents and antioxidant capacity of Atlantic sea cucumber, *Cucumaria frondosa*. Food Chem. **104**: 1040-1047.
- Mauzey, K.P., Birkeland, C., and Dayton, P.K. 1968. Feeding behavior of asteroid and escape responses of their prey in the Puget Sound Region. Ecology **49**: 603-619.
- Mayo, P., and Mackie, A. M. 1976. Studies of avoidance reactions in several species of predatory British sea stars (Echinodermata: Asteroidea). Mar. Biol. 38: 41-49.

- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., Olson, R.R., Conroy, J.A., and Kocher, T.D. 1995. Distribution of holothurian larvae determined with species-specific genetic probes. Limnol.
 Oceanogr. 40: 1225-1235.
- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., and Miles E. 1997. Recruitment in the holothurian *Cucumaria* frondosa in the Gulf of Maine. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. **31**: 123-133.
- Robinson, S. M. C., Bernier, S., and MacIntyre, A. 2001. The impact of scallop drags on sea urchin populations and benthos in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. Hydrobiologia
 465: 103-114.
- Rogers-Bennett, L., Bennett, W.A., Fastenau, H.C., and Dewees, C.M. 1995. Spatial variation in Red sea urchin reproduction and morphology: Implications for harvest refugia. Ecol. Appl. 5: 1171-1180.
- Rutherford, J.C., 1973. Reproduction, growth and mortality of the holothurian *Cucumaria pseudocurata*. Mar. Biol. **22**: 167-176.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton, P., and Thomas, M.L.H. 1998. Feeding response of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: holothuroidea) to changing food concentrations in the laboratory. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1842-1849.
- Singh, R., Macdonald, B.A., Thomas, M.L.H., and Lawton, P. 1999. Patterns of seasonal and tidal feeding activity in the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*

(Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 187: 133-145.

- Singh, R., Macdonald, B.A., Lawton, P., and Thomas, M.L.H. 2001. The reproductive biology of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) using new quantitative methods. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. 20: 125-141.
- Smirnov A. V. 1994. Arctic echinoderms: composition, distribution and history of the fauna. *In* Echinoderms through time. *Edited by* B. David, A. Guille, J. -P. Féral and M. Roux. A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam, Netherlands. pp. 135-143.
- Stokesbury, K. D. E., and Harris, B. P. 2006. Impact of limited short-term sea scallop fishery on epibenthic community of Georges Bank closed areas. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 307: 85-100.
- Sutterlin, A.M., Waddy, S. 1976. Tentacle movement patterns involved in feeding behavior of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. Mar. Freshw. Behav. Physiol.
 4: 17-24.
- Therkildsen, N.O., Peterson, C.W. 2006. A review of the emerging fishery for the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*: Biology policy, and future prospects. S.P.C. Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 23: 16-25.

- Toral-Granda, V., Lovatelli, A. and Vasconcellos, M. (eds.) 2008. Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 516. Rome, FAO.
- Uthicke, S., and Benzie, J.A.H. 2001. Restricted gene flow between *Holothuria scabra* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) populations along the north-east coast of Australia and the Solomon Islands. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **216**: 109-117.
- Uthicke S., and Benzie, J.A.H. 2003. Gene flow and population history in high dispersal marine invertebrates: mitochondrial DNA analysis of *Holothuria nobilis* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) populations from the Indo-Pacific. Mol. Ecol. **12**: 2635-2648.
- Uthicke, S., and Conand, C. 2005. Local examples of beche-de-mer overfishing: An initial summary and request for information. S.P.C Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 21: 9-14.
- Veale, L. O., Hill, A. S., and Brand, A. R. 2000a. An *in situ* study of predator aggregations on scallop (*Pecten Maximus* (L.)) dredge discards using a static timelapse camera system. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 255:111-129.
- Veale, L. O., Hill, A. S., Hawkins, S. J., and Brand, A. R. 2000b. Effects of long-term physical disturbance by commercial scallop fishing on subtidal epifaunal assemblages and gabitats. Mar. Biol. 137: 325-337.

Ward, R.D. 2000. Genetics in fisheries management. Hydrobiologia. 420: 191-201.

Weidemeyer, W.L. 1994. Biology of small juveniles of the tropical holothurian *Actinopyga echinites*: Growth, mortality, and habitat preferences. Mar. Biol. 120: 81-93.

Zhong, Y., Khan, M.A., and Shahidi, F. 2007. Compositional characteristics and antioxidant properties of fresh and processed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*). J. Agric. Food. Chem. 55: 1188-1192.

Zolotarev, P. 2002. Population density and size structure of sea stars on beds of Iceland scallop, *Chlamys Islandica*, in the Southeastern Barents Sea. Sarsia **87**: 91-96.

1.7 Figures



Figure 1-1: Capture and processing of *Cucumaria frondosa*. A) Retrieving the sea cucumber drag, B) whole sea cucumbers in the processing plant, C) gutted circular and longitudinal muscle bands, D) packaged muscle bands ready for shipment, E) dried body wall and aquapharyngeal bulb (flower), F) packaging dried body wall.

CHAPTER 2: ABUNDANCE, GROWTH AND PREDATION PRESSURE IN JUVENILES AND ADULTS OF *CUCUMARIA FRONDOSA* (ECHINODERMATA: HOLOTHUROIDEA): KEY FACTORS IN FISHERY MANAGEMENT



Harvested sea cucumbers on the St. Pierre Bank (courtesy of Lew Barrett)

2.1 Abstract

The sea cucumber Cucumaria frondosa is currently the target of an emerging fishery in Atlantic Canada. This study investigated aspects of the biology of C. frondosa that are relevant from both ecological and resource management perspectives. Natural abundances (0.03 to 0.29 ind m⁻²), were dependent on substrate and region. Immersed weight was determined to be the most accurate measure of sea cucumber size and growth. Eight size classes of sea cucumbers kept in tanks under natural conditions of temperature, photoperiod and food supply for 17 months exhibited seasonal growth attuned to spring peaks in phytoplankton abundance. Juveniles obtained from spawning in the laboratory exhibited slow growth, reaching a maximum length of 6 mm after 24 months. Combining growth rates of all size classes indicated that a minimum of 25 years would be required to reach market size (ca. 14 cm contracted length, ca. 6.5 g immersed weight). Under controlled laboratory conditions, adults of S. endeca ingested 2-4 sea cucumbers per month with feeding rates modulated by seawater temperature and fasting intervals dependent on prey size. Moreover, juveniles of S. endeca preyed on cryptic recruits of C. frondosa (<2 y). The maximum density of S. endeca in the field was 0.006 ind m^{-2} and its average abundance was 0.001 ind m⁻² across various substrates. Based on these findings, S. endeca has the potential to remove an average of 0.012 ind m² sea cucumbers annually. Feeding trials also demonstrated that injured sea cucumbers (i.e. damaged by trawling activities) can attract sea stars, which could exacerbate predatory pressure over time. The combination of slow growth rates and high predatory pressure enhanced by fishing activities emphasizes the need for a precautionary approach to managing this emerging fishery.

2.2 Introduction

With a decline in traditional harvests, several exploratory fisheries are being conducted to determine if certain underutilized species would be commercially sustainable. At the forefront of emerging fisheries in Atlantic Canada is the orange-footed sea cucumber, Cucumaria frondosa (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). Relatively new to the market, C. frondosa is one of the few dendrochirotid, or suspension-feeding sea cucumbers being fished for human consumption. Existing holothuroid fisheries target about eighty species of aspidochrotid, or deposit-feeding, sea cucumbers (Toral-Granada et al. 2008). Products derived from sea cucumber include the dried body wall (beche-demer) and the frozen muscle bands. While sea cucumber fisheries in the Indo-Pacific regions date to several centuries ago, the C. frondosa fishery in Canada is currently limited to exploratory licenses granted to harvesters in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Newfoundland (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006; Hamel and Mercier 2008a). Sea cucumber bycatch from the scallop fishery is also processed in Québec (Hamel and Mercier 1998), although an official fishery has yet to develop (Hamel and Mercier 2008a). In North America, the C. frondosa fishery began in Maine, USA, where annual landings >4.3 million kilograms have been recorded over the past decade (Bruckner 2005; Hamel and Mercier 2008b). Limited and poorly regulated C. frondosa fisheries also exist in Iceland and Russia (Gudimova et al. 2004; Therkildsen and Petersen 2006; Hamel and Mercier 2008a).

Developing a sustainable management strategy is a key factor in the emergence of any fishery. Sea cucumber fisheries in particular have a poor history of sustainability, and species are often overfished due to their slow recruitment rates, ease of catch and high commercial value (Uthicke and Conand 2005; Toral-Granda et al. 2008). In addition, sea cucumbers are known to be vulnerable to Allee effects, where decreasing densities of sexually mature adults cause a disproportionate decline in the number of juveniles produced (Stephens and Sutherland 1999). In most commercial broadcast-spawning species, reduced adult densities that increase the distances between individuals have been shown to reduce fertilization rates and subsequent recruitment (Levitan and Petersen 1995). For instance, low annual catches of 5 % of virgin biomasses of *Holothuria nobilis* on the Great Barrier Reef resulted in severely reduced stocks (Uthicke 2004). Other sea cucumber species that have not seemed to recover from overexploitation include *Isostichopus fuscus* in the Galapagos Islands (Ecuador) and *Holothuria scabra* in Malaysia (Uthicke and Conand 2005; Toral-Granda et al. 2008).

In a global review of the status and management of sea cucumber species that are already harvested or have a commercial potential (Toral-Granda et al. 2008), the case of *Cucumaria frondosa* stands out. Unlike most tropical sea cucumbers that are hand caught by divers or snorkelers, *C. frondosa* has prompted the development of industrial methods for capture (Hamel and Mercier 2008b). Harvesters use a modified scallop trawl designed specifically for catching sea cucumbers and minimizing bycatch (DFA 2002a; Barrett et al. 2007). This method emerged because of the depth of the water where the sea cucumbers are found (ca. 20-100 m), the cold seawater temperatures (0-8 °C), poor water transparency and the high local biomasses of *C. frondosa*, which are known to reach 50 kg m⁻² in certain areas. While use of towed gear allows harvesters to exploit deeper waters and increase their catch per unit effort (CPUE), it has inherent negative effects on

bottom habitats (Jones 1992). The impacts of the sea cucumber trawl gear have not been specifically researched, but there are a multitude of studies on the adverse effects of scallop trawling on benthic communities (Robinson et al. 2001; Veale et al. 2000a), which largely depend on how intensively the area is being fished (Stokesbury and Harris 2006). Towed gear may inadvertently cause increases in predatory sea stars as it may damage benthic invertebrates, increasing the availability of food (Zolotarev 2002).

Although research on *C. frondosa* began over a century ago, the advent of a northwest Atlantic sea cucumber fishery has prompted new interest in fisheries-related questions. Previous studies have detailed much of the basic biology of this species, including localized spatial distributions, larval development and settlement, juvenile growth and ecology (Hamel and Mercier 1996a), reproductive biology (Coady 1973; Hamel and Mercier 1995, 1996a, b, c; Singh et al. 2001), diet and feeding (Hamel and Mercier 1998; Singh et al. 1998), general ecology (Klugh 1923; Jordan 1972) and biochemical content of various tissues (David and MacDonald 2002; Mamelona et al. 2007; Zhong et al. 2007). However, these studies were mainly conducted on populations from nearshore and estuarine environments of Québec and the Maritimes, whereas data on sea cucumbers in Newfoundland waters are restricted to a preliminary investigation of the reproductive cycle (Coady 1973) and stock assessments (Grant 2006; Grant et al. 2006). Furthermore, the growth of adults and the dynamics of predation pressure have never been investigated in detail anywhere.

Cucumaria frondosa is generally described as having a strong preference for hard substrate throughout its life history (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). The higher density of sea cucumbers observed in the field on cobbles and rocks than on sand further supports these

2-5

results. Nevertheless, natural populations have been observed on soft bottoms (Klugh 1923) and recent camera tow surveys on the St. Pierre Bank south of Newfoundland (Canada) showed that *C. frondosa* could occur on predominantly sandy substrate (CSAR 2006). However, most specimens had retracted tentacles and were displaying unusual rolling and tumbling behaviours, raising the question of the status of these populations and whether or not they should be a prime target for a future fishery.

The rate at which fished populations can be replenished largely depends on local recruitment and subsequent growth of new recruits to commercial size. Because of their plastic shape, the variable amount of retained water in their ambulacral system and the stiffness of their muscles bands, sea cucumbers are inherently difficult to measure and weigh (Conand 1979; Pitt 2004). This remains one of the major obstacles in the development of reliable biomass estimates needed to establish harvest quotas. It also complicates assessments of growth and size-at-age. Previous growth studies have used many different methods of measurement, including wet weight, dry weight, size indices based on length and width, gutted weight and variations on these (Cameron and Fankboner 1989; Pitt 2004; Grant 2006). There are merits to these measurements; however they are still largely influenced by the sea cucumber's variable shape and size. The drawback of more reliable measurements such as gutted and dry weight is that they are invasive and require sacrificing the animal, making them unsuitable for repeated growth measurements. Immersed weight, which weighs the specimen in a basket suspended in seawater, is more suited for growth studies of fluid-filled animals. It has been used previously to measure C. frondosa size in Russia (Gudimova et al. 2004) and

has proven to be accurate in other marine invertebrates (Muscatine 1961; Palmer 1983; Spirlet et al. 2000, Grosjean 2001).

Predation can have major impacts on fished populations and management plans, especially if harvesting exacerbates it (Steneck 1998; MacKenzie and Pikanowski 1999). The principal predators of sea cucumbers include various species of fishes, sea stars and crustaceans, though sea stars are the dominant predator in North Atlantic waters (Legault and Himmelman 1993; Francour 1997). The main known predator of C. frondosa is the sea star Solaster endeca, which shares its arctic and subarctic distribution (Gosner 1978) and exhibits an overlapping spawning period (Britt and Petersen 1982; Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995). This sea star has been observed to successfully feed on various holothuroids (Mauzey et al. 1968; Gaymer et al. 2004) and other echinoderms (Bull 1934; Mayo and Mackie 1976). The well developed escape response of C. frondosa exposed to S. endeca (Legault and Himmelman 1993) suggests that they typically live in sympatry. Unlike C. frondosa and a number of other sea star species, S. endeca is known to occur at low densities (0.001-0.100 ind m⁻²) (Mauzey et al. 1968; Himmelman and Dutil 1991; Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Ellis and Rogers 2000; Zolotarev 2002; Gaymer et al. 2004). Nevertheless, much higher densities of these sea stars have been measured in extensively fished areas of the Grand Banks (J.-F. Hamel, personal observation) where large biomasses of C. frondosa were also noted (CSAR 2006). It is therefore essential to estimate the rate of predation by S. endeca. Moreover, with the exception of the well studied prey-predator interactions in adults, few studies in marine invertebrates have looked at the impact of predatory pressure on the recruitment of post-metamorphic sea cucumber juveniles.

In this study, key biological aspects of C. frondosa were examined which are not only significant from an ecological viewpoint but also provide managers with the tools to develop appropriate management strategies. The abundance and distribution of this species were assessed through field surveys conducted by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) on the St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland and Labrador (Canada). Laboratory analyses were conducted to determine if specimens occurring on suspected biologically non-optimal substrate would exhibit distinct biometric characteristics. Factors impacting population dynamics were established through examination of spawning periodicity and growth rates of various life stages, from larva to adult. Lastly predation rates by S. endeca and prey size preferences under various temperature and light regimes were measured and correlated with the abundance of this sea star in the field, to assess its potential influence on local sea cucumber populations. According to DFO, these data are required to determine the potential for a commercial fishery of C. frondosa in eastern Canada under the New Emerging Fisheries guidelines (DFO 2001). Solid knowledge on the local ecology and biology of this species will assist the government to ensure sustainable harvesting with minimal impacts on natural populations.

2-8

2.3 Materials and Methods

Field studies

Natural abundance in the field

Harvesters, under the direction of DFO, used sea cucumber drags (Barrett et al. 2007) to perform survey tows across inshore and offshore regions of the St. Pierre Bank (Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada; 45° N, 56° W) in 2007 to determine relative abundances of *C. frondosa* and the sea star *S. endeca* (n=214 tows). The 1.8 m wide drags were fitted with 10 cm mesh size nets and were towed at ca. 2.5 knots for a distance of ca. 0.9 km, sampling an area of ca. 1650 m^2 for each tow. Total catches of each species was recorded and substrate type was noted through use of bottom charts, and substrate collected in the nets. Harvesters placed large catches of *C. frondosa* (>40 ind) in totes and logged the numbers of totes filled per tow. Each tote carried ca. 90 sea cucumbers based on number of individuals per tote measured in previous years (E. Hynick personal communication). As such numbers of sea cucumbers and subsequent densities were estimated.

Substrate related condition

In summer 2005, camera observations and sample collection were carried out on the St. Pierre Bank to determine habitat utilization of known populations of sea cucumbers. Video footage was taken of the sea floor using a camera mounted on a benthic sled as described in CSAR (2006). The underwater camera (Simrad OE 1367) was positioned at a downward angle on the front of the sled in the direction of the tow to yield an oblique view of the sea floor. Digital video was stored onboard the sled using a DeepCam autonomous recording unit and was downloaded and viewed after each tow (CSAR 2006). The sled was towed at a speed of ca. 3.7 km h^{-1} with on bottom durations of 0.09-0.62 h (CSAR 2006).

Video footage was analyzed to identify substrate from five sets of transects (Figure 2-1). Areas were classified into hard, soft or mixed substrates according to the dominant substrate identified (see below). Five sample sets of sea cucumbers (Table 2-1) were collected by trawl from the three representative substrates and preserved in 100 % ethanol (EtOH) for further analysis in the laboratory. A single sample was taken from rock substrate (n=17 in sample site R1), two samples from gravel (n=21 in sample G1; n=15 in sample G2) and two samples from sand (n=23 in sample S1; n=28 in sample S2).

Substrate types

Throughout the study, substrates were classified as hard or soft (Table 2-2). Hard substrates refer to both rocky and gravelly substrates and a mixture of the two. Rocky substrate consists of irregular bedrock bottoms with outcrops and boulders. Gravelly substrates are relatively flat and covered in small rocks (2-5 cm in diameter), shells, and tests of other invertebrates. Hard mixed substrate refers to a combination of rocky and gravelly substrate types with irregular rocky bottoms (outcrops and boulders) covered in small rocks (2-5 cm in diameter) and shells. Soft substrate refers to flat sandy bottoms with scattered rocks (10-15 cm in diameter).

Laboratory studies

Collection and maintenance

Sea cucumbers (*C. frondosa*) and sea stars (*A. rubens* and *S. endeca*) were collected by SCUBA divers at ca. 10-20 m in Admiral's Cove (47°05'N, 52°54'W) and by trawl at ca. 50 m in the St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland (45°43'N, 56°08'W) between September 2005 and February 2008. Small specimens (contracted length <1.5 cm) were collected in September 2006 as bycatch in whelk pot by fishermen on the St. Pierre Bank. All specimens were brought back to the laboratory within 5-6 h of collection and transferred to 1 m³ holding tanks provided with unfiltered running seawater at ambient temperature (-1 to 15 °C over the annual cycle). Specimens were subjected to natural photoperiod and a maximum light intensity of 43 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻².

Measurement methods and accuracy

To identify the best method of determining sea cucumber size, we compared several methods to measure and weigh sea cucumbers. The dry weights of 164 sea cucumbers were measured against the contracted length, width, size index, total wet weight and total animal immersed weight to determine their accuracy. For all measurements sea cucumbers were handled in seawater until contracted and were measured for contracted length (CL, from mouth to anus) and contracted width (CW, at the middle of the sea cucumber), total animal wet weight (WW), and immersed weight (IW, by placing the specimen in a basket attached to a scale and suspended in seawater). The size index (SI) was calculated as follows: contracted length multiplied by contracted width multiplied by a scaling factor of 0.1 (Jordan 1972; Cameron and Fankboner 1989; Grant 2006). Dry weight (DW) was obtained by piercing the sea cucumbers' body wall

with a scalpel to release coelomic fluid. The specimen was then placed in an oven at 60 °C for 5-6 days until constant weight was obtained. Sea cucumber measurements were plotted against dry weights and a correlation coefficient of determination was calculated for each comparison.

Sea stars were measured for total wet weight (WW) and maximum radius (R) was recorded by measuring the distance between the mouth and the tip of the longest ray.

Analysis of substrate related condition

To assess body size in relation to substrate, sea cucumbers preserved in EtOH were measured for length (L, from mouth to anus), width (W, at the middle of the animal) and wet weight (WW). Individuals were cut ventrally from the mouth to a few centimetres before the anus and the internal fluid was drained to obtain split weight (SW). The organs (body wall (BW), intestine, gonad, respiratory tree and aquapharyngeal bulb) were then removed and weighed. The thickness of the body wall was measured ventro-medially with a caliper, excluding the circular and longitudinal muscle bands. Gonad and body wall indices were determined by dividing the weight or thickness of the tissue by the weight of the body wall. Substrate groups were compared for each of the measurements recorded.

Growth studies

Temperature was continuously monitored in the tanks using a temperature-light logger (HOBO Pendant UA-002-64), and chlorophyll fluorescence was obtained from DFO from hydrographic station 27 (47°32'N, 52°35'W) located in the inshore branch of the Labrador Current, 12 km south-east of the Ocean Sciences Centre, Logy Bay

2-12

(Newfoundland). Data collected from the station are representative of ocean conditions occurring over the Newfoundland shelf (Petrie et al. 1988) and correspond to the biological and physical characteristics of the water supplied to our laboratory (Gotceitas et al 1999).

Growth of laboratory reared juveniles (size Class 1). Adult sea cucumbers exposed to natural environmental conditions in a 600 L tank spawned in March 2006 and the resulting offspring were used to measure development and growth rate. Analogous spawning periods (March-April) were also observed in 2005, 2007 and 2008. Upon spawning, the floating eggs were checked for an elevated fertilization membrane (confirming fertilization) and transferred to a 20 L container with holes covered by mesh within a separate tank provided with running, unfiltered seawater (ca. 30 L h⁻¹). Rocks were provided to allow proper settlement habitat as described by Hamel and Mercier (1996a). Individuals from spawning were classified as size Class 1 (Table 2-3). The embryos/larvae were photographed and measured regularly to record developing stages and kinetics. After settlement the juveniles were monitored once a month. Photographs were taken with a stereomicroscope (Nikon SMZ1500) coupled to a Nikon DXM1200F digital camera. As Hamel and Mercier (1996a) demonstrated that the diet of C. frondosa is mainly composed of phytoplankton, unfiltered seawater was supplemented (3.8 x 10⁵ cells ml⁻¹) to ensure a sufficient algal abundance with regular addition of live green algae (Tetraselmis suecica and Isochrysis sp. Tahitian strain), brown algae (Nannochloropsis oculata) and rotifers (Branchionus plicatilis) using a peristaltic pump (ca. 0.5 L h⁻¹). After five months, juveniles were transferred to a 26 L tank with rock substrate to give them

more space to grow. Algae and rotifers continued to be added to the tank to promote growth. Juvenile sea cucumbers (n=10-30) were monitored and measured for 25 months.

Growth of juveniles and adults (size Classes 2-8). Because the slow early growth rates already described for C. frondosa by Hamel and Mercier (1996a) make it impossible to monitor the entire growth from larvae to commercial size within a reasonable time frame, growth rates measured simultaneously in various individual size classes were combined. Individuals collected from the field were divided into seven groups based on the contracted length using four replicates where sample numbers permitted (Table 2-3). Sea cucumbers from size Classes 2-7 were placed in 26 L tanks under natural photoperiod and light intensity (43 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻²) and provided with running unfiltered seawater. Class 8 (largest) individuals were placed in a divided 350 L tank under similar conditions. Stocking biomass did not exceed 50 g L^{-1} and densities ranged from 5 to 11 individuals per tank. Temperature in the tanks ranged from 0.5-15 °C following the ambient annual cycle above the seasonal thermocline which sea cucumbers are exposed to in shallow waters (<20 m). For each size class, individuals from four replicate enclosures were measured for contracted length and width, total wet weight and immersed weight either monthly, bi-monthly, after 12 months or after 17 months to control for sampling stress bias on growth.

Growth of food-supplemented juveniles and adults (Classes F4-F6). Complementary studies were conducted as previously described but with algae supplements to determine if increased food supply would affect the growth of C. frondosa. Live green algae (T. suecica and Isochrysis sp. Tahitian strain) and brown algae (N. oculata) were continuously added to the tanks $(3.8 \times 10^5 \text{ cells ml}^{-1})$ using a

2-14

peristaltic pump (ca. $0.2 \text{ L} \text{ h}^{-1}$). Sea cucumbers corresponding to size Classes 4-6 were used with two replicates of each class. The first replicate was sampled bi-monthly and the second replicate was sampled at the beginning and end of the 17-month experiment.

Predation studies

Early juvenile interactions. As juvenile sea cucumbers dwell under rock surfaces and presumably remain inaccessible to adults of their main predator, the sea star S. endeca, we wanted to assess whether juvenile sea stars (1-2 year old) that can access refuge habitats could be a threat to recently settled C. frondosa. Adult S. endeca exposed to natural conditions in a 250 L tank spawned in April 2006 and their development, settlement and juvenile growth was followed as already described for C. frondosa. The first goal was to examine the attraction of juvenile sea star predators toward juvenile sea cucumbers and the second goal was to assess whether the latter had already developed the escape response observed in adult specimens, as described by Legault and Himmelman (1983). One year old C. frondosa juveniles (ca. 1.5-2 mm long) reared under laboratory conditions were transferred to a Petri dish filled with seawater and allowed to acclimate for 10-15 minutes. Juveniles were observed for control behaviour prior to adding one or two specimen(s) of S. endeca juveniles (ca. 3-3.5 mm in diameter; also reared in the laboratory). Juvenile sea cucumbers were never used more than once and the experiment was considered over when S. endeca grabbed the sea cucumber and started evaginating its stomach or if the escape response of the sea cucumber successfully deterred the predator. The experiment was conducted for <15 minutes, was replicated 32 times, and was considered null if no change in behaviour was observed during that interval. Interactions

were observed with a Nikon SMZ1500 stereomicroscope and pictures were taken using a Nikon digital camera DXM1200F.

Feeding behaviour of sea stars. In all prey-predator studies described hereafter, sea stars were considered to be "stationary" when remaining immobile, their arms firmly attached to the substrate and were considered to be "searching" when they moved towards the side of the tank extending their arms and apical tube feet in search of a prey prior to moving towards it. Feeding behaviour encompasses both attacking and eating the prey. Sea stars were considered to be "attacking" when actively engaging and attempting to wrap their arms around the prey and to be "eating" when they were completely wrapped around a sea cucumber and inserting it into their mouth.

Prey size selection and feeding cycle of adult S. endeca. Feeding behaviours of S. endeca were monitored from June to August 2007 to determine prey size selection. Three specimens each of medium (R: 11.5 \pm 0.1 cm; WW: 382.9 \pm 40.7 g) and large (R: 14.5 \pm 0.5 cm; WW: 621.5 \pm 26.0 g) S. endeca were each placed in 57 L tanks provided with running seawater (60 L h⁻¹) at ca. 4-14 °C (ambient seawater temperature varied naturally). A light intensity of ca. 43 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻² was used under naturally fluctuating photoperiod. Prior to the experiments, sea stars were starved for a minimum period of two weeks to standardize their status and stimulate predation as described for other species by Rochette et al. (1994). A small (CL: 6.4 ± 1.8 cm; IW: 0.6 ± 0.3 g) and large (CL: 14.2 ± 1.8 cm; IW: 5.8 ± 1.1 g) sea cucumber was placed in each of the experimental tanks. Observations were noted daily and sea star behaviour was recorded as described above. Upon consumption, sea cucumbers were replaced immediately with a similar sized sea cucumber until the end of the experiment. Whenever a partially eaten

sea cucumber was found it was left in the tank for no more than 48 h before removal and replacement. Within the same experiment, the feeding cycle of *S. endeca* was determined by noting the length of time spent eating each sea cucumber (feeding bout) and fasting intervals between feedings for each sea star individually.

Effects of temperature on feeding of S. endeca. Due to observed responses of sea stars to temperature in the feeding cycle described above, we examined variations in the predation pressure exerted by S. endeca on C. frondosa in response to the annual cycle of temperature. The feeding response of medium-sized (R: 10.5 ± 1.5 cm, WW: 298 \pm 103 g) sea stars was tested at low (6.2 \pm 0.3 °C; n=12) and high (14.7 \pm 0.4 °C; n=9) seawater temperatures, to which S. endeca are exposed in shallow waters (<20 m). The experiment was also repeated with large-sized predators (R: 14.6 ± 1.5 cm, WW: $713 \pm$ 221 g) using 15 and 13 replicate animals for low and high temperatures, respectively. Sea stars and sea cucumbers were first acclimated to the test temperature for 24 h in separate tanks, and S. endeca were starved for a minimum of two weeks as for previous predator experiments. A sea cucumber was introduced first and then a sea star 30 minutes later into a 57 L tank with a minimum flow through of sea water (1 L min⁻¹; to allow for control of temperature) and the usual light intensity and photoperiod. Specimens were monitored for up to 6 h during the day and their behaviour was recorded every 30 minutes using the feeding terminology previously described. Experiments were ended as soon as S. endeca was observed to attack a sea cucumber. Experiments (n=3) were repeated at night in total darkness with medium-sized S. endeca to determine if there was any circadian rhythm in feeding behaviour. Observations were made with a red light. Starved medium-sized sea

stars were used as they were more likely to give a consistent result as they have shorter feeding cessation periods compared to larger sea stars.

Response of S. endeca to damaged and intact sea cucumbers. It was hypothesized that sea cucumbers damaged by trawls could attract more predators in a given site and therefore increase the predatory pressure on the population in fished areas. To test this, a pair-wise experimental design was used: a single *S. endeca* along with two sea cucumbers were released haphazardly into an experimental tank to determine if the predator would exhibit any preference for damaged sea cucumbers. The conditions in the tank were as previously described for the feeding cycle study and temperature ranged from 0-2 °C. Twenty *S. endeca* of varying size were tested independently (R: 10-18 cm; WW: 298-1084 g) and offered a choice between an intact and a damaged sea cucumber. The 'damaged' specimen had a 4 cm long cut through the ventral side of the body wall exposing internal organs (i.e. in an effort to mimic severe damage by gear). Each trial ran for 48 h and the reaction of the predator (stationary, attacking, or eating; as described previously), its prey preference (i.e. movement towards damaged or intact sea cucumbers) and the swiftness of the reaction were noted.

Complementary experiments using a single *A. rubens* placed in a tank with a damaged and intact sea cucumber were conducted and interactions observed over 48 hours (n=13 sea stars) at ambient temperatures of 0-2 °C.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted through the statistical package SPSS ver 16.0.1 (SPSS Inc 2007). One way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Bonferroni adjusted multiple comparison, were conducted to determine if there were any significant changes in size and differences between groups subjected to different sampling regimes in the growth experiment. Three-way ANOVA was used to determine any significant differences in densities or size measurements of sea cucumbers from various substrates and two-way ANOVA was used to determine effects of predator size and temperature on feeding activity. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation, where applicable.

2.4 Results

Natural abundance

The majority (69 %, n=149) of all tows across a variety of substrates contained catches of *C. frondosa* (Figure 2-2). *Solaster endeca* occurred in 23 % (n=51) of all tows and were mainly caught in areas with high sea cucumber density. Less than 1 % (n=2) of tows contained *S. endeca* without *C. frondosa*. Three way ANOVA revealed a main effect of substrate type ($F_{(3,94)}$ =13.25; p<0.001) and inshore or offshore region ($F_{(1,94)}$ =10.855; p=0.001) on *C. frondosa* density. Presence of its predator *S. endeca* ($F_{(1,94)}$ =3.765; p=0.005) only had localized effects on *C. frondosa* densities (Figure 2-3). There was a significant interaction between region, presence of predator and substrate type on densities ($F_{(2,94)}$ =6.863; p=0.002). Tests of simple effects indicated that sea cucumber densities in areas offshore, only changed with substrate type ($F_{(3,94)}$ =8.555; p<0.0001) but not presence of predator (Figure 2-3; $F_{(3,94)}$ =0.0007; p=4.322). Inshore areas had significant simple effects of substrate ($F_{(1,94)}$ =12.666; p<0.001) and predator presence on sea cucumber densities ($F_{(3,94)}$ =9.000; p<0.001). Further tests of significant interaction

between presence of predator and substrate type ($F_{(2,94)}=4.111$; p=0.018) inshore, revealed variations in density across substrates depending on presence ($F_{(2,94)}=12.555$; p<0.0001) or absence ($F_{(3,94)}=1.666$; p=0.218) of *S. endeca*.

Interestingly, relatively high densities of *S. endeca* (0.02 ind m⁻²) were also found on hard rocky substrate where no *C. frondosa* were caught (n=2, data not shown). The best catch of *S. endeca* in one tow was >300 sea stars yielding an estimated density of 0.05 ind m⁻². No significant main effects were found with substrate type ($F_{(3,32)}=0.510$; p=0.679) or region ($F_{(1,32)}=1.300$; p=0.263) on *S. endeca* densities, nor any significant interaction between the two factors. Individuals of *S. endeca* ranged from 41-1136 g (WW) with an average of 248 ± 199 g across the St. Pierre Bank (data not shown). Size structure distributions of *S. endeca* on the St. Pierre Bank and in the Barents Sea (Zolotarev 2002) are shown in Figure 2-4. The majority of sea stars in both areas have an arm radius of 7-11 cm, corresponding to medium-sized sea stars used in this study.

Substrate related characteristics

Morphometric analysis indicated important variability in sea cucumber size among substrate types sampled (Table 2-1). Sea cucumbers from hard rocky substrate were the heaviest (WW: 369 ± 139 g in R1) followed by mixed rocky-gravely substrate (212 ± 67 g in G1; 241 ± 47 g in G2) and soft sandy substrate (197 ± 64 g in S1; $143 \pm$ 47 g in S2). Comparison of individuals from each group indicated no statistical differences in gonad index between females (Figure 2-5) (F_(4,36)=0.621, p=0.651). Male sea cucumbers from one sandy substrate (S1) had a higher gonad index (42 ± 8 %) compared to all other specimens, although statistical differences occurred with specimens from the other sandy substrate (S2) and gravely substrate (G1) (Figure 2-5) ($F_{(4,58)}=4.567$, p=0.003). The body wall thickness index was significantly higher in males from sandy substrate (S2) than in males from rocky (R1) and mixed rocky-gravely substrate (G1 and G2) (Figure 2-5) ($F_{(4,58)}=7.574$, p=0.0001). Females from sandy substrate (S2) had similarly higher body wall thickness index compared to the other substrates (R1 and G2) (Figure 2-5) ($F_{(4,36)}=5.647$, p=0.001). Intestine, respiratory tree, and aquapharyngeal bulb weights between individual groups were not significantly different in either males or females (data not shown).

Growth of larvae and laboratory-reared juveniles (size Class 1)

Several spawning events occurred between March and May 2006 during the early morning and afternoon. Spawning females were positioned in a "U" shape with their ventral posterior end attached to a hard surface. The oral end remained unattached with their oral tentacles waving, while the gonopore released a continuous string of buoyant oocytes (ca. 750 µm) that quickly dispersed in the water column. Male spawning occurred earlier and behaviour was similar to that of females. The dispersion of spermatozoa was also aided by the waving of tentacles.

The development of *C. frondosa* from fertilization is detailed in Table 2-4. After 10 days, pentactula larvae had oral tentacles and after 15 days they developed the first two ambulacral podia (Figure 2-6). Settlement began ca. 4.9 weeks after fertilization. By three months, the juveniles possessed clearly visible ossicles along the body wall (Figure 2-7). The juveniles reared in the laboratory from fertilization (size Class 1) reached a maximum length of 5.6 mm after 24 months; the average length was ca. 3.9 mm (Figure

2-21

2-8). Juvenile lengths were quite variable over the entire study with the smallest and largest juveniles at the end of the study varying between 2.5 and 5.6 mm. Larger individuals were found on the undersides of rocks, whereas smaller juveniles were generally in more exposed areas. The average monthly growth rate over the 24 months was 0.16 ± 0.06 mm.

Accuracy of measurements on adults

All measurements including length, width, wet weight, immersed weight and size index showed a positive relationship with whole animal dry weight (Figure 2-9). The total animal immersed weight had the strongest relationship ($r^2=0.97$) and contracted length the weakest ($r^2=0.48$). Size index had a greater correlation coefficient with dry weight compared to either of its constituent factors ($r^2=0.69$). As the immersed weight was by far the most precise method to estimate the size of *C. frondosa*, it was used subsequently to measure the growth rate.

Juvenile and adult growth (size Classes 2-8)

Cucumaria frondosa showed seasonal pulses of growth with an overall null growth by the end of the 17-month study (Figure 2-10). Decreases in immersed weight occurred in all size classes from January to May when the temperature fluctuated from -1 to 0 °C but increases occurred throughout June and July when temperature increased from 2 to 4 °C soon after a major increase in phytoplankton level. Due to the seasonal trend of the observed growth, comparisons were made between sizes over a single year (December-December). After 12 months the average immersed weight did not

significantly vary in most size classes (Class 2: $F_{(6,34)}=1.888$, p=0.112; Class 3: $F_{(6,51)}=0.401$, p=0.870; Class 5: $F_{(11,47)}=1.383$, p=0.213; Class 6: $F_{(11,44)}=4.144$, p=0.0001; Class 7: $F_{(11,42)}=2.475$, p=0.017), although decreases in weight were significant in Classes 4 ($F_{(11,104)}=2.842$, p=0.003) and 8 ($F_{(11,93)}=3.065$, p=0.002) (Figure 2-10).

Third and fourth replicates of size Classes 2 to 8 which were measured only at the middle and end of the study were of similar size to replicates measured more often within each size class. One way ANOVAs and multiple comparisons revealed significant differences in replicates of Class 3 ($F_{(1,10)}$ =18.42, p=0.002) (Table 2-5), but not in any other class (Table 2-5). Minimal mortalities (<10 %) occurred throughout the study.

Food-supplemented individuals showed visually similar growth curves with increases in immersed weight soon after the spring phytoplankton bloom, although over 12 months the average immersed weight of sea cucumbers did not vary in two classes (Class F4: $F_{(6,22)}=1.257$; p=0.317; Class F6: $F_{(5,20)}=2.622$; p=0.056) and only in May in Class F5 ($F_{(6,23)}=7.056$; p=0.0001). Comparing sea cucumbers with and without algae supplement showed no differences in initial ($F_{(1,14)}=0.002$, p=0.966) or final ($F_{(1,14)}=1.346$, p=0.265) weights for Classes F4 and 4. Significantly higher ($F_{(1,5)}=5.586$, p=0.046) final immersed weights were observed in Class F5 (0.7 ± 0.1 g) compared to Class 5 (0.5 ± 0.2 g). Final immersed weights were also significantly higher ($F_{(1,7)}=26.04$, p=0.001) in supplemented Class F6 than in Class 6. Although initial immersed weights were also higher in Class F6 (IW: 2.8 ± 0.8 g) than Class 6 (1.3 ± 0.2 g) ($F_{(1,8)}=53.65$, p=0.0001) initial contracted length, width and size index were not statistically different (p>0.050).

Prey-predator interactions

Juveniles

Juveniles of *S. endeca* were observed to prey on juveniles of *C. frondosa* under experimental conditions (Figure 2-11). Moreover, post-settled *C. frondosa*, never previously exposed to *S. endeca* expressed the typical escape behaviour of adults. In the experimental setup, two-thirds of newly introduced *S. endeca* (22 of the 32 individuals) moved directly towards the sea cucumbers and were able to position their bodies on top of their prey. Furthermore, 27 of the 32 tested *C. frondosa* displayed contraction and elongation whether or not they were touched by *S. endeca* during the exposure. Some individuals (n=7) even detached from the substrate and rolled away from the sea star in a successful escape. We were able to confirm that 13 of the 22 sea stars that moved toward the sea cucumbers succesfully captured them and partly evaginated their stomach before we ended the experiment. The other preying sea stars either lost the prey to a successful escape (n=5) or ceased their attack for unknown reasons (n=4).

Adults

Typical sea star behaviour during predation began with an approach where one to four of its arms nearest the sea cucumber were lifted upwards or backwards (Figure 2-12A, B). As the sea star came within reach of its prey, the arms would be brought downward in an effort to hold onto the sea cucumber as it positioned its mouth and body on top of it (Figure 2-12C, D). Also in 60 % of observations (n=41) *S. endeca* followed a circuitous route along the sides of the tank to "drop down" on sea cucumbers.

Cucumaria frondosa displayed escape responses when exposed to S. endeca independant of whether direct physical contact occurred. Introduction of the predatory sea star to the water prompted C. frondosa to increase their overall size and retract their tube feet and lay on the bottom of the tank (Figure 2-12E-H). As the sea star touched it with its arms, the unattached sea cucumber would be pushed away. Sea cucumbers also responded by undergoing a series of bloating and contracting motions when touched by a sea star making it difficult for S. endeca to enfold it (Figure 2-12E). If the sea star was able to place several arms or its body on top of the sea cucumber during a contraction phase, the sea star was pushed off as C. frondosa expanded, enabling it to escape. Failed attacks often left scrapes on the body wall of the sea cucumber. After cohabiting for a few days without successful predation, the sea cucumber resumed normal size, shape and feeding behaviour. However, additional physical contact from the sea star re-elicited an escape response.

Prey size selection and feeding cycle of adult S. endeca

A total of 16 small and eight large sea cucumbers were entirely or partially eaten over three months by six sea stars. Partial feedings by *S. endeca* (20 %) caused extensive damage to sea cucumbers, which ultimately died. In general, internal tissues were mainly consumed with remains left on the bottom of the tank. While medium-sized *S. endeca* (R: $11.5 \pm 0.1 \text{ cm}$; WW: $382.9 \pm 40.7 \text{ g}$) appeared to prey upon a higher number of small (CL: $6.4 \pm 1.8 \text{ cm}$; IW: $0.6 \pm 0.3 \text{ g}$) than large (CL: $14.2 \pm 1.8 \text{ cm}$; IW: $5.8 \pm 1.1 \text{ g}$) sea cucumbers, it was not statistically supported ($F_{(1,4)}=0.471$; p=0.530). No significant differences were observed between the sizes of sea cucumber eaten by large (R: 14.5 ± 0.5 cm; WW: 621.5 ± 26.0 g) sea stars (F_(1,4)=1.00; p=0.374). Between sizes of sea stars, medium-sized *S. endeca* ate a higher number of small-sized sea cucumbers (4.0 ± 2.6) compared to large sea stars (1.0 ± 0.7) over the entire experiment; however this was not significantly different (F_(1,4)=0.125; p=0.742). The number of large sea cucumbers consumed by both sizes of *S. endeca* was low (medium sea star: 1.3 ± 0.6 ; large sea star: 1.0 ± 1.0) and the difference was not statistically different (F_(1,4)=0.000; p=1.000).

Feeding rates and fasting periods were dependant on the size of sea cucumber consumed (Figure 2-13). Medium sea stars partially consumed large-sized sea cucumbers and entirely consumed small-sized sea cucumbers over 1-4 days. Feeding upon a whole large-sized sea cucumber by a medium-sized S. endeca lasted 12 days and was followed by a fasting period of 12 days; however this was based upon one observation (Figure. 2-13). Fasting periods between feedings lasted 1-25 days, with an average of 9 ± 7 days for medium sea stars. Feeding bouts of large-sized S. endeca eating large C. frondosa lasted 9-13 days, whereas small-sized prey were eaten in a single day. Feeding ceased in largesized sea stars for 1-14 days between bouts with an average fasting period of 7 ± 5 days. One large sea star only fed once during the entire experiment, and subsequently refrained from feeding for over 50 days (Fig. 2-12). Feeding also ceased in all large sea stars by mid-July as water temperatures reached ca. 10 °C. A similar cessation of feeding occurred later in medium sea stars as water temperatures peaked at 14 °C (Figure 2-13). All the sea stars, with the exception of a single mortality, had increased in size by 5-110 % by the end of the study. From June to July, medium S. endeca mainly consumed 2-4 small sea cucumbers per month and large individuals ate one large sea cucumber per month.

Feeding behaviour of S. endeca in relation to temperature

Feeding activity by the two sizes of S. endeca was confirmed experimentally to be affected by high temperature (Figure 2-14). A two-way ANOVA found a main effect of temperature ($F_{(1,45)}=16.300$; p=0.000) but not of size of S. endeca ($F_{(1,45)}=1.167$; p=0.286) indicating that sea stars were more likely to feed at lower temperatures. No significant interaction ($F_{(1,45)}=0.340$; p=0.568) was found between temperature and size of S. endeca. At low temperatures attacks on sea cucumbers occurred after an average of 1.3 ± 1.3 h in medium and 1.3 ± 1.6 h in large-sized S. endeca with 80-100 % of tested sea stars attacking sea cucumbers. At high temperature, the feeding response was 0.4 ± 0.1 h in medium and 1.7 ± 1.8 h in large-sized S. endeca where only 38-44 % of tested sea stars attacked sea cucumbers. There was no significant difference in feeding response time between temperature regimes ($F_{(1,29)}=0.229$; p=0.636) or sizes of sea star ($F_{(1,29)}=1.221$; p=0.278), nor any significant interaction between the two factors ($F_{(1,29)}$ =1.467; p=0.236). All sea stars tested at night attacked sea cucumbers within 1.5 h at low temperature. Extreme low temperatures (-1 to 0 °C) did not prevent any size of S. endeca from feeding in the holding tanks (data not shown).

Reaction of S. endeca to damaged and intact prey

Of the 20 individuals of *S. endeca* (R: 13 ± 2 cm; WW: 608 ± 245 g) tested to determine their preference between an intact and damaged sea cucumber, 15 exhibited feeding behaviour (Figure 2-15). All 15 consumed the damaged individual first and within 24 hours. Moreover, by 48 hours, six sea stars secondarily attacked and/or ate an

intact individual (the second available prey in the tank). The feeding response time on damaged individuals was less than 3 h in 73 % of observed feedings, however the remaining sea stars had response times of over 20 h. Throughout the experiments, no escape response was ever observed in damaged sea cucumbers exposed to *S. endeca*. The experiment was repeated with *A. rubens*, but no attraction or feeding behaviour was observed (Fig. 2-14). The sea stars stayed in one area of the tank and showed no interest in feeding on either sea cucumber.

2.5 Discussion

Natural abundance

Contrary to predictions based on the distribution of the sea cucumber established by diving surveys (DFA 2002b; Hamel and Mercier 2008a), hard rocky substrates yielded the second lowest densities of all substrates sampled (rocky, gravelly, rocky-gravelly, and sandy substrates) by sea cucumber drags. However, the drags are towed along the sea floor and operate best on flat bottoms with few obstacles. Sampling in rocky environments fills the net with rocks and the drag may therefore miss sea cucumbers entirely due to the irregular nature of the bottom. The number of animals captured among tows was highly variable, either reflecting unequal efficacy of gear or the patchy distribution of *C. frondosa*. Areas of hard gravelly substrate yielded the highest densities of sea cucumbers in areas without its main predator, *S. endeca*.

Cucumaria frondosa densities were dependant on substrate type and region. Regionally, sea cucumber densities were higher offshore than inshore, regardless of

2-28

predator presence. Lower inshore densities may be resultant of more intense fishing as there are lower costs associated with fishing closer to land (Lew Barrett personal communication). Offshore areas may have more optimal environmental conditions for supporting higher densities of sea cucumbers. There was a significant interaction between region and presence of *S. endeca*. Offshore, there was no significant difference in sea cucumber density between areas with and without *S. endeca*. In the inshore region, presence of *S. endeca* was associated with higher densities of *c. frondosa* suggesting that sea stars are attracted to areas with high densities of sea cucumbers. Some areas showed occurrence of high numbers of each species, for instance over 630 sea cucumbers were caught in a single tow on a rocky-gravely substrate that yielded over 300 *S. endeca* as bycatch. Although chemodetection abilities vary between sea stars (Rochette et al. 1994) aggregations of *S. endeca* in areas with large numbers of sea cucumbers may indicate that they have the capacity to detect them. However, similarity in habitat preference may also account for this pattern and cannot be entirely ruled out.

Overall densities of sea cucumbers indicate a preference for hard substrates compared to soft sandy substrate. Similar distributions of *C. frondosa* have been observed in the Gulf of St. Lawrence (Canada) and off Maine (USA) with declining abundance from areas of hard bedrock and boulders to soft sand and mud (Himmelman and Dutil 1991; Kirshenbaum 2006). Higher densities may be attributed to larval settlement which selects for hard substrate that provides refuges for recruits (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, Medeiros Bergen and Miles 1997). Juveniles and adults also require hard surfaces for attachment which is necessary for feeding (Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Singh et al. 1998), presumably leading to better fitness and physical condition of the sea cucumber.
Effect of habitat on sea cucumber size

The morphometric analysis of sea cucumbers from various substrates revealed that individuals found on hard rocky substrate were larger than those found on either hard mixed or soft sandy substrate. One group of individuals from sandy substrate (sample S2) were the smallest of all sea cucumbers sampled. Increasing size with increasing hardness of substrate supports that rocky substrates are an optimal habitat for this species, as previously suggested (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). If sandy substrates do not provide adequate attachment for feeding, the presence of small sized individuals on soft substrate may be due to a resorption of tissues associated with low feeding rates, however feeding observations in the field and biochemical analyses are needed to confirm this. High stress due to rolling on the sandy bottom (CSAR 2006) may also contribute to reduced size. The higher gonadal index observed in some individuals from sand must be interpreted with caution as it may be attributed to a resorption process rather than higher reproductive potential. Since the gonad index is the ratio between gonad and body wall weight (including muscles), reduction of the latter would yield high values not indicative of gonad growth. Cucumaria frondosa is known to use energy from the body wall and associated muscles as an energy reserve to support gamete synthesis and maintain body functions during non-feeding periods (David and McDonald 2002). This would suggest that sea cucumbers on sand may be decreasing in size in response to low feeding and consumption of energetic reserves. The fact that sea cucumbers from sandy substrate generally had thicker body walls (excluding muscles) compared to those from mixed gravelly and rocky substrates may be the result of rolling along the sea floor, toughening

the wall, but only under the assumption that sea cucumbers spent enough time on this substrate. This highlights the inherent difficulties in comparing sea cucumbers subjected to different environmental conditions. Assuming that sea cucumbers are being displaced towards sandy substrates by currents or storms, there is no way of knowing how long they have been there prior to the collection. The lack of hard structures in sea cucumbers (Kirshenbaum et al. 2006) makes it impossible to separate age-related and environmentally-induced effects on reproductive potential. All these factors may contribute to the large variability noted in measures of sea cucumbers collected on sand. Long-term histological and field feeding studies are needed to support differences in body condition and its effect on reproductive potential of sea cucumbers from various substrates.

High selectivity for hard substrates is common in sea cucumbers (Woodby et al. 2000; Mendes et al. 2006). Sandy substrates do not provide firm attachment so that ocean currents would likely displace them with the sand to which they are attached (Woodby et al 2000; Džeroski and Drumm 2003). Fine particles may also be suspended with currents, inhibiting normal suspension feeding activities (Džeroski and Drumm 2003). Hard substrates on the other hand are rich in refuges and crevices, providing protection to small individuals from predators (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, Medeiros-Bergen and Miles 1997). They also provide firm attachment to adults for spawning. It is therefore legitimate to presume that individuals rolling on soft sand substrate will not contribute significantly to reproduction and recruitment.

Accuracy of measurements

The primary difficulty with sea cucumber growth studies has long been the reliability of measures used due to the plastic nature of the sea cucumber body. Although reliable measures such as dry weight have been developed (Rutherford 1973; Turner and Rutherford 1976; Hamel and Mercier 1996a; David and MacDonald 2002) they are obviously not suitable for growth experiments where individuals need to be kept alive and measured at regular intervals. Immersed weight is ideal for sea cucumber growth studies because it negates the effects of retained water within the organism, providing a measure of tissues as shown by the strong relationship with dry weight we obtained ($r^2=0.97$). Similar results have been obtained for C. frondosa and other echinoderms in previous studies (Grosjean 2001; Gudimova et al. 2004). Spirlet et al. (2000) developed a standardized immersed weight based on the salinity of the water in which the organisms were weighed. Since salinity changes off the coast of Newfoundland are minimal (ca. 32; Kendaris 1980), they were assumed to have negligible effect on the results of this study. While immersed weight is by far the most accurate measurement, it was also the most time consuming to use. Sea cucumbers needed to be completely covered by water and checked to ensure there was no contact with the sides of the seawater container which otherwise resulted in abnormally high values. It is doubtful that this measurement would be useful in the field as movements, such as the rocking of a boat, could also affect it. Wet weight was dependent on the amount of retained water within the animal, making it quite variable, yet it was still fairly well correlated with dry weight. As a sea cucumber's body size increases, the volume of water it is able to retain increases, accounting for the strong linear relationship. However, the drawback is that behavioural and physiological

processes unrelated to growth may also result in increased wet weight. Contracted length exhibited the poorest correlation with dry weight, however when combined with contracted width in the size index measure, the correlation was higher than for each measurement separately.

Growth of juveniles and adults

Spawning of *C. frondosa* took place in the laboratory from late March to early May in 2006 and 2007 after natural increases in phytoplankton levels. Hamel and Mercier (2008a) suggested that differences between regions in timing of phytoplankton blooms account for the wide variation of spawning times (Feburary to June) previously reported for *C. frondosa*. Similarly, the full size of mature oocytes in *C. frondosa* varies with geographical locations (Britt and Petersen 1982; Hamel and Mercier 1996a, 2008a), presumably as a result of differences in nutrient levels (Beddingfield and McClintock 1998) to which spawning adults are exposed. Larger oocytes have been observed in the St. Lawrence Estuary (0.7-1.1 mm; Hamel and Mercier 1996a) where high phytoplankton levels are present for 11 months of the year, compared to 3 months in the Newfoundland region (Afanasyev et al. 2001).

The smaller oocytes in our study metamorphosed into pentactula after ca. 15 days compared to ca. 17 days for the larger oocytes in a previous study (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). This trend is consistent with the observed correlation between egg size and development time in lecithotrophic larvae (Marshall and Bolton 2007). Small oocyte size indicates shorter dispersal distances with increased emphasis on local recruitment. Temperature variations during larval culture may also influence development time (Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Hoegh-Guldberg and Pearse 1995) however temperature conditions were similar in both studies.

In the St. Lawrence Estuary, Hamel and Mercier (1996a) reported that settlement occurred after ca. 6 weeks, compared to ca. 5 weeks in our study. Faster settlement may enable new recruits to take advantage of the shorter productive season, however after two years of growth sea cucumbers reached a maximum of 6 mm in our study compared to over 30 mm in the St. Lawrence Estuary (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). The size of larvae at settlement was also smaller, a result that could be explained by the smaller oocyte size in Newfoundland populations (Marshall and Bolton 2007), and may contribute to the overall size differences after 24 months, although the coefficient of variation was higher for the final size of juveniles than it was for oocyte size.

It is unlikely that small larvae/juveniles were space-limited in our tanks as they occur in such high densities in the field (Hamel and Mercier 1996b), thus food level is the most likely cause of the lower growth rates recorded. Although sea cucumbers in our study were constantly supplemented with algae $(3.8 \times 10^5 \text{ cells ml}^{-1})$, the food availability was apparently not enough to enhance or even sustain growth rates. Furthermore, high variations in sizes were observed in juveniles of the same year class indicating differences in growth rate within a cohort reared in a common enclosure under identical environmental conditions. Larger individuals were generally found on the undersides of rocks possibly closer to detrital food sources, including accumulated organic material on the bottom of the tank. Sheltering under rocks also allows juveniles to feed uninterrupted for longer periods than in open areas where they are exposed to water currents and other disturbances. Similar observations of variable growth rate observed in the field were

attributed to differences in inter-seasonal growth rate, dependant on time of spawning (Medeiros-Bergen and Miles 1997). Intra-cohort size variations should definitely be given more consideration, especially since size is currently being used to estimate age and to establish cohorts (and sometimes infer spawning frequency) (Gage 1994), when in fact individuals of very different sizes could belong to the same cohort, and vice versa.

The growth patterns of C. frondosa in this study were consistent with seasonal feeding cycles previously detected in northwest Atlantic waters (Hamel and Mercier 1998; Singh et al. 1999). Cucumaria frondosa responds to high levels of phytoplankton in the water rather than to overall increases in organic material (Singh et al. 1999). Phytoplankton levels are generally low in the Newfoundland region with the exception of the spring phytoplankton bloom in April-May (Pomeroy et al. 1991; Afanasyev et al. 2001; Thompson et al. 2008; Wu et al. 2008). Sea cucumbers showed noticeably increased feeding during this time of year as shown by the full extension of their tentacles and their cyclic insertion into the mouth. In Passamaquoddy Bay, Singh et al. (1999) observed that C. frondosa feeding was minimal when phytoplankton levels were low. Similar growth trends were shown in most of the size classes tested here, with increases in immersed weight soon after spring blooms, owing to lag time in vertical flux of phytoplankton (Thompson et al. 2008) and then declines during the rest of the year. The seemingly rapid change in growth may also be attributed to the release of fatty oocytes from females during spawning, resulting in reduced buoyancy and increased immersed weight. Nevertheless, similar growth patterns were observed in other size measurements (data not shown). While overall size did not significantly change over the course of the study, Bonferroni adjusted comparisons are known to be conservative. In addition, the

similar size between replicates provides evidence that periodic sampling had minimal effects on growth. Minimal changes in size in the largest individuals was expected since they are close to the maximum size for the species in Newfoundland waters and are presumably undergoing slow or null growth. The seasonal decline in immersed weight in all size classes may be the result of resorption of reserves stored in the body wall (David and MacDonald 2002) due to starvation and low availability of food. In the field, annual increases in size likely occur with the spring phytoplankton bloom and declines in size may be lower. In general, it may be efficient for sea cucumbers to feed only during periods of high food levels, live on stored reserves during non-feeding periods and invest in reproduction. Singh et al. (1999) also proposed that short feeding periods could minimize tentacle cropping by fishes, a further argument against trying to feed when food is too low. Similar to what we report here, increases and decreases in size have been observed in other temperate and tropical holothurians to coincide with feeding and nonfeeding periods (Rutherford 1973; Costelloe and Keegan 1984; Cameron and Fankboner 1989; Fu et al. 2006; Paltzat et al. 2008). Echinoderms can reabsorb tissues in response to low food levels, generally resulting in a reduction in size/weight (Ebert 1967), which adds to intrinsic difficulties in determining size-at-age. Size classes in the present study may thus have grouped individuals of different ages, and some of the variability in growth may be due to age-related metabolic differences (Guillou and Lumingas 1999). In turn, inter-individual variations in growth, as shown clearly in laboratory-reared juveniles, may mask individual growth patterns. Stocking density may also affect growth (Levitan 1988), however C. frondosa naturally occurs in high densities and 'shrinking' was observed even at very low densities in the laboratory. Uthicke et al. (2004) reported shrinking of *Holothuria nobilis* in the field regardless of density and suggested that it was in response to unfavourable environmental conditions.

Sea cucumbers that were supplemented with algae during our study showed growth trends that were similar to those of individuals exposed to ambient food levels, although a significant decrease in the size of fed individuals was only observed in the smallest size classes. Seasonal size variations were not significant, suggesting that fed individuals were not as food limited as the others. Furthermore, fed individuals from one of the size classes were larger than the non-fed individuals at the end of the 17 months suggesting that they did not need to draw upon their energy reserves as much. The lack of significant growth in spite of the addition of algae, however, indicates that algal densities were insufficient to drive growth rates much higher. Alternatively, algae supplied may not have been suitable to meet the nutritional requirements of the sea cucumber; even though the algal species provided have been successfully used in previous laboratory feed studies with *C. frondosa* (Singh et al. 1998).

Overall growth was extremely limited during this 17-month study. An extrapolation of yearly growth rates from each size class of *C. frondosa* during peak phytoplankton levels suggests that growth to adult size (IW: ca. 6.5 g) would take a minimum of 25 years. This estimate is longer than previous estimate of ca. 10 years (minimum) from juvenile to market size (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, 2008; Gudimova et al. 2004). As already discussed, this marked difference most likely reflects the shorter growth season in northwest Atlantic waters, which is dependent on local phytoplankton levels (Afanasyev et al. 2001). The different methodologies used may also account for some of the variability. We used laboratory settings that mimicked field conditions

(running unfiltered seawater; naturally varying temperature and photoperiod) and chose immersed weight as a measure of sea cucumber size. In contrast, Hamel and Mercier (1996a) used in situ measures of length to establish growth rates of small C. frondosa in the field. Growth curves using contracted length in our study were similar to those constructed with immersed weight, although the changes in size were not as pronounced (data not shown). Gudimova et al. (2004) conducted a series of field and laboratory studies to elucidate growth of C. frondosa, using a less reliable measurement (total animal wet weight) to calculate parameters for their growth model. Our study showed no significant adverse effect of repeated measurements, except in size Class 3 where individuals sampled twice were double the immersed weight of individuals sampled nine times over 17 months. On the other hand, as mentioned previously, important size differences were also noted in laboratory-reared juveniles that were hardly ever disturbed, suggesting that genetic predisposition or physiological condition, rather than manipulation or stress, may affect growth rates. Growth rates in C. frondosa were also observed to be favoured by stable environmental conditions at certain depths (Hamel and Mercier 1996a), further indicating that any measure of growth must be interpreted cautiously.

Growth to maximum size in echinoderms is often quite slow (ca. 40 years to adult size in *Sterechinus neumayeri*; Brey et al. 1995). Because animals are rarely monitored for more than a few years (Rutherford 1973; Herrero-Perézrul et al. 1999; Uthicke et al. 2004, Paltzat et al. 2008), growth models are typically used to extrapolate growth to maximum size (Herrero-Perézrul et al. 1999; Grosjean 2001). Assuming that measurements accurately reflect size, the lack of size-at-age data for older individuals can

2-38

lead to biases in growth estimation. Furthermore, growth models presume that size and age are directly related, which is not the case for many echinoderms (Ebert 1967). The cyclic growth and shrinking of sea cucumbers, combined with intra-cohort size variations, can further confound the establishment of proper size classes to estimate growth. On the other hand, tagging individuals for long-term studies is difficult (Kirshenbaum et al 2006; Shiell 2006) and holding them in groups is crucial for reproductive fitness due to inter-individual gametogenic cues (Hamel and Mercier 1996c; 1999a). Thus, in spite of its possible shortcomings, our growth study used one of the most accurate measures of sea cucumber size and was effective in showing the seasonal food-related nature of growth of *C. frondosa*. Ideally, studies should be conducted in the field to determine natural growth and shrinking rates of individuals using DNA fingerprinting (Uthicke et al. 2004) to further refine our estimates.

Predation by sea stars

This study marks the first observation of predation on juveniles of *C. frondosa* by juveniles of *S. endeca*. One year old juveniles of *C. frondosa* reared in the laboratory exhibited the adult escape behaviour first described by Legault and Himmelman (1993), suggesting that the species is genetically predisposed to avoid its sea star predator, and that the latter develops predatory abilities early in its life. The innate ability of captively-reared juveniles for co-detection is evidence that these two species have likely co-evolved. Similar anti-predatory responses have been observed in juvenile *Parastichopus californicus* in the presence of adult *Pycnopodia helianthoides* (Cameron and Fankboner 1989). Accounts of predation on invertebrate juveniles have generally

been limited to incidental observations, however our study shows that juvenile predation could add considerably to the already high mortality rates of larval and small-sized sea cucumbers (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). Although encounter rates between juveniles of *S. endeca* and *C. frondosa* are potentially high as the sympatric species share similar spawning periods and larval ecology (Gemmill 1912; Britt and Petersen 1982; Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995) differences in observed distribution may reduce predation impacts.

Well developed prey-predator interactions were observed between adults of *S*. *endeca* and *C. frondosa*, the former employing direct and indirect attacks where it would either move directly towards its prey, or take a circuitous route. Direct attacks were only observed if *S. endeca* was in close proximity to its prey. Indirect attacks occurred more often with the sea star positioned on the side of the tank, above its prey. Attacking from the side of the tank may allow sea stars to remove themselves from direct water flow, letting them approach from "down wind" without being sensed by the sea cucumber, a tactic similar to that of the sea star *Leptasterias polaris* (Rochette et al. 1994). It may also be a strategy to use their entire body weight to help capture the sea cucumber. Furthermore, predation experiments in a tank confined the sea cucumbers preventing them from escaping as successfully as they might in nature. Thus, due to the repeated attacks on large sea cucumbers, effective predation rates observed on large sea cucumbers in the laboratory may be higher than in the field.

In the confines of the tank, sea cucumbers exposed to non-feeding *S. endeca* for several days became habituated to their presence, returning to their normal size and eventually feeding. Anti-predatory responses were re-elicited if the sea star touched the sea cucumber. A similar behaviour was observed in *P. californicus* where active sea stars prompted anti-predatory responses, however inactive sea stars, though in close proximity to the prey, did not (Cameron and Fankboner 1989). Quick contraction and elongation behaviours are presumably energetically expensive for *C. frondosa*. Since they live sympatrically with *S. endeca*, there must be a mechanism to recognize whether there is a threat or not, possibly through the chemical signature of "hunting/hungry" predators, as described by Cameron and Fankboner (1989).

The feeding cycle of adult S. endeca on C. frondosa revealed a preference for prey smaller than themselves and predation rates that varied with temperature. There seemed to be a preference for small sea cucumbers by medium-sized sea stars, although it was not statistically supported. No preference was observed in large-sized seas stars, however lower feeding rates may be due to their larger energy reserves and ability to consume prey with higher energy content. One sea star ceased feeding for 50 days with no noticeable negative effects except for minimal growth. Asteroids in general display a capacity to fast for long periods without any detriment, as shown by experiments with L. polaris starved for two months (Rochette et al. 1994). Feeding bouts were not dependant on size of the predatory sea star but on the size of prey item. Small-sized sea cucumbers were consumed much more quickly than were larger ones. Overall, the length of time spent eating was high, lasting up to 13 days, similar to observations in the field (Himmelman et al. 2005). Himmelman et al. (2005) attributed the long consumption times of the sea cucumber Psolus fabricii by S. endeca to the digestion of the tough body wall containing hard calcareous plates. Cucumaria frondosa are generally larger than P. fabricii and also have a tough body wall (as emphasized by the remains of partially eaten sea cucumbers consisting mainly of this tissue), leading to similarly long feeding bouts.

The escape behaviour of *C. frondosa* can be quite effective in foiling sea stars, especially against smaller predators. Although large sea cucumbers used in this study represent a larger quantity of food, they would be much harder to capture. Sea cucumbers smaller than the sea stars would be easier to capture, but higher quantities would need to be consumed to match the nutritional benefits of feeding upon a larger specimen. The feeding behaviour of *S. endeca* is similar to that of other sea stars which choose a prey size that increases their net caloric intake (Feder and Christensen 1966; Menge 1972; Paine 1976; McClintock and Lawrence 1985; Beddingfield and McClintock 1993) with respect to energy expended capturing prey and energy gained from it.

All *S. endeca* ceased feeding in late July 2007, presumably because temperature in the tanks reached ca. 14 °C, the upper limit of their tolerance level as estimated by Ursin (1960). Large *S. endeca* stopped feeding earlier, when temperatures reached ca. 10 °C, and fasted for about two months. Metabolic costs may be higher for large versus mediumsized sea stars at higher temperatures, inducing them to cease feeding at lower temperatures. Medium-sized sea stars could also have lower energy reserves than larger sea stars and thus a lower fasting capacity, increasing their need to feed at intermediate temperatures (10-13°C). Temperature-related experiments of feeding behaviour in *S. endeca* confirmed a marked preference for attacking sea cucumbers at lower temperatures. Contrary to feeding cycle observations, there were no significant sizerelated differences in feeding activity in relation to temperature detected in other sea stars (Feder and Christensen 1966). Temperature extremes have been known to minimize predation rates in *Pisaster ochraceus* (Sanford 2002a) and our study confirms that temperature is an important factor controlling sea star distribution and predator-prey dynamics as previously suggested (Franz et al. 1981; Sanford 2002b). The mortality of one medium *S. endeca* near the end of the study is further evidence that 14 °C is close to thermal limit for this species.

Bottom trawls used for harvesting sea cucumbers, sea urchin and scallops are known to have devastating effects on benthic invertebrates and habitats (Hamel and Mercier 1999b; Veale et al. 2000a; Jennings et al. 2001; Robinson et al. 2001). Soft-bodied invertebrates like sea cucumbers may be crushed when rocks are flipped over or damaged when the sled-like rails on the bottom trawl run over them. The pair-wise prey preference experiment revealed an inclination of S. endeca towards damaged sea cucumbers over intact ones. Damage to the body wall of the sea cucumber, exposing internal organs, prevents it from effectively employing anti-predator behaviours. Secondary intentions were observed in ca. 40 % of the cases (6 of 15) where sea stars feeding on damaged sea cucumbers subsequently attacked and ate intact individuals. Five out of the six observations of secondary attacks were carried out by large S. endeca, confirming the need for increased food intake. Previous studies on scallops Chlamys islandica have shown that sea stars are attracted to recently fished areas due to the increase in damaged scallops and thus an increase in availability of food (Veale et al. 2000b). A similar attraction of S. endeca is likely present in areas where sea cucumbers are fished due to the abilities of sea stars to detect C. frondosa and their capacity to travel distances >5 m in 12 h (Himmelman and Dutil 1991). Although the sea star Asterias rubens is an opportunistic scavenger and has been reported to consume C. frondosa in the laboratory (Coady 1973) no feeding response the was observed in our study, although

other invertebrate scavengers have been observed to feed upon *C. frondosa* damaged by trawls (Robinson et al. 2001).

The population structure of S. endeca on the St. Pierre Bank is comparable to that measured in other areas of its distribution range (Zolotarev 2002). Medium-sized sea stars (ca. R: 7-11 cm) account for up to 57% of the population, suggesting that small individuals of C. frondosa (IW: <2.0 g) would predominantly be targeted by predation. Larger, deep-water sea cucumbers are more likely to escape predation, however if they are damaged by bottom trawls, as observed in other fisheries (Robinson et al. 2001), their ability to escape may be drastically reduced. An extrapolation of overall predation rates based on the average size of S. endeca and assuming cessation of feeding during peak temperatures from August to October indicates that 2 % (0.012 ind m^{-2}) of sea cucumbers could be removed annually. This rate assumes monospecific predation on C. frondosa. It does not take into account predation on other echinoderms which can be commonly found in coastal waters (Gosner 1978; Himmelman 2006). For instance, Himmelman (1991, 2006) observed S. endeca generally feeding on P. fabricii and to a lesser degree on P. phantapus and Chiridota laevis in the St. Lawrence Estuary. On the other hand, C. frondosa is known to have other predators besides S. endeca, including fishes (Templeman 1982; Francour 1997; Hamel and Mercier 2008a). Furthermore, temperature on the St. Pierre Bank at depths where sea cucumbers are fished never increase above 6 °C (Drinkwater et al. 1999), suggesting that S. endeca can feed continuously.

Implications for the fishery

This study highlights aspects of the biology of *C. frondosa* that have major implications for a commercial fishery in northwest Atlantic waters. *Cucumaria frondosa* occurs in relatively high abundance but exhibits a patchy distribution in some areas that may translate into the possibility of increasing the fishing effort. Stock assessments of *C. frondosa* on the St. Pierre Bank are conducted using a sea cucumber drag prior to the start of the fishery to monitor eventual impacts on fished populations (L. Barrett personal communication). Surveyors weigh the total number of sea cucumbers caught and count and weigh any bycatch. Current methods of sampling may lead to biases in determining the biomass of *C. frondosa*, as the drag does not work optimally on rocky irregular substrates, potentially under-estimating sea cucumber densities. Addition of camera tows or divers to conduct transects may be used to supplement current stock estimates to improve accuracy.

Distribution and morphometric evidence also suggest that sea cucumbers are easier to trawl on sand, but they may yield a lower price as they are generally smaller in size. However, the increased thickness of the body wall may be beneficial for making beche-de-mer (Hamel and Mercier 2008). Because they appear to contribute less to recruitment in general, preferentially harvesting *C. frondosa* on sandy bottoms would presumably reduce impacts on reproductively important populations and the resource in general.

Growth rates of *C. frondosa* around Newfoundland are slower than previously reported for the species in estuarine habitats (Hamel and Mercier 1996a) and much slower than growth rates reported for tropical species of sea cucumbers (Herrero-Pérezrul et al.

2-45

1999). Even with good reproductive success (Hamel and Mercier 1996d) and large virgin biomasses, adults removed by the fishery will likely take many decades to replace, especially if predation pressure is mainly targeted at juvenile and small-sized sea cucumbers. There is a definite concern that predation impacts will also be exacerbated by fishing pressure whether it is sea cucumber-related or not. Harvesting pressure upon adults and predation pressure upon juveniles make sea cucumber populations extremely susceptible to Allee effects, reducing their ability to recover from overexploitation (Uthicke 2004). Deep-water refuges for sea cucumbers (>50 m) that are less accessible to harvesters have been cited as a potential recruitment source for fished coastal populations (Hamel and Mercier 1999b, 2008a). However, removal of coastal populations can reduce reproductive potential, as deep-water populations living beyond the photic zone may rely on cues from shallower populations to synchronize gametogenesis (Hamel and Mercier 1996c). Thus, removal of sexually mature coastal sea cucumbers potentially has impacts on a larger proportion of the reproductive population. Using a trawl to fish sea cucumbers may unintentionally help preserve reproductive adults and sources of recruitment as they are ineffective in irregular rocky environments, the preferred habitat of C. frondosa (Hamel and Mercier 1996a, 2008a).

Another factor that may help protect the sea cucumber populations from overfishing is the relatively low market value of *C. frondosa* (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006; Hamel and Mercier 2008a). In Indo-Pacific regions, populations of prime commercial species were overfished due to their high value and low harvesting costs (Uthicke and Conand 2005). In the northwest Atlantic, harvesters will likely shift to other fisheries should the fishery for *C. frondosa* become economically unsustainable.

Unfortunately, the sea cucumber population may be beyond the point of recovery should the fishery ever reach this stage. Already, populations of *C. frondosa* in Maine (USA), subject to the oldest fishery for this species, are showing signs of decline (Gudimova et al. 2004; Bruckner 2005; Hamel and Mercier 2008a).

Biological and ecological data suggest that *C. frondosa* is susceptible to overexploitation and Allee effects in a manner similar to other commercial sea cucumbers, regardless of the large initial biomass. A sustainable fishery can only be developed in Atlantic Canada if managers take a precautionary approach, harvesting a small percentage of the biomass and continuing to monitor and study *C. frondosa* populations in Atlantic waters. It is imperative to heed the lessons learned from overexploited sea cucumber fisheries elsewhere, and continue to have the support and cooperation of harvesters, processors and research scientists.

2.6 Acknowledgements

This work was carried out in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Master of Science degree at Memorial University. We are grateful to L. Barrett for coordinating most sea cucumber samplings during this study, as well as to G. Parsons, P. Mackey, S. Melindy, J. Francis, D. Kearley, P. Sargent, R. Boland, R. O'Donnell, and W. Coffey for their part in specimen collections. We thank E. Hynick, D. Stansbury, P. Winger, C. Keats, S. Grant, R. Singh and local harvesters for their help and advice. We also thank D. Marshall, B. MacDonald, I. Fleming and D. Deibel for comments on early manuscripts as well as Z. Sun, G. Doyle, C. Negrijn and N. Laite for laboratory assistance. This research was funded by the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, local harvesters, the Department of Fisheries and Oceans, the Canadian Centre for Fisheries Innovation and the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council.

2.7 References

- Afanasyev, Y.D., Nezlin, N.P., and Kostianoy, A.G. 2001. Patterns of seasonal dynamics of remotely sensed chlorophyll and physical environment in the Newfoundland region. Remote Sens. Environ. 76: 268-282.
- Barrett, L., Way, E., and Winger, P.D. 2007. Sea cucumber drag reference manual. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. No. 2736. St. John's, Newfoundland. pp. 1-21.
- Beddingfield, S.D., and McClintock, J.B. 1993. Feeding behavior of the sea star *Astropecten articulatus* (Echinodermata: Asteroidea): An evaluation of energyefficient foraging in a soft-bottom predator. Mar. Biol. **115**: 669-676.
- Brey, T., Pearse, J., Basch, L., McClintock, J., and Slattery, M. 1995. Growth and production of *Sterechinus neumayeri* (Echinoidea: Echinodermata) in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. Mar. Biol. 124: 279-292.
- Britt, I., and Petersen, F. 1982. Breeding season and egg morphology of echinoderms in Balsfjorden, Northern Norway. Sarsia. 47: 215-216.
- Bruckner, A.W. 2005. The recent status of sea cucumber fisheries in the continental United States of America. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. **22**: 39-46.
- Bull, H.O. 1934. Aquarium observations on the rate of growth and enemies of the common starfish Asterias rubens. Dove Mar. Lab. Rep. 3: 60-65.

2-49

- Cameron, J.L., and Fankboner, P.V. 1989. Reproductive biology of the commercial sea cucumber *Parastichopus californicus* (Stimpson) (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea).
 2. Observations on the ecology of development, recruitment, and the juvenile life stage.
 J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 127: 43-67.
- Coady, L.W. 1973. Aspects of the reproductive biology of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Gunnerus, 1770) and *Psolus fabricii* (Duben and Koren, 1846) (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in shallow waters of the Avalon Peninsula, Newfoundland. M.Sc. Thesis. Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's. Canada.
- Conad, C. 1979. Beche-de-mer in New Caledonia: Weight loss and shrinkage in three species of holothurians. SPC Fish. Newsl. 19: 14-17.
- Costelloe, J., and Keegan, B.F. 1984. Feeding and related morphological structures in the dendrochirote *Aslia Lefevrei* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). Mar. Biol. 84: 135-142.
- CSAR, Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources. 2006. Habitat utilization and density of sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) on St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland:
 Observations using a towed camera sled in 2004 and 2005. Centre for Sustainable
 Aquatic Resources Project Report P-172a. Fisheries and Marine Institute of
 Memorial University, St. John's, Newfoundland.

- David, V.M.M., and MacDonald, B.A. 2002. Seasonal biochemical composition of tissues from *Cucumaria frondosa* collected in the Bay of Fundy, Canada: Feeding activity and reproduction. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 82: 141-147.
- DFA, Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture. 2002a. Sea cucumber dive harvest/gear design and testing. Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture Report FDP 424-3. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's, Newfoundland.
- DFA, Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture. 2002b. Sea cucumber surveys conducted: *Cucumaria frondosa*. Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture Report FDP 358-4. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's, Newfoundland.
- DFO, Department of Fisheries and Oceans 2001. New emerging fisheries policy. Available at http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/communic/fish_man/nefp_e.htm. Accessed February 4, 2009.
- Drinkwater, K.F., Colburne, E., and Gilbert, D. 1999. Overview of environmental conditions in the Northwest Atlantic in 1998. NAFO Sci. Coun. Studies **33**: 39-87.
- Džeroski, S., and Drumm, D. 2003. Using regression trees to identify the habitat preference of the sea cucumber (*Holothuria leucospilota*) on Rarotonga, Cook Islands. Ecol. Model. **170**: 219-226.
- Ebert, T.A. 1967. Negative growth and longevity in the purple sea urchin *Strongvlocentrotus purpuratus* (Stimpson). Science **157**: 557-558.

- Ellis, J.R., and Rogers, S.I. 2000. The distribution, relative abundance and diversity of echinoderms in the eastern English Channel, Bristol Channel, and Irish Sea. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 80: 127-138.
- Feder, H.M., and Christensen, A.M. 1966. Aspects of asteroid biology. In Physiology of Echinodermata. Edited by R. A. Boolootian, pp. 87-127. New York: Interscience Publishers.
- Francour, P. 1997. Predation on holothurians: A literature review. Invertebr. Biol. **116**: 52-60.
- Franz, D.R., Worley, E.K., and Merrill, A.S. 1981. Distribution pattern of common seastars of the middle Atlantic continental shelf of the Northwest Atlantic (Gulf of Maine to Cape Hatteras). Biol. Bull. 160: 394-418.
- Fu, X., Xue, C., Miao, B., Li, Z., Gao, X., and Hirata, T. 2006. Distribution and seasonal activity variation of proteases in digestive tract of sea cucumber *Stichopus japonicus*. Fish. Sci. 72: 1130-1132.
- Gage, J.D. 1994. Recruitment ecology and age structure of deep sea invertebrate populations. *In* Reproduction, larval biology, and recruitment of the deep sea benthos. *Edited by* C.M. Young and K.J. Eckelbarger: Columbia University Press, New York. pp. 223-242.

- Gaymer, C.F., Dutil, C., and Himmelman, J.H. 2004. Prey selection and predatory impact of four major sea stars on a soft bottom subtidal community. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 313: 353-374.
- Gemmill, J.F. 1912. The development of the starfish *Solaster endeca* Forbes. Trans. Zool. Soc. Lond. **20**: 1-71.
- Grant, S.M. 2006. Biological resource assessment of the orange footed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) occurring in the Strait of Belle Isle. Fisheries and Marine Insititute Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources Report No. P-169. St. John's, Newfoundland.
- Grant, S.M., Squire, L., and Keats, C. 2006. Biological resource assessment of the orange footed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) occurring in the St. Pierre Bank.
 Fisheries and Marine Institute Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources Report P-137 & P-172. St. John's, Newfoundland.
- Gotceitas, V., Methven, D.A., Fraser, S,. and Brown, J.A. 1999. Effects of body size and food ration on over-winter survival and growth of age-0 Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*. Environ. Biol. Fishes. 54: 413-420.
- Gosner, K.L. 1978. A field guide to the Atlantic Seashore. Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston, Mass.
- Grosjean, P. 2001. Growth model of the reared sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* (Larmark, 1816). Ph.D. Thesis, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium.

- Gudimova, E.N., Gudimov, A., and Collin, P. 2004. A study of the biology for fishery in two populations of *Cucumaria frondosa*: In the Barents Sea (Russia) and in the Gulf of Maine (USA). *In* Echinoderms: Munchen Proceedings of the 11th International Echinoderm Conference. *Edited by* T. Heinzeller and J.H. Nebelsick: CRC Press, London. pp. 269-275.
- Guillou, M., and Lumingas, L.J.L. 1999. Variation in the reproductive strategy of Sphaerechinus granularis (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) related to food availability. J. Mar. Biol.Ass. U.K. 79: 131-136.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1995. Spawning of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, eastern Canada. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 7: 12-18.
- Hamel, J.-F., Mercier, A. 1996a. Early development, settlement, growth and spatial distribution of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 253-271.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996b. Gonad morphology and gametogenesis of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 22-33.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996c. Evidence of chemical communication during the gametogenesis of holothuroids. Ecology. **77**: 1600-1616
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996d. Gamete dispersion and fertilization success of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 34-40.

- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1998. Diet and feeding behaviour of the sea cucumber
 Cucumaria frondosa in the St. Lawrence Estuary, Eastern Canada. Can. J. Zool.
 76: 1194-1198.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1999a. Mucus as a mediator of gametogenic synchrony in the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK. 79: 121-129.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1999b. Recent developments in the commercialization of the northern sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 11: 21-22.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 2008a. Population status, fisheries and trade of sea cucumbers in temperate areas of the Northern Hemisphere. *In* Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. *Edited by* V. Toral-Granda, A. Lovatelli, and M. Vasconcellos. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 516.
 Rome, FAO. pp. 293–306.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 2008b. Precautionary management of *Cucumaria frondosa* in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *In* Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. *Edited by* V. Toral-Granda, A. Lovatelli, and M. Vasconcellos.
 FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 516. Rome, FAO. pp. 293–306.

Herrero-Pérezrul, M.D., Reyes Bonilla, H., García-Domínguez, F., and Cintra-Buenrostro, C.E. 1999. Reproduction and growth of *Isostichopus fuscus* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in the Southern Gulf of California, México. Mar. Biol. 135: 521-532.

- Himmelman, J.H. 2006. Behaviour, prey selection and impact of Gulf of St. Lawrence sea stars. *In* Atelier de travail: Predation de petoncle et gestion des ensemencements. *Edited by* M. Nadeau, and G. Tita. Les publication de la direction de l'innovation et des technologies. Compte rendu. No. 24. Gaspé, Quebec. pp. 11-13.
- Himmelman, J.H., and Dutil, C. 1991. Distribution, population structure and feeding of subtidal sea stars in the Northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 76: 61-72.
- Himmelman, J.H., Dutil, C., and Gaymer, C.F. 2005. Foraging behavior and activity budgets of sea stars on a subtidal sediment bottom community. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 322: 153-165.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., and Pearse, J.S. 1995. Temperature, food availability, and the development of marine invertebrate larvae. Amer. Zool. **35**: 415-425.
- Jennings, S., Pinnegar, J.K., Polunin, N.V.C., and Warr, K.J. 2001. Impact of trawling distance on the trophic structure of benthic invertebrate communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 213: 127-142.

Jones, J.B. 1992. Environmental impacts of trawling on the seabed: A review. N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 26: 59-67.

Jordan, A.J. 1972. On the Ecology and Behavior of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) at Lamoine Beach, Maine. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maine at Orono, Maine. United States of America.

Kirshenbaum, S. 2006. Assessment and management of the Maine sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*). M.Sc. Thesis, University of Maine at Orono, Maine. United States of America.

Kirshenbaum, S., Feindel, S., and Chen, Y. 2006. A study of tagging methods for the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the waters off Maine. Fish. Bull. **104**: 299-302.

Klugh, A.B. 1923. The habits of Cucumaria frondosa. Can. Field Nat. 37: 76-77.

- Legault, C., and Himmelman, J.H. 1993. Relation between escape behaviour of benthic marine invertebrates and the risk of predation. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **170**: 55-74.
- Levitan, D.R. 1988. Density-dependant size regulation and negative growth in the sea urchin *Diadema antillarum* Philippi. Oecologia **76**: 627-629.
- Levitan, D.R., and Petersen, C. 1995. Sperm limitation in the sea. Trends Ecol. Evol. 10: 228-231.
- MacKenzie, C.L., and Pikanowski, R. 1999. A decline in starfish, *Asterias forbesi*, abundance and a concurrent increase in Northern Quahog, *Mercenaria*

*mercenari*a, abundance and landings in the Northeastern United States. Mar. Fish. Rev. **6**: 66-71.

- Mamelona, J., Pelletier, É, Girard-Lalancette, K., Legault, J., Karboune, S., and Kermasha, S. 2007. Quantification of phenolic contents and antioxidant capacity of Atlantic sea cucumber, *Cucumaria frondosa*. Food Chem. **104**: 1040-1047.
- Marshall, D.J., and Bolton, T.F. 2007. Effects of egg size on the development time of non-feeding larvae. Biol. Bull. **212**: 6-11.
- Mauzey, K.P., Birkeland, C., and Dayton, P.K. 1968. Feeding behavior of asteroids and escape responses of their prey in the Puget Sound region. Ecology **49**: 603-619.
- Mayo, P., and Mackie, A.M. 1976. Studies of avoidance reactions in several species of predatory British sea stars (Echinodermata: Asteroidea). Mar. Biol. **38**: 41-49.
- McClintock, J.B., and Lawrence, J.M. 1985. Characteristics of foraging in the soft-bottom benthic starfish *Luidia Clathrata* (Echinodermata: Asteroidea): Prey selectivity, switching behavior, functional responses and movement patterns. Oecologia 66: 291-298.
- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., and Miles E. 1997. Recruitment in the holothurian *Cucumaria frondosa* in the Gulf of Maine. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. **31**: 123-133.

- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., Olson, R.R., Conroy, J.A., and Kocher, T.D. 1995. Distribution of holothurian larvae determined with species-specific genetic probes. Limnol.
 Oceanogr. 40: 1225-1235.
- Mendes, F.M., Marenzi, A.W.C., and Domenico, M.D. 2006. Population patterns and seasonal observations on density and distribution of *Holothuria grisea*(Holothuroidea: Aspidochirotida) on the Santa Catarina Coast, Brazil. SPC Bechede-mer Inf. Bull. 23: 5-10.
- Menge, B.A. 1972. Foraging strategy of a starfish in relation to actual prey availability and environmental predictability. Ecol. Monogr. **42**: 25-50.
- Muscatine, L. 1961. Symbiosis in marine and fresh water coelenterates. In The biology of hydra and some other coelenterates. Edited by H. M. Lenhoff and W. F. Loomis. pp. 255-264. Coral Gables, Florida: University of Miami Press.
- Paine, R.T. 1976. Size-limited predation: An observational and experimental approach with *Mytlius-Pisaster* interaction. Ecology 57: 858-873.
- Palmer, A.R. 1983. Relative cost of producing skeletal organic matrix versus calcification: Evidence from marine gastropods. Mar. Biol. **75**: 287-292.
- Paltzat, D.L., Pearce, C.M., Barnes, P.A., and McKinley, R.S. 2008. Growth and production of California sea cucumbers (*Parastichopus californicus* Stimpson) cocultured with suspended pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas* Thunberg).
 Aquaculture 275: 124-137.

- Petrie, B., Akenhead, S., Lazier, J., and Loder, J. 1988. The cold intermediate layer on the Labrador and northeast Newfoundland shelves, 1978–86. NAFO Sci. Counc. Stud. 12: 57-69.
- Pitt, R. and Duy, N.D.Q. 2004. Length-weight relationship for the sandfish, *Holothuria scabra*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 19: 39-40.
- Pomeroy, L.R., Wiebe, W.J., Deibel, D., Thompson, R.J., Rowe, G.T. and Pakulski, J.D. 1991. Bacterial responses to temperature and substrate concentration during the Newfoundland spring bloom. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 75: 143-159.
- Robinson, S.M.C., Bernier, S., and MacIntyre, A. 2001. The impact of scallop drags on sea urchin populations and benthos in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. Hydrobiologia
 465: 103-114.
- Rochette, R., Hamel, J.-F., and Himmelman, J.H. 1994. Foraging strategy of the asteroid
 Leptasterias polaris: Role of prey odors, current and feeding status. Mar. Ecol.
 Prog. Ser. 106: 93-100.
- Rutherford, J.C. 1973. Reproduction, growth and mortality of the holothurian *Cucumaria pseudocurata*. Mar. Biol. **22**: 167-176.
- Sanford, E. 2002a. The feeding, growth, and energetics of two rocky intertidal predators (*Pisaster ochraceus* and *Nucella canaliculata*) under water temperatures simulating episodic upwelling. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **273**: 199-218.

- Sanford, E. 2002b. Water temperature, predation, and the neglected role of physiological effects in rocky intertidal communities. Soc. Integ. Comp. Biol. **42**: 881-891.
- Shiell, G.R. 2006. Effect of invasive tagging on the activity of *Holothuria whitmaei* [Echinodermata: Holothuroidea]: A suitable mark-recapture method for short-term field studies of echinoderm behaviour. Mar. Freshw. Behav. Phy. **39**: 153-162.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton, P. and Thomas, M.L.H. 1998. Feeding response of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) to changing food concentrations in the laboratory. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1842-1849.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Thomas, M.L.H. and Lawton, P. 1999. Patterns of seasonal and tidal feeding activity in the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 187: 133-145.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton P. and Thomas, M.L.H. 2001. The reproductive biology of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) using new quantitative methods. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. 40: 125-141.
- Spirlet, C., Grosjean, P., and Jangoux, M. 2000. Optimization of gonad growth by manipulation of temperature and photoperiod in cultivated sea urchins, *Paracentrotus lividus* (Lamarck) (Echinodermata). Aquaculture 185: 85-99.

SPSS Inc. 2007. SPSS For windows, Release 16.0.1. Chicago IL: SPSS Inc.

- Starr, M., Himmelman, J.H., and Therriault, J.C. 1990. Direct coupling of marine invertebrate spawning with phytoplankton blooms. Science 247: 1071-1074.
- Steneck, R.S. 1998. Human influences on coastal ecosystems: Does overfishing create trophic cascades? Trends Ecol. Evol. 13: 429-430.
- Stephens, P.S., and Sutherland, W.J. 1999. Consequences of the Allee effect for behaviour, ecology and conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 14: 401-405.
- Stokesbury, K.D.E. and Harris, B.P. 2006. Impact of limited short-term sea scallop fishery on epibenthic community of Georges Bank closed areas. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 307: 85-100.
- Templeman, W. 1982. Stomach contents of the thorny skate, *Raja radiata* from the Northwest Atlantic. J. Northw. Atl. Fish. Sci. **3**: 123-126.
- Therkildsen, N.O., and Petersen, C.W. 2006. A review of the emerging fishery for the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*: Biology, policy, and future prospects. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 22: 16-25.
- Thompson, R.J., Deibel, D., Redden, A.M. and McKenzie, C.H. 2008. Vertical flux and fate of particulate matter in a Newfoundland fjord at sub-zero water temperatures during spring. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **357**: 33-49.

- Toral-Granda, V., Lovatelli, A., and Vasconcellos, M. (eds.) 2008. Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 516. Rome, FAO.
- Turner, R.L., and Rutherford, J.C. 1976. Organic, inorganic, and caloric composition of eggs, pentaculae, and adults of the brooding sea cucumber *Cucumaria curata* Cowles (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 24: 49-60.
- Ursin, E. 1960. A quantitative investigation of the echinoderm fauna of the central North Sea. Medd. Danm. Fish-og. Havunders. 2: 1-204.
- Uthicke, S. 2004. Overfishing of holothurians: lessons from the Great Barrier Reef. In Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. Edited by V. Toral-Granda,
 A. Lovatelli and M. Vasconcellos. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical
 Paper. No. 516. Rome: FAO. pp. 163-172.
- Uthicke, S., and Conand, C. 2005. Local examples of beche-de-mer overfishing: An initial summary and request for information. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 21: 9-14.
- Uthicke, S., Welch, D., and Benzie, J.A.H. 2004. Slow growth and lack of recovery in overfished holothurians on the Great Barrier Reef: Evidence from DNA fingerprints and repeated large scale surveys. Conserv. Biol. 18: 1395-1404.

- Veale, L.O., Hill, A.S., Hawkins, S.J., and Brand, A.R. 2000a. Effects of long-term physical disturbance by commercial scallop fishing on subtidal epifaunal assemblages and habitats. Mar. Biol. 137: 325-337.
- Veale, L.O., Hill, A.S., and Brand, A.R. 2000b. An *in situ* study of predator aggregations on scallop (*Pecten Maximus* (L.)) dredge discards using a static time-lapse camera system. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 255: 111-129.
- Woodby, D., Smiley, S., and Larson, R. 2000. Depth and habitat distribution of *Parastichopus californicus* near Sitka, Alaska. Alsk. Fish. Res. Bull. 7: 22-32.
- Wu, Y., Platt, T., Tang, C.C.L., and Sathyendranath, S. 2008. Regional differences in the timing of the spring bloom in the Labrador Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 355: 9-20.
- Zhong, Y., Khan, M.A., and Shahidi, F. 2007. Compositional characteristics and antioxidant properties of fresh and processed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*). J. Agric. Food Chem. 55: 1188-1192.
- Zolotarev, P. 2002. Population density and size structure of sea stars on beds of Iceland scallop, *Chlamys Islandica*, in the Southeastern Barents Sea. Sarsia **87**: 91-96.

2.8 Tables

Table 2-1: Mean measurements of whole specimens of *Cucumaria frondosa* from various substrates on the St. Pierre Bank. The number of specimens in each set is indicated (n) and standard deviation is noted in brackets. See text for description of measures and substrate.

Substrate	Group	n	Length (cm)	Width (cm)	Wet weight (g)	Size index	Split weight (g)
Hard (rocky)	R1	17	14.3	8.4	370	12.1	241
			(2.7)	(1.3)	(138)	(3.9)	(50)
Hard mixed (rocky and gravelly)	G1	21	14.2	6.2	212	8.9	116
			(2.0)	(1.0)	(68)	(2.4)	(21)
	G2	15	14.9	6.7	242	10.1	119
			(1.3)	(0.8)	(48)	(1.7)	(23)
Soft (sandy)	S1	23	15.0	5.8	198	8.8	122
			(1.3)	(1.0)	(64)	(1.8)	(21)
	S2	28	11.9	5.3	142	6.4	99
			(1.6)	(0.9)	(48)	(1.6)	(25)
Substrate hardness	Substrate type	Bottom	Composition				
--------------------	----------------	--	--				
Hard	Rocky	ocky Irregular Bedrock bot outcrops and					
	Gravelly	Flat	Small rocks (2-5 cm in diameter), shells, and tests of other invertebrates				
Hard mixed	Mixed	Irregular	Combination of rocky and gravelly substrate				
Soft	Sandy	Flat	Sandy bottom with scattered rocks (10-15 cm in diameter)				

Table 2-2: Description of main substrate types on the St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland and Labrador.

Class	Replicates	n	IW (g)	WW (g)	CL (cm)	CW (cm)
1	1		-	-	0.075 ^a	-
2	2	10	0.017 (0.018)	0.4 (0.2)	1.0 (0.4)	0.6 (0.1)
3	2	39	0.226 (0.079)	10.8 (4.1)	3.3 (0.8)	2.4 (0.5)
4	4	43	0.390 (0.162)	26.0 (10.3)	4.8 (0.6)	3.1 (0.5)
F4	2	10	0.349 (0.165)	28 (12)	4.7 (0.7)	3.3 (0.6)
5	4	20	1.28 (0.35)	121 (26)	7.6 (0.7)	5.5 (0.5)
F5	2	10	1.09 (0.17)	92 (29)	7.2 (0.6)	4.7 (0.5)
6	4	20	2.43 (0.79)	152 (40)	10.3 (1.0)	5.4 (0.7)
F6	2	10	4.04 (0.83)	264 (146)	11.8 (9.2)	6.2 (0.9)
7	4	20	5.34 (1.12)	265 (41)	13.3 (0.7)	6.3 (0.5)
8	4	20	8.20 (1.39)	584 (124)	16.8 (1.5)	8.5 (1.0)

Table 2-3: Initial size classes used for the growth study of *Cucumaria frondosa* in the laboratory. Food supplemented classes are noted with an "F". IW represents immersed weight; WW represents wet weight; CL represents contracted length and CW represents contracted width.

^a Size Class 1 was obtained from spontaneous spawning in the laboratory; initial size therefore corresponds to the mean size of fertilized oocytes.

Stage	Size (mm)	Time
Just spawned oocyte	0.7 ± 0.1	0
Fertilized oocyte (elevated fertilization membrane)	0.73 ± 0.16 (excluding space between egg and membrane)	6 ± 2 min
2-cell	0.8 ± 0.1	$5.1\pm0.9\ h$
4-cell	0.8 ± 0.1	$7.3 \pm 1.1 \text{ h}$
Morula	0.8 ± 0.1	22 ± 2 h
Blastula (fully formed)	0.9 ± 0.1	41 ± 4.2 h
Early gastrula	0.8 ± 0.1	65 ± 6 h
Elongated gastrula	1.5 ± 0.2	4 ± 1 d
Vitellaria	1.5 ± 0.3	7 ± 1 d
Early pentactula (5 tentacles)	1.2 ± 0.2	10 ± 2 d
Late pentactula (5 tentacles and 2 podia)	1.3 ± 0.2	15 ± 1.5 d
Settlement (negatively buoyant, no more cilia)	1.3 ± 0.2	ca. 4.9 weeks

Table 2-4: Development of *Cucumaria frondosa* in the laboratory. A new stage was established when ca. 50 % of embryos reached it. Larvae were reared under ambient photoperiod and temperature (-1 to 0 $^{\circ}$ C).

Class	Source of variation	DF	SS	MS	F	Р
3	Between groups	1	0.026	0.026	18.42	0.002
	Residual	10	0.014	0.001		
	Total	11	0.040			
4	Between groups	3	0.034	0.011	2.38	0.085
	Residual	36	0.17	0.0048		
	Total	39	0.21			
5	Between groups	3	0.20	0.067	1.69	0.208
	Residual	16	0.63	0.039		
	Total	19	0.83			
6	Between groups	2	0.081	0.041	0.45	0.647
	Residual	11	0.99	0.090		
	Total	13	1.07			
7	Between groups	3	2.55	0.85	0.68	0.580
	Residual	14	17.53	1.25		
	Total	17	20.08			
8	Between groups	3	1.33	0.44	0.65	0.597
	Residual	14	9.53	0.68		
	Total	17	10.86			

Table 2-5: One way ANOVA of immersed weight between replicatesof *Cucumaria frondosa* in size Classes 4-8. See Table 2-2 for sizeclass details.

2.9 Figures



Figure 2-1: Sample sites for determining substrate related condition in *Cucumaria frondosa* on the St. Pierre Bank. Samples were collected from rocky (R1), gravelly (G1 and G2) and sandy (S1 and S2) substrates. See text for descriptions of substrates.



Figure 2-2: Frequency of substrate type relative to the presence or absence of *Cucumaria frondosa* and *Solaster endeca*. Miscellaneous substrate is comprised of a mixture of other substrates including rock, gravel, sand and shell.



Figure 2-3: Densities of *Cucumaria frondosa* in areas where the predator *Solaster endeca* is present or absent on the St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland and Labrador (Canada) determined by survey trawls in 2007 and densities of *S. endeca* in the presence of *C. frondosa*. There was insufficient data to determine densities of *S. endeca* in areas devoid of *C. frondosa*. Error bars indicate standard deviation and number of tows is indicated above the bars.



Figure 2-4: Average population size structure of *Solaster endeca* from the Barents Sea (1997-1999; 68°36'N, 40°00'E; data from Zolotarev 2002) and from the St. Pierre Bank (2006-2007; 45°46'N, 56°05'W; data from present study).



Figure 2-5: Average measurements of *Cucumaria frondosa* from rock (R1), mixed gravel and rock (G1 and G2) and sand (S1 and S2) substrate from the St. Pierre Bank. Error bars indicate standard deviation. Means with the same letter within the same graph are not significantly different (Bonferroni, α =0.05). See text for substrate descriptions and Figure 2-1 for location.



Figure 2-6: Principal stages of development in *Cucumaria frondosa* in the laboratory. A) Fertilized oocyte showing elevated fertilization envelope. B) 4-cell stage, C) 32-cell stage, D) blastula, E) young gastrula, F) vitellaria showing podial pit, G) early pentactula showing five tentacles, H) late pentactula showing a pair of ambulacral podia. E: elevated fertilization envelope; B: blastopore; P: podial pit; T: tentacles; AP: ambulacral podia. Scale bars represent 0.5 mm.



Figure 2-7: Development of juveniles of *Cucumaria frondosa*. A) two month old juvenile with first pair of podia, B) three month old juvenile showing ossicles and two pairs of podia, C) four month old juvenile showing stomach, anus and aquapharyngeal bulbs, three pairs of podia and the tentacles becoming ramified, D) six month old juvenile with four pairs of podia, E) 12 month old juvenile with five pairs of podia, F) 19 month old juvenile with five pairs of podia, H) 25 month old juvenile with ten pairs of podia. T: tentacles; AP: ambulacral podia; O: ossicles. Scale bar represents 1 mm.



Figure 2-8: Monthly average length of size Class 1 juveniles of *Cucumaria frondosa* obtained from spontaneous spawning and reared in the laboratory from May 2006 to May 2008. Error bars indicate standard deviation.



Figure 2-9: Morphometric measurements of *Cucumaria frondosa*. Relationship between dry weight and A) immersed weight, B) wet weight, C) contracted length, D) contracted width and E) size index. Fitted regression lines (p<0.0001) and coefficients of determination (r^2) are shown.



Figure 2-10: Growth cycle from December 2006 to May 2008 using immersed weight of size Classes 2 to 8 of *Cucumaria frondosa* measured under natural environmental conditions including photoperiod (dotted line), temperature (solid line) and chlorophyll a fluorescence (dashed line). Closed circles represent replicate 1 and open circles represent replicate 2, where available. Error bars indicate standard error. See Table 2-2 for size class and replicate descriptions.



Figure 2-11: Prey-predator interaction between juveniles of *Cucumaria frondosa* and juveniles of *Solaster endeca*. Juvenile sea stars A) moving towards sea cucumbers, B-C) attacking sea cucumbers, D) ready to eat sea cucumbers. Elapsed time is ca. 9 minutes. Scale bar represents 1 mm and applies to all images.



Figure 2-12: Prey-predator interaction between adults of *Cucumaria frondosa* and *Solaster endeca*. The first four images illustrate successful predation by *S. endeca*: A) stationary sea star before introduction of sea cucumber in the tank, B) sea star moving toward sea cucumber and trying to capture it, C) sea star successfully capturing sea cucumber and D) typical position of feeding *S. endeca*. The next four images illustrate successful escape by *C. frondosa*: E) when both species meet, onset of sea cucumber escape response (body bloating), F) sea cucumber enlarging posterior end, pushing away arms of sea star, G) sea cucumber moving away by elongating anterior end to get out of reach. Elapsed time is ca. 40 minutes (A-D) and ca. 2 minutes (E-H).Scale bars represent 10 cm.



Figure 2-13: Feeding cycle of medium (R: 11.5 ± 0.1 cm; WW: 382.9 ± 40.7 g) and large $(14.5 \pm 0.5$ cm; 621.5 ± 26.0 g) *Solaster endeca*. Sea star feeding on small (CL: 6.4 ± 1.8 cm; IW: 0.6 ± 0.3 g) or large (CL: 14.2 ± 1.8 cm; IW: 5.8 ± 1.1 g) sea cucumbers are indicated by a black line and periods of non-feeding are indicated by gaps. Light grey area shows when large sea stars ceased feeding and dark grey area shows when medium sea stars also ceased feeding.



Figure 2-14: Frequency of attacks of A) medium (R: 10.5 ± 1.5 cm), and B) large (14.6 ± 1.5 cm) Solaster endeca on Cucumaria frondosa at low (6.2 ± 0.3 °C) and high (14.7 ± 0.4 °C) temperatures. Total number of sea stars exhibiting behaviours is noted above each bar.





CHAPTER 3: TRANS-ATLANTIC GLACIAL PERSISTENCE: RECONCILING GENETIC PATTERNS WITH LIFE HISTORY TRAITS IN *CUCUMARIA FRONDOSA* (ECHINODERMATA: HOLOTHUROIDEA)



Spawning of a sea cucumber Cucumaria frondosa (albino specimen)

3.1 Abstract

Western North Atlantic marine invertebrate populations were vastly impacted by glaciations during the Last Glacial Maximum (LGM) in the Late Pleistocene. Their patterns of genetic diversity and structure generally indicate extirpation of populations after the LGM and high gene flow across the North Atlantic. *Cucumaria frondosa*, the most abundant and widely distributed sea cucumber in the North Atlantic, was used as a model to test whether its population genetic structure reflects a history of persistence or extirpation and recolonization with respect to glaciations. Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) sequences were obtained and analyzed for *C. frondosa* from 20 locations (separated from each other by 7-5900 km) covering most of its distribution range in the North Atlantic. Bayesian skyline plots showed no reduction in effective population size across the North Atlantic during the LGM indicating minimal to no effects by the most recent glacial maximum on populations. Long larval times (ca. 4-7 weeks) and the ability to colonize deep areas to 1300 m may have allowed survival of glaciated areas supporting high haplotype diversity and long population history in the North Atlantic.

3.2 Introduction

Historical environmental conditions that influence phylogeographic patterns of taxa result in different levels of genetic diversity. Such genetic "signatures" in combination with the species biology can be used to determine how populations responded to historical events.

There has been an increasing use of molecular data to infer current and historical phylogeographic patterns of marine invertebrates (e.g. Williams and Benzie 1998; Brown et al. 2001; Duran et al. 2004; Addison and Hart 2004). Genetic drift and mutation occur in populations and create increased population differentiation. This can be counteracted by larval dispersal and other types of gene flow that reduce genetic variation between populations (Slatkin 1987). Due to the contiguous nature of the marine environment, marine invertebrates with the capacity for long distance larval dispersal are generally expected to have little population structure compared to species with non-pelagic larvae (Hellberg 1996; Arndt and Smith 1998; Bohonak 1999). Although many species fit this trend, studies of population structure in the marine environment have shown a surprising amount of genetic differentiation (Benzie 1999; Kyle and Boulding 2000). Genetic breaks have been found in populations in physically contiguous areas but divided by environmental barriers (Reeb and Avise 1990; Williams and Benzie 1998; Sköld et al. 2003). Differences in patterns of population structure have also been observed between species with similar larval dispersal and life history characteristics (Marko 2004). Such discrepencies may occur because recruitment history, natural selection and population turnover can also influence genetic structure (Watts et al. 1990). Differences between

allopatric populations can also arise when they are impacted by environmental and biological pressures to varying degrees.

The Last Glacial Maximum (LGM) of the Late Pleistocene (ca. 18,000 years ago) had major effects on terrestrial and coastal marine habitats in the North Atlantic, displacing and extirpating species through changing environmental conditions and ice scour (Ingolfsson 1992; Maggs et al. 2008). Glacial sheets reaching depths of 400 m spread as far south as New England in the western North Atlantic, but had less severe impacts in the eastern North Atlantic, only reaching as far south as the British Isles (Ingolfsson 1992; Clark and Mix 2002; Dyke et al. 2002). Invertebrates that lived in shallow rocky habitats were particularly impacted as there were few areas of hard substrate beyond the southern glacial limit in the western Atlantic to which they could retreat (Knott and Hoskins 1968). Previous studies have shown that many invertebrates were likely extirpated from the western Atlantic by glaciation and that the area was subsequently recolonized from populations of the eastern Atlantic persisting in glacial refugia south of the glacial limit (Ingolfsson 1992; Wares 2001; Wares and Cunningham 2001; Vermeij 2005). Distribution of species indicates that the majority of marine species from the North American coast are a subset of species from Iceland, which are a subset of species from Europe, suggesting an east to west colonization pattern (Ingolfsson 1992).

The response of marine populations to glacial climate is dependent on their ecology and life history strategy (Hickerson and Cunningham 2005, Wilson 2006; Maggs et al. 2008). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) evidence suggests that some invertebrates species with highly dispersive larval stages were able to survive in glacial refugia in the western Atlantic by colonizing new areas as they became available (Brown et al. 2001;

Wares and Cunningham 2001; Riginos and Henzler 2008). In addition to high dispersal, Hickerson and Cunningham (2006) suggested that ecological plasticity would be essential for survival in glacial refugia as these environments are constantly changing in relation to advancing and receding glaciers.

The sea cucumber Cucumaria frondosa (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) is an ideal model to test the hypothesis that certain species survived the LGM. This species mainly inhabits rocky habitats from the lower intertidal zone to depths of ca. 300 m (Klugh 1923; Coady 1973; Gosner 1978; Hamel and Mercier, 1996a). It is the most common sea cucumber in the North Atlantic and one of the most abundant worldwide, reaching densities of 5-50 individuals m⁻² over vast portions of the sea floor (Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Singh et al. 2001) though its distribution can be patchy in some areas (Therkildsen and Petersen 2006). The lifespan of C. frondosa is unknown, but growth to full size (ca. 30 cm) has been estimated to take at least 10 years (Hamel and Mercier 1996a), and possibly as much as 25 years (Chapter 2). As suspension feeders (Singh et al. 1998; Hamel and Mercier 1998) and prey to several other species (Legault and Himmelman 1993; Francour 1997), adults of C. frondosa form a key component of many cold-temperate ecosystems. They undergo sexual reproduction annually through broadcast spawning in spring following the phytoplankton bloom and rapid increase in seawater temperature (Hamel and Mercier 1995, 1996b). The buoyant embryos develop into lecithotrophic (non-feeding) larvae that can spend ca. 6 weeks in the water column, regardless of food levels, prior to settlement (Hamel and Mercier 1996a). Most data gathered to date suggest that larval connectivity declines from species with planktotrophic larvae to those with lecithotrophic larvae and is smallest in brooders (Bohonak 1999;

Foggo et al. 2007). The long pelagic lecithotrophic phase in *C. frondosa* suggests potential for dispersal in ranges similar to or higher than most planktotrophs.

Population structure in echinoderms has been studied with respect to contemporary and historical gene flow, mode of larval dispersal, and speciation. Lessios et al. (2001) examined the population structure of sea urchins, *Diadema* spp., in relation to environmental barriers in the southern hemisphere and similar population studies were conducted on the sea star, Acanthaster planci, in the South Pacific (Nishida and Lucas 1988; Benzie 1999). In the same area, several population genetic studies were conducted on sea cucumbers in relation to geographic barriers and reproductive modes (Uthicke et al. 1998, 1999; Uthicke and Benzie 2001, 2003). Investigations of gene flow in the genus Cucumaria are limited to comparisons between C. miniata and C. pseudocurata which have lecithotrophic pelagic and brooded larval stages respectively (Arndt and Smith 1998). Mitochondrial DNA indicated that C. pseudocurata populations were highly structured, whereas C. minata, with larval stages lasting less than two weeks showed no population differentiation on the entire west coast of Canada (Arndt and Smith 1998). Previous molecular studies of C. frondosa have been restricted to using mtDNA to identify larvae and assess larval dispersal (Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995).

To determine the effects of historical glaciations and historical gene flow on populations of *C. frondosa* in the North Atlantic, we sampled individuals through most of the distribution range and analyzed their mtDNA cytochrome c oxidase subunit I gene. We interpreted the genetic results in combination with life history characteristics of *C. frondosa* to test the hypothesis that populations were minimally affected in the LGM due to their dispersive larval stages and ecological plasticity.

3-6

3.3 Materials and Methods

DNA extraction

A total of 334 sea cucumbers (25-850 g whole animal wet weight) were collected from 20 sample sites between August 2006 and March 2008 by fishermen, researchers and divers (Figure 3-1). Samples were sent to the Ocean Sciences Centre either live, frozen or dissected with tissues preserved in ethanol (EtOH). Mitochondrial DNA was extracted from 5 g of gonad tissue using the Chelex protocol outlined by Medeiros-Bergen et al. (1995). Extracted DNA samples were stored at 4 °C.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification and sequencing

Extracted mtDNA was amplified and sequenced using a modified protocol outlined by Uthicke and Benzie (2003). A section of the mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase I (COI) gene (674 nucleotides) corresponding to positions 6001-6674 (from 5'-3') of the mitochondrial genome of the sea urchin Strongylocentrotus purpuratus was amplified using the general echinoderm primers COle-F 5'-ATAATGATAGGAGGRTTTGG-3', COle-R 5'and GCTCGTGTRTCTACRTCCAT-3' (Jacobs et al. 1988; Arndt et al. 1996). The DNA was amplified in 50 µl reactions with the following reagent mix: 2.5 units of Hotstar Taq polymerase, 18.5 μ l of H₂O, MgCl₂ (2.5 μ M), PCR Buffer (10x), dNTP mixture (2.0 μ M), forward and reverse primers $(1 \mu M)$ and $5 \mu l$ of DNA. PCRs were conducted on thermocyclers (Eppendorf - Mastercycler), with samples loaded at 95 °C and held for 15 min to initialize the Hotstart Taq polymerase. This was followed by 35 cycles of 60 s

denaturation at 95 °C, 60 s annealing at 50 °C, 60 s extension at 72 °C. The 35 cycles were followed by a final 10 min extension at 72 °C.

Expected PCR product sizes were verified by electrophoresis on 1 % agarose gels (1xTAE). Montage PCR96 cleanup kit (Millipore) was used to purify products and 20-50 ng ul⁻¹ of each purified product was used in subsequent forward and reverse sequencing reactions. For sequencing reactions, Big Dye TM Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kits and AmpliTaq (Applied Biosystems Inc.) were used, following supplier instructions. Sequencing reaction products were purified from unincorporated terminators with ethanol precipitation and electrophoresed on an AbI Prism 3730x1 Analyzer. PCR and sequencing reactions were conducted on Peltier Themal Cyclers (PTC-100 and PTC-225 MJ Research). Forward and reverse sequences were aligned and then edited with Sequencher 4.7 (Gene Codes Corporation) creating consensus sequences for each individual. The mtDNA sequences were submitted to GenBank with the following accession numbers: EU811768-EU811824, FJ234231-FJ234400, FJ603323-FJ603432.

Genetic diversity and phylogenetic analysis

Initial Bayesian phylogeneitc analysis conducted in MrBayes (10,000 generations; Ronquist and Huelsenbeck 2003) resulted in average posteriors of 7.56 for the Ti/Tv ratio and of 0.128 for the gamma shape parameter and these estimates were used in subsequent population genetic analysis in Arlequin. Genetic diversity measures and population parameters were estimated with Arlequin version 3.11 (Excoffier et al. 2005). Individual populations were assessed for haplotype and nucleotide diversity (Nei 1987). A haplotype network was constructed using statistical parsimony (Templeton et al. 1992) through the program TCS 1.21 (Clement et al. 2000) to determine the relationships between haplotypes.

Population expansion and migration rates

Historical population dynamics were further estimated through Bayesian skyline plots approach established by Drummond et al. (2005) implemented by the program BEAST 1.4.8 and visualized in Tracer 1.4.1. Using a set of genetic sequences, BEAST uses Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) sampling procedures to estimate effective population sizes over time. Mutation rates were used to convert time (sub/site/myr) to years. In the absence of specific mutation rates calculated for sea cucumbers, previously calculated sea urchin COI rates of 1.6-3.5 % Myr⁻¹ were used (Lessios et al. 1999, 2001; McCartney et al. 2000).

The program MIGRATE 3.0 (Beerli and Felsenstein 2001; Beerli 2008), which uses MCMC maximum likelihood approach to estimate past migration rates between populations was used to estimate rates between the following pooled regions: western, middle and eastern Atlantic. Use of pooled regions avoids the large computational times required to determine rates between individual sample sites. Default settings were used with a Ti/Tv ratio of 7.56.

Population structure

Pairwise F_{ST} genetic distances were calculated between populations and their significance was determined through performing 16,000 permutations in Arlequin, which ensures an exact probability of 99 % (Guo and Thomson 1992). Genetic structure was further analyzed to determine if patterns were reflective of isolation by distance (Nei

1987) by plotting Slatkin's (1993) linearized genetic distance against geographical separation. Correlation and significance were calculated between the two matrices using the Mantel permutation procedure. Hierarchical analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA; Excoffier et al. 1992) was conducted to assess genetic structure in the North Atlantic. Analysis of molecular variance partitions total variance of Kimura (1980) twoparameter genetic distances into covariance components with respect to groupings; among populations, among defined regions and within populations. Covariance components were used to calculate Φ -statistics (Excoffier et al. 1992) analogues of Wright's (1951) F-statistics. Calculated Φ -statistics correspond to the correlation between the variance of defined groups compared to all sampled populations (Φ_{CT}), populations within groups compared to the variance of defined groups (Φ_{SC}) and all populations compared to the total variance of all sampled populations (Φ_{ST}). Populations were grouped into western, mid- and eastern Atlantic regions (Table 3-1) for analysis where phylogeographic subdivision has been previously detected in other marine invertebrates (Wares and Cunningham 2001; Addison and Hart 2005). Both pairwise FST and AMOVA were conducted using Kimura (1980) two-parameter molecular distance of haplotypes into consideration. Population structure was further analyzed with a spatial analysis of shared haplotypes (SAShA); a novel technique to determine if observed distributions of shared haplotypes deviated from expected distribution under panmixa (Kelly et al. in press). This statistical analysis assumes that haplotypes co-occurring in separate locations are identical by descent and are evidence of gene flow. Comparing a random distribution of shared haplotypes to the actual distribution, determines if these are randomly distributed. This statistic is unimformative where sequences have a patchy distribution,

therefore a cumulative distribution function(D_{cdf}) is calculated which accounts for this. This statistic compares the cumulative expected and observed differences across all geographic distances. Unlike F_{ST} and AMOVA, SAShA is able to determine subtle levels of population structure despite gene flow or within population variance (Kelly et al. in press).

Populations sampled within NAFO area 3K (3KC) and in Bergen, Norway (BEN) were removed from all demographic statistical analyses with the exception of diversity statistics and the haplotype network due to small sample size (n=4, Table 3-1). Omission of small sample populations from the analyses did not distinctly alter the outcome of the AMOVA or expansion model.

Laboratory studies

To assess the larval dispersal capabilities of *C. frondosa* adults and juveniles were collected from various areas around Newfoundland and maintained in tanks for over two years. They were kept under natural photoperiod within a flow-through seawater system maintained at ambient temperatures (-1-15 °C) that provided natural phytoplankton levels. In 2006 and 2007, the sea cucumbers spawned in several of the tanks. The floating eggs were collected, checked for an elevated fertilization coat and transferred into culture vessels provided with running seawater and rock substrate. The developing larvae were observed regularly to determine time to settlement and monitor subsequent growth. Other biological and behavioral observations were made throughout this study (see Chapter 2 for details).

3.4 Results

Sequences of 618 bp length were obtained from 334 specimens of *C. frondosa* yielding 143 separate haplotypes (Table 3-1).

Genetic diversity and phylogenetic analysis

All sample sites showed high genetic variability with haplotype diversity ranging from 0.849 to 1.000 (Table 3-1). Haplotype diversity for pooled populations in the western and eastern Atlantic was 0.955 and 0.950 respectively. Nucleotide diversity ranged from 0.0045 to 0.0085 across the North Atlantic. The number of haplotypes per site ranged from 4 to 24 with no obvious patterns of distribution in relation to geographical location. The most common haplotype (seq J) was found in 17 of 18 major sample sites. Private haplotypes comprised 33 % (n=109) of all haplotypes and ranged from 0-14 haplotypes per sample site. Site-specific haplotypes occurred at low frequencies but comprised 86 % of all haplotypes found.

Maximum parsimony resulted in a single haplotype network (Figure 3-2) that did not reveal any partitioning across the North Atlantic with most internal haplotypes being shared across all regions or between the western Atlantic and eastern or mid-Atlantic regions. However, the haplotype, located centrally within the network (N; 10 individuals) with the most connections, was found in the western and mid-Atlantic. In contrast, all haplotypes unique to the eastern Atlantic are tip haplotypes.

Population expansion and migration rates

 F_S values were significantly negative (p<0.050; 1000 random samples) for individual populations and across regions (Table 3-1). Bayesian skyline plot (Figure 3-3) showed increasing effective population size for the entire North Atlantic over the past 71 000-156 000 years. A large increase in effective population size occurred 14 300-31 300 years before present (ybp). In the Western Atlantic, two major effective population increases occurred 20 000-44 000 and 51 000-113 000 ybp. The mid and Eastern Atlantic populations have been continually increasing in size with no large increases. Time to most recent common ancestor occurred 127 000-277 000 ybp in the Western Atlantic, 126 000-275 000 ybp in the mid-Atlantic and 119 000-260 000 ybp in the Eastern Atlantic.

Effective migration rates were high across North Atlantic regions, with asymmetric gene flow between the mid- and western Atlantic and comparable exchange between western and eastern Atlantic (Table 3-2). Asymmetric rates were also detected between mid- and eastern Atlantic with gene flow oriented in a west to east direction.

Population structure

Pairwise corrected Kimura two-parameter F_{ST} values were generally low with few significant values (Table 3-3). Cook's Harbour, Canada (CHC) and Møerkvedbukta, Norway (MON) were significantly (p<0.05) differentiated from several sites. Linearized genetic distance plotted against geographic distance showed weak increasing population structure with increasing distance (Mantel's test r=0.32, p=0.028; Figure 3-4).

Analysis of molecular variance indicated that 98 % of the variation detected was within populations (Φ_{ST} =0.018; p=0.031; Table 3-4). Significant variation was detected with AMOVA between the eastern and western regions of the North Atlantic (Φ_{CT} =0.016; p=0.047), but not between any other regions. Small but significant variation was also detected among populations within the Eastern and Western Atlantic ((Φ_{ST} =0.024; p=0.041) A total of 13 haplotypes were shared between the eastern and western Atlantic.

Examination of spatial analysis of shared haplotypes (SAShA) indicated that the mean distribution of shared haplotypes was not significantly different from distribution expected under panmixia (p=0.534; Figure 3-5A). The cumulative frequency distribution statistic showed similar results indicating non-significant deviations from expected panmictic distribution (D_{cdf} =0.047; p=0.621; Figure 3-5B).

Laboratory studies

Sea cucumber larvae settled after reaching the pentactula stage indicated by the development of five oral tentacles and two ambulacral podia as well as the concomitant loss of buoyancy (Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Chapter 2). Settlement under laboratory conditions started ca. 42 days after spawning. Table 3-5 summarizes biological data compiled in this and previously published studies that are relevant to glacial persistence.

3.5 Discussion

The analysis of mtDNA of *C. frondosa* populations reveals persistence through glaciations of the Late Pleistocene across the North Atlantic and high historical gene flow

consistent with the biology of the species. The results of this study are different from the phylogeography determined in many previously studied marine invertebrates and may provide insight into ecological characteristics needed to survive glacial conditions.

Glacial persistence in the North Atlantic

Populations of species that have survived glacial periods are expected to have a high haplotype diversity because under a neutral model diversity is expected to be higher in populations with longer histories than in recently founded populations (Wares and Cunningham 2001; Maggs et al. 2008). Wares and Cunningham (2001) found that several obligate rocky intertidal invertebrates supported Ingolfsson's (1992) view of extirpation in the western North Atlantic followed by an east to west recolonization, based on lower haplotype diversities in the western than the eastern regions. Our results indicate a high diversity in most areas sampled with no significant differences between the eastern and western Atlantic. However differences may be masked by uneven sampling and high within population variation. Sampled areas for the eastern Atlantic were only available from western Norway which was ice covered during the LGM (Clark and Mix 2002) indicating that this area was likely recolonized by populations in southern refugial areas (Maggs et al. 2008). In the case of an east to west recolonization, Norway would likely still have been recolonized at a faster rate than the western Atlantic and higher genetic diversity would be expected. We agree that an east to west recolonization is plausible for many obligate rocky shallow-water invertebrates (Wares and Cunningham 2001); however the high haplotype diversity observed in C. frondosa supports the hypothesis of persistence through the LGM. Maggs et al. (2008) suggested that high haplotype diversity

may be an indicator of areas of secondary contact between separated refugial populations, however diversity was consistently high across the North Atlantic. In addition the range of *C. frondosa* has shifted since the LGM and no longer extends to supposed refugial areas in the eastern Atlantic

Survival of *C. frondosa* populations through the most recent glaciations is further evidenced by estimated demographic history which shows no reduction in effective population size. In the western Atlantic, large population increases are observed soon after the LGM (ca. 18 000 years ago). Although glaciations may not have had any negative effects on populations, it may have reduced areas to which *C. frondosa* populations could have expanded. Thus, recession of glaciers, may have allowed spatial and demographic expansion of populations. In the eastern and mid-Atlantic regions, population increases were minimal indicating low demographic expansion in those areas. Glaciations were not as severe in the mid to eastern Atlantic (Clark and Mix 2002) suggesting that populations may have already colonized suitable areas and were not vastly affected by the LGM. Subsequent expansion after the LGM is also supported by negative neutrality values (Tajima 1989; Fu 1997). Selective pressures would also create this pattern but would also reduce haplotype diversity which is not observed in our results.

Time to most recent common ancestor was estimated to occur between 119 000 and 277 000 years ago across the North Atlantic coinciding with glacial maxima followed by interglacial periods indicating demographic expansion. Glacial conditions were more severe and ice sheets were thicker during previous glacial periods than during the LGM (Clark et al. 1999) and a similar timeline of extinction and bottlenecks has been observed in bivalve populations (Stanley 1986).

3-16

Persistence through the Pleistocene glaciations in separate refugia is often reflected by reciprocal monophyly (Cunningham and Collins 1998; Hickerson and Cunningham 2006) but this was not evident for *C. frondosa* which may be the result of ongoing gene flow. Although small amounts of differentiation were detected between the eastern and western Atlantic, there is no indication that there was limited connectivity between the two regions. Populations of *C. frondosa* living on the eastern Grand Banks would have been open to larval exchange with populations in the eastern Atlantic, specifically Iceland and southern Norway. Furthermore, lower sea level during the LGM would have created habitable areas that are currently unavailable. The high number of shared haplotypes between eastern and western North Atlantic is further evidence for uninterrupted connectivity irrespective of mid-Atlantic populations. A large founding population could also explain this trend, supported by historical currents (Vermeij 1991), however, evidence of long population histories and a large number of descendent haplotypes allow us to reject this scenario.

To date, trends of persistence through glacial conditions in eastern Canada supported by molecular and paleontological data have been detected in two fish, the rock gunnel, *Pholis gunnellus* (Hickerson and Cunningham 2006) and Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* (Bigg et al. 2008) and several planktotrophic marine invertebrates, including the sea star, *Asterias forbesi* (Wares 2001), the green sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis* (Addison and Hart 2005), the rock barnacle *Semibalanus balanoides* (Brown et al. 2001), clams in the *Macoma bathica* complex (Nikula et al. 2007) and the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis* (Riginos and Henzler 2008). This is the first time that glacial persistence is evidenced in a member of the class Holothuroidea and in a lecithotrophic
marine invertebrate in the North Atlantic. The high contemporary biomasses of *C. frondosa* measured in certain areas of the western North Atlantic (up to ca. 300,000 tonnes; Hamel and Mercier 2008) are consistent with long-established populations.

Constant expansion of effective population size is consistent with the haplotype network, which shows each of the major and minor haplotypes surrounded by descended rare alleles, creating a star shaped pattern reflective of demographic expansions (Slatkin and Hudson 1991). This pattern, which has been observed in other echinoderms (Uthicke and Benzie 2003; Duran et al. 2004), and some crustaceans (Stamatis et al. 2004), is indicative of an enormous population size which is able to retain new mutations during rapid population growth or expansion (Avise et al. 1984; Watterson 1984). This trend has been associated with seawater level changes, which increase and decrease available habitat (Fauvelot et al. 2003). In the North Atlantic, the combination of dynamic changes in glacial cover and sea-level are likely the cause of this pattern in *C. frondosa* (Clark et al. 1999; Maggs et al. 2008).

Following coalescent theory (Crandall and Templeton 1993) more frequent haplotypes with many connections are phylogenetically older than low frequency tip haplotypes. Therefore, the fact that central haplotypes are shared across regions of the North Atlantic regardless of sampling effort provides some evidence for high gene flow from the eastern Atlantic.

Population structure

The population structure of *C. frondosa* suggests that there has been high gene flow across the North Atlantic with tendencies towards panmixis, and some local

3-18

heterogeneity. Nonetheless, AMOVA suggested some restrictions in gene flow between major regions. Corrected pairwise genetic distances were largely non-significant suggesting little population differentiation. Some genetic patchiness was observed however as several pairwise differences between populations were statistically significant, although not highly so. Similar patterns of low structure have been attributed to high gene flow and were observed in other holothuroids with shorter planktonic larval times (Uthicke and Benzie 2003; Arndt and Smith 1998). These results were consistent with the distribution of shared haplotypes that was similar to a distribution under panmixia. The patchy distribution found in populations of C. frondosa can mask differences between simulated and observed haplotype distribution, however the cumulative differences were also not significantly different from expected panmictic results (Kelly et al. in press). This novel analysis is ideal for species such as C. frondosa with high migration rates which tend to reduce the effectiveness of Φ_{ST} to detect population structure. Unlike AMOVA, SAShA provides a more robust analysis that is able to determine subtle levels of genetic structure without biases from *a priori* grouping. Panmictic patterns of population structure also support high historical gene flow due to expansion from refugium.

Patterns of local heterogeneity with global tendency towards panmixis have been observed in the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* in the North East Atlantic (Duran et al. 2004), the limpet *Siphonaria* sp. in the South Pacific (Johnson and Black 1982) and the gastropod *Colleisella subrugosa* in the South East Atlantic (José and Solferini 2007). Variations in history of recruitment, genetic composition of recruits, population turnover and post-settlement selection are all factors that could cause genetic patchiness (Watts et al. 1990).

Mid-Atlantic region

In the present study Icelandic samples from the mid-Atlantic were considered separate from western and eastern Atlantic samples. Previous studies have grouped Icelandic populations with the eastern Atlantic as it may have provided a stepping stone for recolonization of the North American coast (Ingolfsson 1992; Wares and Cunningham 2001). Grouping of mid-Atlantic samples with eastern and western populations can be difficult as various species within the same area show differences in affinity for either region (Rignos and Henzler 2008 and references therin). Molecular studies by Reeb and Avise (1990) and Riginos and Henzler (2008) found more similarity in bivalve populations between North America and Iceland than between Europe and Iceland. The opposite trend has been observed in fish (Hickerson and Cunningham 2006; Bigg et al. 2008) and sea urchins (Addison and Hart 2005). Populations of C. frondosa from western Iceland show higher affinity for North America (western) than Norway (castern) populations as they share a root haplotype in the middle of the haplotype network. Western Atlantic populations of C. frondosa share the same number of haplotypes with Iceland and with Norway; however no shared haplotypes were found only between Iceland and Norway. This pattern may be explained by effective migration rates between the three regions and is likely due to particularities of North Atlantic currents that link these areas together (Figure 3-1; Fratantoni 2001). Analysis of gene flow rates shows higher exchange of effective migrants between North America and Iceland than between

3-20

North America and Norway (Table 3-2). North Atlantic circulation moves in a counter clockwise direction with current velocities highest in the western Atlantic and slowest in the eastern Atlantic (Fratantoni 2001; Flatau et al. 2003). The North Atlantic Current splits into two main branches; the first heading north east towards Norway and the other moving westerly towards Iceland. In the opposite direction, the Icelandic and Western Greenland Currents likely carry migrants towards North America. The direction of the Norwegian Current supports restricted larval exchange between Norway and Iceland. A surprisingly high gene flow was observed between Norway and North America which accounts for the high number of shared haplotypes between the regions. Although the North Atlantic Current would account for migrants from North America, the reasons for gene flow in reversed direction is unclear. Further exploration of trans-arctic gene flow is needed to determine if it is a possible pathway of exchange to *C. frondosa*. The disparate patterns in gene flow also highlight the sporadic nature of larval dispersal between regions.

Ecology and larval dispersal

If *C. frondosa* persisted in the western North Atlantic through the last glacial maximum where many other marine taxa have not (Wares and Cunningham 2001), what factors enabled it to survive changing glacial conditions? Although dispersal ability has been noted as a main determinant (Wares and Cunningham 2001), the biology and ecology of a species are key factors in survival as evidenced by the different demographic histories *A. rubens* and *A. forbesi*, during and postdating the LGM (Wares 2001). *Cucumaria frondosa* is an ecologically flexible Atlantic and Arctic species, capable of

living to depths >300 m and of tolerating very cold temperatures (Smirnov 1994). Its larval development is not impaired by low salinities (Hamel and Mercier 1996a) and adults are known to occur in estuaries (Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Singh et al. 2001). Hence, populations were likely able to persist close to the glacial limits, enabling them to colonize areas quickly as glaciers receded. Colder ocean temperatures would also extend larval development times (Hamel and Mercier 1996a) therefore prolonging the pelagic phase and favoring dispersal toward new areas. Sea cucumbers such as C. frondosa also demonstrate gonadal plasticity, and the capacity to develop cohorts of gametes over multiple years to sustain annual spawning in colder regions (Hamel and Mercier 1996b). Moreover, adults are able to maintain gametogenesis and spawning through prolonged starvation periods (Hamel and Mercier 1996c). Although C. frondosa generally colonizes rocky substrates, it has recently been observed on sandy patches over the Grand Banks of Newfoundland (CSAR 2006) suggesting that it can adjust to various habitats. Such environmental plasticity would allow C. frondosa to easily adapt to a changing glacial climate and effectively colonize areas unsuitable for other obligate rocky invertebrates. It is even possible that C. frondosa was able to find refuge in deep waters as mature individuals have been found down to 1300 m. In addition, deep-water stepping stone populations in the mid-Atlantic would increase connectivity between eastern and western regions. Although it was not possible during this study, gene flow analysis of samples collected over a wide bathymetric gradient would allow us to test this deep-sea refugium hypothesis.

Cucumaria frondosa exhibits high historical gene flow across the North Atlantic and weak isolation by distance consistent with a stepping stone dispersal model. The direction of historical gene flow follows dominant ocean currents, providing further support that larval dispersal is a main component affecting population structure. This study is in contradiction with the long held paradigm that pelagic lecithotrophic larvae are poorly dispersive compared to planktotrophic larvae (Duran et al 2004). However, it is not the first time this prediction has been questioned (Young et al. 1997) and evidence of high larval dispersal in *C. frondosa* has been reported (Hamel and Mercier 1995; Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995). Given the larval time we measured (ca. 42 days), *C. frondosa* larvae from the western Atlantic could travel an average of 1500 km in the North Atlantic Current at an average speed of 38 cm s⁻¹. Although this does not span the North Atlantic, it may enable *C. frondosa* to reach areas around the mid-Atlantic ridge or the continental shelf of the eastern Atlantic. In addition, this may be a conservative estimate of larval dispersal as the North Atlantic Current may reach speeds of 209 cm s⁻¹ and we did not factor in the potentially longer larval duration in consistently cold water (Hamel and Mercier 1996a).

Single locus phylogeography

This study employs single locus (COI) mtDNA to establish the population history of *C. frondosa* in Atlantic waters. Studies with single locus markers may overestimate population demographic parameters (Brumfield et al 2003), thus multiple unlinked markers would improve statistical estimates. Although eight regions previously amplified in other *Cucumaria* species (Arndt and Smith 1998) were tested (data not shown), only the COI region showed enough variability to elucidate phylogenetic patterns. For future studies a combination of markers which undergo varying rates of mutation and highlight

3-23

different aspects of demographic history, should be used to provide a finer resolution of historical population dynamics (Addison and Hart 2005). Nonetheless, this study adds to the growing body of evidence for species-specific persistence through glacial periods and lays the groundwork for further research in the under-investigated area of holothurian molecular phylogeny in the North Atlantic.

Conclusions

The population structure of *C. frondosa* is characterized by large population size, high historical gene flow and high haplotype diversity. There is weak evidence of isolation by distance, but small amounts of genetic structuring at local levels are consistent with their patchy distribution and sporadic gene flow. All these factors contribute to the small genetic variations observed between eastern and western regions. Results from mtDNA suggest that populations of *C. frondosa* persisted through the LGM throughout the North Atlantic. Although larval dispersal likely played an important role in population expansion before and after the LGM, ecological flexibility was presumably even more essential to the survival of *C. frondosa* through glaciations.

3.6 Acknowledgements

We are indebted to Lewis Barrett (Department of Fisheries and Aquaculture) who organized the collection and transport of the majority of samples used in this study and extremely grateful to the following people for their assistance in obtaining samples in Canada G. Parsons, P. Mackey, T. Russell, R. Russell, W. Russell, B. Hedderson, B. Dennis, J. LeBlanc, D.B. Stewart, H. Fowler, B. O'Donnell, P. Sargent, R. Singh, C. Davis, T. Siferd, M. Curtis, W. Minor, D. Loveless, E. Hynick, B. Lambert, J. Drew, D. Kearley, H. Richardson, E. Richardson, S. Rowe, J. Angnatok, R. Foulem, M. Guay, V. Wareham, Z. Sun, B. Oram, E. Russell, D. Stansbury; in the United States: S. Feindel, J. Berke; in Iceland K. Olafsson; in Norway: C. Schander, H. Ringvold, T. Jørgensen; and in Russia: E. Gudimova and P. Zolotarev. Thanks to G. Doyle, C. Negrijn and N. Laite for their laboratory assistance and to M. Rise and J. Doré for use of their laboratory and equipment. This study was a collaborative effort between Memorial University (Canada) and the Australian Institute of Marine Science. Research was funded by the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador; the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (Canada), the Canadian Centre for Fisheries Innovation and grants from the Canada Foundation for Innovation and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (to A. Mercier).

3.7 References

- Addison, J.A., and Hart, M.W. 2004. Analysis of population genetic structure of the green sea urchin (*Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis*) using microsatellites. Mar. Biol. 144: 243–251.
- Addison, J.A., and Hart, M.W. 2005. Colonization, dispersal and hybridization influence phylogeography of North Atlantic sea urchins (*Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis*).
 Evolution 59: 532-543.
- Arndt, A., and Smith, M.J. 1998. Genetic diversity and population structure in two species of sea cucumber: differing patterns according to mode of development. Mol. Ecol. 7: 1053-1064.
- Arndt, A., Marquez, C., Lambert, P., and Smith, M.J. 1996. Molecular phylogeny of eastern Pacific sea cucumbers (Echinodermata: holothuroidea) based on mitochondrial DNA sequence. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 6: 425-437.
- Avise, J. C., Neigel, J.E., and Arnold, J. 1984. Demographic influences on mitochondrial DNA lineage survivorship in animal populations. J. Mol. Evol. **20**: 99-105.
- Beerli, P. 2008. MIGRATE Documentation, Version 3.0. Available at popgen.scs.fsu.edu/migratedoc.pdf. Accessed January 26, 2008.

- Beerli, P., and Felsenstein, J. 2001. Maximum likelihood estimation of a migration matrix and effective population sizes in subpopulations using a coalescent approach. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98: 4563–4568.
- Benzie, J.A.H. 1999. Major genetic differences between crown-of-thorns starfish (*Acanthaster planci*) populations in the Indian and Pacific Oceans. Evolution 53: 1782-1795.
- Bigg, G.R., Cunningham, C.W., Ottersen, G., Pogson, G.H., Wadley, M.R., and Williamson, P. 2008. Ice-age survival of Atlantic cod: agreement between palaeoecology models and genetics. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B 275: 163-172.
- Bohonak, A.J. 1999. Dispersal, gene flow, and population structure. Q. Rev. Biol. 74: 21-45.
- Brown, A. F., Kann, L.M., and Rand, D.M. 2001. Gene flow versus local adaptation in the Northern Acorn Barnacle, *Semibalanus balanoides*: Insights from mitochondrial DNA variation. Evolution 55: 1972-1979.
- Brumfield, R.T., Beerli, P., Nickerson, D.A., and Edwards, S.V. 2003. The utility of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the inferences of population history. Trends Ecol. Evol. **18**: 249-256.
- Bunje, P.M.E. 2005. Pan-European phylogeography of the aquatic snail *Theodoxus fluviatilis* (Gastropoda: Neritidae). Mol. Ecol. **14**: 4323-4340.

- Clark, P.U., Alley, R.B., and Pollard, D. 1999. Northern hemisphere ice-sheet influences on global climate change. Science **286**: 1104-1111.
- Clark, P. U., and Mix, A.C. 2002. Ice sheets and sea level of the Last Glacial Maximum. Quat. Sci. Rev. 21: 1-7.
- Clement, M., Posada, D. and Crandall, K.A., 2000. TCS: A computer program to estimate gene genealogies. Mol. Ecol. 9: 1657-1659.
- Coady, L.W. 1973. Aspects of the reproductive biology of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Gunnerus, 1770) and *Psolus fabricii* (Duben and Koren, 1846) (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in shallow waters of the Avalon Peninsula, Newfoundland. M.Sc. thesis. Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's. Canada.
- Crandall, K.A., and Templeton, A.R. 1993. Empirical tests of some predictions from coalescent theory with applications to intraspecific phylogeny reconstruction. Genetics 134: 959-969.
- CSAR, Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources. 2006. Habitat utilization and density of sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) on St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland:
 Observations using a towed camera sled in 2004 and 2005. Centre for Sustainable
 Aquatic Resources Project Report: P172a. pp. 16.
- Cunningham, C. W., and Collins, T.M. 1998. Beyond area relationships: extinction and recolonization in molecular marine biogeography. *In* Molecular approaches to

ecology and evolution. *Edited by* R. DeSalle and B. Schierwater: Birkhaeuser Verlag, Basel. pp. 297-321

- Duran, S., Palacin, C., Becerro, M.A., Turon, X. and Giribet. G. 2004. Genetic diversity and population structure of the commercially harvested sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* (Echinodermata, Echinoidea). Mol. Ecol. 13: 3317-3328.
- Dyke, A.S., Andrews, J.T., Clark, P.U., England, J.H., Miller, G.H., Shaw, J., and Veillette, J.J. 2002. The Laurentide and Innuitian ice sheets during the Last Glacial Maximum. Q. Sci. Rev. 21: 9-31.
- Excoffier, L., Laval, G., and Schneider, S. 2005. Arlequin version 3.0: an integrated software package for population genetics data analysis. Evolutionary Bioinformatics Online 1: 47-50.
- Excoffier, L., Smouse, P.E., and Quattro, J. M. 1992. Analysis of molecular variance inferred from metric distances among DNA haplotypes: application to human mitochondrial DNA restriction data. Genetics **131**: 479-491.
- Fauvelot, C., Bernardi, G. and Planes, S. 2003. Reductions in the mitochondrial DNA diversity of coral reef fish provide evidence of population bottlenecks resulting from Holocene sea-level change. Evolution 57: 1571-1583.
- Flatau, M.K., Talley, L. and Niiler, P.P. 2003. The North Atlantic Oscillation, surface current velocities, and SST changes in the Subpolar North Atlantic. J. Clim. 16: 2355-2369.

- Foggo, A., Bilton, D.T., and Rundle, S.D. 2007. Do developmental mode and dispersal shape abundance-occupancy relationships in marine macroinvertebrates? J. Anim. Ecol. 76: 695-702.
- Francour, P. 1997. Predation on Holothurians: A Literature Review. Invertebr. Biol. **116**: 52-60.
- Fratantoni, D.M. 2001. North Atlantic surface circulation during the 1990's observed with satellite-tracked drifters. J. Geophys. Res. **106**: 22067-22093.
- Fu, Y.X. 1997. Statistical tests of neutrality of mutations against population growth, hitchhiking and background selection. Genetics 147: 915-925.
- Gosner, K.L. 1978. A field guide to the Atlantic seashore. The Peterson Field Guide Series. Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston.
- Guo, S., and Thompson, E. 1992. Performing the exact test of Hardy-Weinberg proportion for multiple alleles. Biometrics **48**: 361-372.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1995. Spawning of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, eastern Canada. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 7: 12-18.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996a. Early development, settlement, growth, and spatial distribution of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 253-271.

- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996b. Gonad morphology and gametogenesis of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 22-33.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996c. Evidence of chemical communication during the gametogenesis of holothuroids. Ecology. 77: 1600-1616.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996d. Gamete dispersion and fertilisation success of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. South Pacific Commission Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 34-40.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1998. Diet and feeding behaviour of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, eastern Canada. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1994-1198.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1999. Mucus as a mediator of gametogenic synchrony in the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U.K. 79: 121-129.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 2008. Precautionary management of *Cucumaria frondosa* in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *In* Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. *Edited by* V. Toral-Granda, A. Lovatelli, and M. Vasconcellos.
 FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No 516, Rome. pp 293-306.
- Hellberg, M.E. 1996. Dependence of gene flow on geographic distance in two solitary corals with different larval dispersal capabilities. Evolution **50**: 1167-1175

- Hickerson, M.J., and Cunningham, C.W. 2005. Contrasting quaternary histories in an ecologically divergent sister pair of low-dispersing intertidal fish (*Xiphister*) revealed by multilocus DNA analysis. Evolution **59**: 344-360.
- Hickerson, M.J., and Cunningham, C.W. 2006. Nearshore fish (*Pholis gunnellus*) persists across the North Atlantic through multiple glacial episodes. Mol. Ecol. 15: 4095-4107.
- Ingolfsson, A. 1992. The origin of the rocky shore fauna of Iceland and the Canadian Maritimes. J. Biogeogr. 19: 705-712.
- Jacobs, H.T., Elliott, D.J., Math, V.B., and Farquharson, A. 1988. Nucleotide sequence and gene organization of sea urchin mitochondrial DNA. J. Mol. Biol. **202**: 185-217.
- Johnson, M.S., and Black, R. 1982. Chaotic genetic patchiness in an intertidal limpet, *Siphonaria* sp. Mar. Biol. 70:157-164.
- José, J., and Solferini, V.N. 2007. Population genetics of *Collisella subrugosa* (Patellogastropoda: Acmaeidae): Evidence of two scales of population structure. Genetica **130**: 73-82.
- Kelly, R.P., Oliver, T.A., Sivasundar, A., and Palumbi, S.R. 2009. A method for detecting population genetic structure in diverse, high gene-flow species. J. Hered.: *In press*.
- Kimura, M. 1980. A simple method for estimating evolutionary rates of base substitutions through comparative studies of nucleotide sequences. J. Mol. Evol. **16**: 111-120.

Klugh, A.B. 1923. The habits of Cucumaria frondosa. Can. Field Nat. 37: 76-77.

- Knott, S.T., and Hoskins, H. 1968. Evidence of Pleistocene events in the structure of the continental shelf off the Northeastern United States. Mar. Geol. 6: 5-43.
- Kyle, C.J., and Boulding, E.G. 2000. Comparative population genetic structure of marine gastropods (*Littorina* spp.) with and without pelagic larval dispersal. Mar. Biol. 137: 835-845.
- Legault, C., and Himmelman, J.H.1993. Relation between escape behaviour of benthic marine invertebrates and the risk of predation. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **170**: 55-74.
- Lessios, H.A., Kessing, B.D., and Pearse, J.S. 2001. Population structure and speciation in tropical seas: global phylogeography of the sea urchin *Diadema*. Evolution **55**: 955-975.
- Lessios, H.A., Kessing, B.D., Robertson, D.R., and Paulay, G. 1999. Phylogeography of the pantropical sea urchin *Eucidaris* in relation to land barriers and ocean currents. Evolution 53: 806-817.
- Long, J.C. 1986. The allelic correlation structure of Gianj- and Kalam-speaking people. I. The estimation and interpretation of Wrigth's F-Statistics. Genetics **112**: 629-647.
- Maggs, C.A., Castilho, R., Foltz, D., Henzler, C., Jolly, M.T., Kelly, J., Olsen, J., Perez,
 K.E., Stam, W., Väinölä, R., Viard, F., and Wares, J. 2008. Evaluating signatures of
 glacial refugia for North Atlantic benthic marine taxa. Ecology 89: 108-122.

- Marko, P.B. 2004. 'What's larvae got to do with it?' Disparate patterns of post-glacial population structure in two benthic marine gastropods with identical dispersal potential. Mol. Ecol. **13**: 597-611.
- McCartney, M.A., Keller, G., and Lessios. H.A. 2000. Dispersal barriers in tropical oceans and speciation in Atlantic and eastern Pacific sea urchins of the genus *Echinometra*. Mol. Ecol. 9: 1391-1400.
- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., Olson, R.R., Conroy, J.A., and Kocher, T.D. 1995. Distribution of holothurian larvae determined with species-specific genetic probes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 40: 1225-1235.
- Nishida, M., and Lucas, J.S. 1988. Genetic differences between geographic populations of the Crown-of-thorns starfish throughout the Pacific region. Mar. Biol. **98**: 359-368.
- Nikula, R. Strelkov, P., Väinölä, R. 2007. Diversity and trans-Arctic invasion history of mitochondrial lineages in the North Atlantic Macoma balthica complex (Bivalvia: Tellinidae). Evol. Int. J. Org. Evol. 61: 928-941.

Nei, M. 1987. Molecular Evolutionary Genetics. Columbia University Press, New York.

Reeb, C.A., and Avise, J.C. 1990. A genetic discontinuity in a continuously distributed species: mitochondrial DNA in the American oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*. Genetics 124: 397-406.

- Riginos, C., and Henzler, C.M. 2008. Patterns of mtDNA diversity in North Atlantic populations of the mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Biol. **155**: 399-412.
- Ronquist, F., and Huelsenbeck, J.P. 2003. MrBayes 3: Bayesian phylogenetic inference under mixed models. Bioinformatics **19**: 1572-1574.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton, P., and Thomas, M.L.H. 2001. The reproductive biology of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) using new quantitative methods. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. 40: 125-141.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton, P., and Thomas, M.L.H. 1998. Feeding response of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) to changing food concentrations in the laboratory. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1842-1849.
- Sköld, M., Wing, S.R., and Mladenov, P.V. 2003. Genetic subdivision of a sea star with high dispersal capability in relation to physical barriers in a fjordic seascape. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 250: 163-174.
- Slatkin, M. 1987. Gene flow and the geographic structure of natural populations. Science **236**: 787-792.
- Slatkin, M. 1993. Isolation by distance in equilibrium and non-equilibrium populations. Evolution **47**: 264-279.

- Slatkin, M., and Hudson, R.R. 1991. Pairwise comparisons of mitochondrial DNA sequences in stable and exponentially growing populations. Genetics **129**: 555-562.
- Smirnov, A.V. 1994. Arctic echinoderms: composition, distribution and history of the fauna. *In* Echinoderms through time. *Edited by* B. David, A. Guille, J. -P. Féral and M. Roux: A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam, Netherlands. pp. 135-143.
- Stamatis, C., Triantafyllidis, A., Moutou, K.A., and Mamuris, Z. 2004. Mitochondrial DNA variation in Northeast Atlantic and Mediterranean populations of Norway lobster, *Nephrops norvegicus*. Mol. Ecol. **13**: 1377-1390.
- Stanley, S.M. 1986. Anatomy of a regional mass extinction: A Plio-Pleistocene decimation of western Atlantic bivalve fauna. Palaios 1: 17-36.
- Tajima, F. 1989. Statistical method for testing the neutral mutation hypothesis by DNA polymorphism. Genetics **123**: 585-595.
- Templeton, A.R., Crandall, K.A., and Sing, C.F. 1992. A cladistic analysis of phenotypic associations with haplotypes inferred from restriction endonuclease mapping and DNA sequence data. III. Cladogram estimation. Genetics **132**: 619-633.
- Therkildsen, N.O., and Petersen, C.W. 2006. A review of the emerging fishery for the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*: Biology, policy, and future prospects. SPC Bechede-mer Inf. Bull. **22**: 16-25.

- Uthicke, S., and Benzie, J.A.H. 2001. Restricted gene flow between *Holothuria scabra* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) populations along the north-east coast of Australia and the Solomon Islands. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. **216**: 109-117.
- Uthicke, S., and Benzie, J.A.H. 2003. Gene flow and population history in high dispersal marine invertebrates: mitochondrial DNA analysis of *Holothuria nobilis* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) populations from the Indo-Pacific. Mol. Ecol. 12: 2635-2648.
- Uthicke, S., Benzie, J.A.H., and Ballment, E.1998. Genetic structure of fissiparous populations of *Holothuria (Halodeima) atra* on the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Biol. 132: 141-151.
- Uthicke, S., Benzie, J.A.H., and Ballment, E. 1999. Population genetics of the fissiparous holothurian *Stichopus chloronotus* (Aspidochirotida) on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Coral Reefs 18: 123-132.
- Vermeij, G.J. 1991. Anatomy of an invasion: the trans-Arctic interchange. Paleobiology 17: 281-307.
- Vermeij, G.J. 2005. From Europe to America: Pliocene to recent trans-Atlantic expansion of cold-water North Atlantic molluscs. Proc. Biol. Sci. 272: 2545-2550.
- Wares, J.P. 2001. Biogeography of *Asterias*: North Atlantic climate change and speciation. Biol. Bull. 201: 95-103.

- Wares, J.P., and Cunningham, C.W. 2001. Phylogeography and historical ecology of the North Atlantic intertidal. Evolution **55**: 2455-2469.
- Watterson, G.A. 1984. Allele frequencies after a bottleneck. Theor. Popul. Biol. **26**: 387-407.
- Watts, R.J., Johnson, M.S., and Black, R. 1990. Effects of recruitment on genetic patchiness in the urchin *Echinometra mathaei* in Western Australia. Mar. Biol. 105: 145-151.
- Williams, S.T., and Benzie, J.A.H. 1998. Evidence of a biogeographic break between populations of a high dispersal starfish: Congruent regions within the Indo-West Pacific defined by color morphs, mtDNA, and allozyme data. Evolution **52**: 87-99.
- Wilson, A. B. 2006. Genetic signature of recent glaciation on populations of a near-shore marine fish species (*Syngnathus leptorhynchus*). Mol. Ecol. 15:1857-1871.

Wright, S. 1951. The genetic structure of populations. Ann. Eugen. 15: 354.

Young, C.M., Sewell, M.A., Tyler, P.A., and Metaxas, A. 1997. Biogeographic and bathymetric ranges of Atlantic deep-sea echinoderms and ascidians: the role of larval dispersal. Biodivers. Conserv. **6**: 1507-1522.

3.8 Tables

Table 3-1: Diversity measures for populations of *Cucumaria frondosa* using 618 bp of COI. The number of samples per site (N), unique haplotypes (H) and polymorphic sites (PS) are listed as well as Fu's F_S neutrality value. Standard deviation is noted in brackets and significant values are shown in bold.

Site ID	Sampling location	Ν	Н	PS	Haplotype diversity	Nucleotide diversity	Fs
	Canada						
BIC	Belcher Island, NU	15	14	18	0.991 (0.028)	0.0060 (0.0036)	-5.01
HSC	Hudson Strait, NU	13	9	12	0.872 (0.092)	0.0050 (0.0031)	-1.37
WHC	William's Harbour, NL	17	13	18	0.971 (0.028)	0.0063 (0.0030)	-2.26
LLC	L'ance au Loup, NL	18	15	21	0.971 (0.039)	0.0072 (0.0041)	-3.31
CHC	Cook's Harbour, NL	29	21	22	0.970 (0.018)	0.0070 (0.0040)	-4.62
ЗКС	NAFO Area 3K, NL	4	4	5	1.000 (0.176)	0.0045 (0.0035)	-0.34
TWC	Twillingate, NL	17	15	25	0.978 (0.031)	0.0078 (0.0045)	-3.28
HBC	Hare Bay, NL	25	24	33	1.000 (0.027)	0.0085 (0.0048)	-10.41
ACC	Admiral's Cove, NL	15	13	19	0.981 (0.030)	0.0057 (0.0034)	-2.44
SPC	St. Pierre Bank, NL	9	6	13	0.889 (0.091)	0.0064 (0.0040)	1.99
4WC	NAFO Area 4W, NS	14	11	20	0.934 (0.061)	0.0082 (0.0047)	-0.40
HPC	Havre-Saint-Pierre, QC	8	6	11	0.928 (0.084)	0.0067 (0.0043)	0.27
P1C	Passamaquoddy Bay (1), NB	21	17	21	0.967 (0.030)	0.0067 (0.0038)	-4.57
P2C	Passamaquoddy Bay (2), NB	25	16	25	0.900 (0.053)	0.0061 (0.0035)	-2.69
	United States						
CNU	Cape Neddick, ME	18	15	21	0.974 (0.029)	0.0072 (0.0041)	-3.69
CBU	Casco Bay, ME	16	12	23	0.959 (0.036)	0.0076 (0.0044)	-1.12
	Western Atlantic Total	264	129	101	0.955 (0.008)	0.0018 (0.0091)	-23.96
	(Mid Atlantia) looland						
AKI	Alconos	21	21	22	0.057 (0.025)	0.0071.00.0040)	1 73
	Akranes	51	21	<i>44</i>	0.337 (0.023)	0.0071 (0.0040)	-4,73
	Norway						
SKN	Skaug	12	5	8	0.849 (0.059)	0.0055 (0.0034)	3.95
MON	Mørkvedbukta	23	13	15	0.949 (0.023)	0.0056 (0.0033)	-1.82
BEN	Bergen	4	4	7	1.000 (0.176)	0.0083 (0.0060)	1.00
	Eastern Atlantic Total	39	19	21	0.950 (0.015)	0.0062 (0.0035)	-2.02
	Entire North Atlantic	334	143	110	0.956 (0.007)	0.0059 (0.0033)	-23.91

_			Migration rates	
	n	North America	Iceland	Norway
North America to	260	-	228 (198-438)	564 (427-892)
Iceland to	31	913 (859-1130)	-	680 (597-1250)
Norway to	35	465 (428-605)	56 (36-892)	-

Table 3-2: Effective migration rates of populations of *Cucumaria frondosa* between three regions in the North Atlantic calculated with MIGRATE (Beerli 2008). Upper and lower 95 % profile confidence limits are noted in brackets.

Table 3-3: Pairwise F_{ST} values of *Cucumaria frondosa* across the North Atlantic calculated with 16002 permutations of haplotypes. Significant values (p<0.05) are shown in bold. Refer to Table 3-1 for sample site identification. Sites 3KC and BEN were excluded due to low sample size. Negative values are the result of imprecision in the calculations and can be interpreted as zero (Long 1986).

							V	Vestern	Atlantic								Eas	tern
																	Atla	ntic
	BIN	HSC	WHC	LLC	CHC	TWC	HBC	ACC	SPC	4WC	HPC	PIC	P2C	CNU	CBU	AKI	SKN	MON
BIN																		
HSC	-0.022																	
WHC	-0.025	-0.018																
LLC	0.003	-0.009	0.015															
CHC	0.024	0.002	0.019	0.017														
TWC	0.005	-0.013	0.016	-0.010	0.055													
HBC	-0.008	-0.007	0.017	-0.007	0.045	0.009												
ACC	-0.029	-0.004	0.004	0.018	0.037	0.024	-0.007											
SPC	-0.024	-0.012	0.000	0.004	0.015	0.004	-0.023	-0.046										
4WC	-0.010	-0.019	0.016	-0.021	0.003	-0.003	-0.001	0.005	-0.004									
HPC	-0.026	-0.014	-0.001	-0.033	-0.005	0.006	-0.028	-0.018	-0.028	-0.047								
P1C	-0.017	-0.016	-0.005	0.011	0.015	0.026	-0.004	0.000	-0.006	-0.011	-0.026							
P2C	-0.019	-0.003	0.015	0.008	0.041	0.010	-0.011	-0.011	-0.026	-0.001	-0.018	-0.012						
CNU	-0.001	0.002	0.021	0.012	0.024	0.029	-0.004	-0.001	-0.021	0.020	-0.025	0.004	-0.007					
CBU	-0.017	-0.001	-0.007	0.019	-0.003	0.046	0.019	0.001	0.005	0.001	-0.030	-0.018	0.005	-0.001				
AKI	0.005	-0.003	0.005	0.004	0.005	0.044	0.015	0.021	0.004	0.017	-0.012	-0.006	0.012	-0.005	-0.009			
SKN	-0.002	0.041	0.035	0.011	0.069	0.017	0.034	0.050	0.064	-0.001	0.005	0.025	0.026	0.055	0.034	0.054		
MON	0.008	0.045	0.012	0.053	0.036	0.098	0.050	0.027	0.050	0.035	0.004	0.001	0.036	0.047	-0.011	0.011	0.048	

Source of variation	df	Percentage of variation	Fixation indices
All regions	2	1.11	$\Phi_{\rm CT} = 0.011$
Within groups	15	0.68	$\Phi_{SC} = 0.006$
Within populations	308	98.21	$\Phi_{ST}=0.018*$
Western and mid-Atlantic	1	0.55	Ф _{СТ} =0.005
Within groups	14	0.41	$\Phi_{SC} = 0.004$
Within populations	275	99.04	Φ _{ST} =0.009
Western and eastern Atlantic	1	1.67	Ф _{СТ} =0.018 *
Within groups	15	0.72	$\Phi_{SC} = 0.007$
Within populations	278	97.60	$\Phi_{ST}=0.024*$
Eastern and mid-Atlantic	1	-0.65	Φ _{CT} =-0.006
Within groups	1	3.62	Φ _{SC} =0.036
Within populations	63	97.03	$\Phi_{ST} = 0.029$

Table 3-4: Hierarchical analysis of molecular variance of populations of *Cucumaria frondosa* across the North Atlantic.

*Significant at p<0.05 after 10100 permutations

Traits	Characteristics	Sources				
Feeding	Feeds on phytoplankton, phytodetritus and other particulate matter.	This study; Hamel and Mercier 1998				
	Seasonal feeding attuned to food abundance; can withstand prolonged fasting periods.	Hamel and Mercier 1998; Singh et al. 1998; 2001				
	Fasting for over one year does not prevent reproduction.	Hamel and Mercier 1996c				
Reproduction	Iteroparous.	This study, Hamel and Mercier 1995; 1996a				
	Massive annual broadcast spawning correlated with environmental factors.	Hamel and Mercier 1995; 1996b; Singh et al. 2001				
	High natural fertilization rates.	Hamel and Mercier 1996d				
	Gametogenic synchrony between distant populations by chemical communication.	Hamel and Mercier 1996c; 1999				
	Intermediate fecundity (ca. 9,000 eggs).	Hamel and Mercier 1996a				
Larval development and ecology	Naturally long larval development times (ca. 4-7 weeks).	This study; Hamel and Mercier 1996a				
	Prolonged larval time under colder temperatures.	Hamel and Mercier 1996a				
	Larvae can withstand low salinities.	Hamel and Mercier 1996a				
	Positively buoyant larvae found high in water column.	Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995; Hamel and Mercier 1996a; 1996b				
Population ecology	Can colonize great depths (ca. 1300 m).	JF. Hamel, personal observation				
	Can colonize bedrock, boulder, gravely and sandy habitats.	CSAR 2006; Klugh 1923				
	Can be found in areas of intermediate salinity (e.g. estuaries).	Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Singh et al. 2001				
	Adapted to Arctic conditions.	Smirnov 1994; Gudimova et al. 2004				

Table 3-5: Ecological characteristics of *Cucumaria frondosa* that support survival through last glacial period and subsequent population expansion.

3.9 Figures



Figure 3-1: A) Schematic current structure of the North Atlantic between April and June (during pelagic larval phase of *Cucumaria frondosa*), adapted from Fratantoni (2001) showing population sites and B) enlarged map of eastern Canada and Maine (USA) from boxed area in A. Scale bar represent 500 km. See Table 3-1 for population identification details. The major currents are labeled as follows; GS-Gulf Stream; NAC-North Atlantic Current; NC-Norwegian Current; EGC-Eastern Greenland Current; IC-Icelandic Current; WGC-Western Greenland Current; LC-Labrador Current. Thickness of arrows indicates strength of current.



Figure 3-2: Haplotype network of cytochrome oxidase 1 (COI) sequences of *Cucumaria frondosa*. Each haplotype is noted by its corresponding ID. The area of each circle is proportional to the number of individuals with that haplotype. Small black circles represent intermediate haplotypes not found in our samples but needed to link observed haplotypes. Each line in the network represents one nucleotide substitution. Haplotypes from the western Atlantic are shown in white, those from the mid-Atlantic are shown in light grey with a thick black border and those from eastern Atlantic in black. Shared haplotypes between the eastern and western Atlantic are shown in dark grey, between the western and mid-Atlantic are shown in white with a thick black border. Haplotypes shared between all regions are shown in dark grey with a thick black border.



Figure 3-3: Bayesian skyline plots depicting the demographic history of C. frondosa across the North Atlantic. The solid line represents the median value for the log of effective population size (Log N_e) and the dashed lines represent the upper and lower 95 % credible intervals. The x-axes represents thousands of years before 2008 with minimum and maximum time estimates based on previously calculated sea urchin COI mutation rates of 1.6-3.5 % Myr⁻¹ (Lessios et al. 1999, 2001; McCartney et al. 2000). Time estimates of the LGM are noted with arrows on the x-axes.



Figure 3-4: Slatkin's (1993) linearized genetic distance $(F_{ST}/(1-F_{ST}))$ plotted against geographical distance between samples of *Cucumaria frondosa*. All negative values were zeroed. Mantel's test, r=0.32, p=0.028.



Figure 3-5: A) Distance distribution of expected and observed shared COI haplotypes of *Cucumaria frondosa*. Observed mean=2310.67 km. Expected mean=2130.00 km, p=0.534 B) Cumulative frequency distribution of observed and expected shared COI haplotypes of *Cucumaria frondosa*. D_{cdf}=0.047, p=0.621.

CHAPTER 4: SUMMARY



Cucumaria frondosa with tentacles extended

4.1 Biology and ecology of Cucumaria frondosa

This study adds key knowledge on various aspects of the biology of *C. frondosa* (Table 4-1) relavant from both ecological and resource management perspectives on a global scale and for the local fishery (Table 4-2). It also provides tools for further studying this and other species of sea cucumbers.

Cucumaria frondosa exhibits a patchy distribution at a mean density of 0.29 ind m⁻² that varies with substrate type along the St. Pierre Bank (southwest Newfoundland). This species shows selectivity for hard substrata in rocky and gravelly environments that provide refuges for recruits and a hard surface for attachment, necessary for feeding and spawning. Increasing size of sea cucumber was linked with increasing hardness of substrate. Sea cucumbers were also found on other less optimal substrates such as sand where smaller and strangely behaving individuals were found, suggesting that these individuals may not occur there naturally, but as a result of being displaced by storms or currents. Artificially high gonadal index in sea cucumbers from sand substrate was likely the result of reabsorption of the body wall, an energy storage tissue for maintaining reproduction and body function during non-feeding periods. Conversely, a higher body wall thickness was observed in sea cucumbers from soft sand substrate compared to hard mixed gravel and rock substrate and may be the result of individuals rolling along the sandy bottom.

The spawning period for *C. frondosa* in the Newfoundland region occurs from late March to early May in response to increasing phytoplankton abundance. Small sizes of oocytes result in faster development than in other parts of its distribution, leading to

4-2

increased local recruitment and small developing larvae. After two years of growth, juvenile sea cucumbers reached a maximum of 6 mm in our study, highlighting the relationship between growth rates and environmental conditions and availability of food.

Immersed weight was the most accurate measurement for determining sea cucumber size without sacrificing the animal; it exhibited a strong relationship with dried weight ($r^2=0.97$). This method which weighs the sea cucumber while suspended in water negates the effects of retained fluids and would be ideal for growth studies on any species of sea cucumber. Wet weight was also a good measure of size, but showed higher variability. Contracted length and width, either individually or combined (size index), were not well correlated with dry weight. Accurate methods for assessing sea cucumber size are important in the development and management of sea cucumber fisheries.

Peak growth occurred in correlation with spring phytoplankton production in almost all size classes of juvenile and adult sea cucumbers. Null annual growth occurred in several size classes and may be attributed to density in tanks or competition, however it was likely the product of low food levels. Algae-supplemented size classes showed fewer changes in overall size, indicating that more abundant food enabled sea cucumbers to maintain their body size, but that concentrations were not high enough to increase growth rates. Shrinking body size in response to environmental conditions is not uncommon in echindoderms and further complicates sea cucumber growth studies by confounding the relationship between age and size and increasing the difficulty in establishing size classes to estimate growth. In the Newfoundland and Labrador region, estimated growth rates based on accurate immersed weight studies and size-at-age data for 2-y old juveniles indicate a minimum of 25 years to reach adult size, however higher growth rates may occur in the field.

The sea star Solaster endeca is the most important known predator of C. frondosa and occurs in areas with high sea cucumber density. Medium-sized sea stars (R: 7-11 cm) dominate the population on the St. Pierre Bank, suggesting higher predation pressure on small-sized sea cucumbers (IW: <2 g). This study revealed that very small S. endeca (ca. 2 mm) prey on post-metamorphic juveniles of C. frondosa which already express the escape response typical of adults. Prey-predator interactions in very small juveniles of S. endeca and C. frondosa suggest that these two species have co-evolved, promoting development of these mechanisms from an early age. Predation by S. endeca on adult small-sized (IW: 0.6 ± 0.3 g) C. frondosa resulted in shorter feeding bouts, there was no statistically significant preference for small sea cucumbers. Solaster endeca feeding rates ranged from 2-4 sea cucumbers per month, but ceased in response to temperatures > 14°C. Feeding bouts (length of time spent eating) was long (ca. 9-13 days) due to the large size of prey and toughness of the body wall. Lower frequency attacks by S. endeca were observed at high temperatures (ca. 15 °C) compared to lower temperatures (ca. 6 °C) indicating decreased predation pressure during peak ocean temperatures (10-15°C) from August to October. An extrapolation of these factors indicate that 2 % of sea cucumbers could be removed annually due to predation by S. endeca, however this rate assumes that the sea stars feed only on sea cucumbers, and does not include predation on sea cucumbers by fish and other invertebrates. Furthermore feeding rates may be continuous on the St. Pierre Bank where sea cucumbers are fished because bottom temperatures do not exceed 6 °C. Solaster endeca selectively preys upon sea cucumbers that exhibit

injuries ressembling those that may be inflicted by benthic trawls. Chemodetection of damaged sea cucumbers will therefore likely attract *S. endeca* to harvested areas. No feeding was observed on damaged or intact *C. frondosa* by the scavenging sea star *Asterias rubens*, however other invertebrate and vertebrate scavengers may feed on sea cucumber remains.

In predation experiments *S. endeca* employed direct and indirect attacks where the sea star would either move straight to its prey, or take a circuitous route. Direct attacks were only observed if *S. endeca* was in close proximity to its prey. Indirect attacks occurred more often with the sea star positioned above its prey enabling it to use its full body weight to capture the sea cucumber. Indirect attacks also allow the predator to remove itself from direct water flow and attack from "down-wind".

The gene flow study indicated that *C. frondosa* populations across the North Atlantic exhibit high diversity within populations, but low diversity between populations. At local levels, genetic patchiness was detected between some populations as a result of adult genetic composition, source of recruitment and post-settlement selection. Gene flow between populations is sporadic and local recruitment is likely more frequent. Small genetic differences were detected between eastern and western Atlantic groups may be due to variable gene flow rates. Gene flow patterns are linked to larval dispersal through ocean currents with high effective migration rates across the North Atlantic. The pattern of genetic diversity of *C. frondosa* populations across the Atlantic indicate that the species persisted through glacial conditions during the Last Glacial Maximum (ca. 18,000 years ago). Apart from larval dispersal, the glacial persistence is likely due to their adaptation to arctic conditions and ecological plasticity. Weak population structure
indicates that low levels of distant gene flow are able to outweigh microevolutionary processes such as genetic drift or mutation.

4.2 Implications for the fishery

Populations of C. frondosa in the western North Atlantic are virtually untouched by directed harvests and represent a practically virgin biomass. Annual spawning and long larval development times enable recruitment to distant populations, however the magnitude and consistency of recruitment between populations is likely low. Cucumaria frondosa growth rates around Newfoudnland and Labrador are slow due to limited planktonic food availability; therefore heavily fished populations will likely require a long time to recover. The fittest sea cucumbers (those that will survive and reproduce) reside on hard rocky substrate and are reproductively the most important for contributing to recruitment. Using a trawl to fish sea cucumbers may unintentionally help preserve reproductive adults and sources of recruitment as rocky areas with boulders and outcrops result in damaged gear and poor catches. Deep-water populations of C. frondosa beyond the photic zone may support recruitment to coastal areas, however their gametogenesis is triggered by cues from shallower populations. These links between populations suggests that intense coastal harvesting may cause cascading negative effects on annual recruitment. These factors indicate that C. frondosa is susceptible to Allee effects, where decreasing densities of sexually mature adults cause a proportionate decline in the number of juveniles produced.

Predation by juveniles of the sea star *S. endeca* highlights the negative pressures affecting post-metamorphic juveniles and thus recruitment. Furthermore, adults of *S. endeca* are drawn to damaged sea cucumbers and predation pressure will increase in areas trawled for benthic invertebrates. An increased number of damaged sea cucumbers may also draw predatory and scavenging invertebrates and fish, further affecting sea cucumber populations.

Most of the *C. frondosa* collected in the North Atlantic appear to be part of a large population connected through high gene flow facilitated by long larval life and ocean currents over long ecological time scales (decades or more). Local genetic patchiness can occur, however, with variations in sources of recruitment and dispersal. The presence of genetic patchiness highlights the need for 'local' management through closure of apparently less connected areas.

This project is a major step in creating a successful management plan for the fishery which ensures economic viability and environmental sustainability provided that fisheries managers take a precautionary approach, heed the lessons from overexploited sea cucumber fisheries elsewhere and continue to have the support and co-operation of harvesters, processors and research scientists.

4.3 Future research

Although *C. frondosa* is fairly well known, various aspects of its biology could be investigated to further our general knowledge of this and other species of sea cucumbers.

Additional research would also help refine management goals and practices for the emerging fishery.

- Sea cucumbers are hard to tag due to their lack of hard structures. Previous studies have failed to find a reliable tag that will not be expelled from the body of the sea cucumber. Development of reliable tagging methods for sea cucumbers would be useful for conducting growth studies in the field.
- Field studies of *C. frondosa* could be conducted following individuals using DNA fingerprinting.
- Biochemical analysis could further elucidate differences in potential fitness between sea cucumbers residing on different substrates
- Other gene regions and markers should be used to refine our estimates of population genetic history including microsatellites, allozyme markers.
- Analysis of oocytes of *C. frondosa* from different sites using size and lipid composition may help determine potential distance travelled before settling. The impact of environmental conditions on oocyte size may be elucidated as well.
- Feeding observations of *S. endeca* should be conducted in the field to determine natural feeding cycles and if prey switching between sea cucumber and other echinoderm species occurs. Abundance of *S. endeca* should also be compared between pristine, untouched areas and fished areas to determine if trawling increases predation pressure as predicted. Field studies in fished areas can also indicate whether scavengers prey upon sea cucumber remains.

4-8

- Further studies should be conducted on the anti-predatory behaviour of *C*. *frondosa* such as the ratio between normal size and increased ("bloated") antipredatory size. The increased size needed for *C. frondosa* to successfully escape an attack from *S. endeca* should also be determined.
- *Solaster endeca* should be observed to determine aggregative feeding behaviour and their effect on predation rates. Several small to medium-sized sea stars may be able to overcome a large sea cucumber's anti-predatory tactics.
- Chemodetection studies should be conducted on *S. endeca* using intact and damaged sea cucumber prey. Although *S. endeca* is known to be able to detect prey, it is not known at what distance it is most effective.
- The species *C. japonica* is almost morphologically identical to *C. frondosa* and has a similar Arctic distribution. Genetic tests may determine whether the species are the result of speciation during glacial periods. Analysis of ossicles in their tissues may also provide key taxonomic information.
- The use of Western blots can determine the presence of light sensitive rhodopsin on various tissues of *C. frondosa* and may show which parts of the sea cucumber are used to detect light.
- Aggregation patterns should be determined for *C. frondosa* to determine if they aggregate according to size or in reference to food and water flow.
- Immersed weight should be correlated with weight of beche-de-mer product.
 Harvesters would have a more accurate method of determining how much product can be made from fresh catches.

• Size-at-age needs to be investigated for *C. frondosa* in the field as it is necessary for planning sustainable fisheries practices; however no method has been developed yet to determine this.

4.4 **References**

- Brinkhurst, R.O., Linkletter, L.E., Lord, E.I., Conners, S.A., and Dadswell, M.J. 1975. A preliminary guide to the littoral and sublittoral marine invertebrates of
 Passamaquoddy Bay. Special Publication, Huntsman Marine Sciences Centre, New Brunswick.
- Coady, L.W. 1973. Aspects of the reproductive biology of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Gunnerus, 1770) and *Psolus fabricii* (Duben and Koren, 1846) (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in shallow waters of the Avalon Peninsula, Newfoundland. M.Sc. Thesis. Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's. Canada.
- CSAR, Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources. 2006. Habitat utilization and density of sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) on St. Pierre Bank, Newfoundland:
 Observations using a towed camera sled in 2004 and 2005. Centre for Sustainable
 Aquatic Resources Project Report P-172a. Fisheries and Marine Institute of
 Memorial University, St. John's, Newfoundland.
- David, V.M.M., and MacDonald, B.A. 2002. Seasonal biochemical composition of tissues from *Cucumaria frondosa* collected in the Bay of Fundy, Canada: Feeding activity and reproduction. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 82: 141-147.
- Grant, S.M. 2006. Biological resource assessment of the orange footed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) occurring in the Strait of Belle Isle. Fisheries and Marine

Insititute Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources Report No. P-169. St. John's, Newfoundland.

- Grant, S.M., Squire, L., and Keats, C. 2006. Biological resource assessment of the orange footed sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*) occurring in the St. Pierre Bank.
 Fisheries and Marine Institute Centre for Sustainable Aquatic Resources Report P-137 & P-172. St. John's, Newfoundland.
- Gudimova, E.N., Gudimov, A. and Collin, P. 2004. A study of the biology for fishery in two populations of *Cucumaria frondosa*: In the Barents Sea (Russia) and in the Gulf of Maine (USA). *In* Echinoderms: Munchen Proceedings of the 11th International Echinoderm Conference. *Edited by* T. Heinzeller and J.H. Nebelsick: CRC Press, London. pp. 269-275.
- Hamel, J. -F., and A. Mercier. 1995. Spawning of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, eastern Canada. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 7: 12-18.
- Hamel and Mercier 1996a. Evidence of chemical communication during the gametogenesis of holothuroids. Ecology. 77: 1600-1616.
- Hamel, J.-F., Mercier, A. 1996b. Early development, settlement, growth and spatial distribution of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 253-271.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996c. Gamete dispersion and fertilization success of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. **8**: 34-40.

- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1996d. Gonad morphology and gametogenesis of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. SPC Beche-de-mer Inf. Bull. 8: 22-33.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1998. Diet and feeding behaviour of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* in the St. Lawrence Estuary, Eastern Canada. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1194-1198.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 1999. Mucus as a mediator of gametogenic synchrony in the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK. **79**: 121-129.
- Hamel, J.-F., and Mercier, A. 2008. Population status, fisheries and trade of sea cucumbers in temperate areas of the Northern Hemisphere. *In* Sea cucumbers. A global review of fisheries and trade. *Edited by* V. Toral-Granda, A. Lovatelli and M. Vasconcellos. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 516.
 Rome, FAO. pp. 293–306.
- Jordan, A.J. 1972. On the Ecology and Behavior of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) at Lamoine Beach, Maine. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maine at Orono, Orono. United States of America.
- Kirshenbaum, S. 2006. Assessment and management of the Maine sea cucumber (*Cucumaria frondosa*). M.Sc. Thesis, University of Maine at Orono, Maine. United States of America.

Klugh, A.B. 1923. The habits of Cucumaria frondosa. Can. Field Nat. 37: 76-77.

- Legault, C., and Himmelman, J. H. 1993. Relation between escape behaviour of benthic marine invertebrates and the risk of predation. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. **170**: 55-74.
- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., and Miles E. 1997. Recruitment in the holothurian *Cucumaria frondosa* in the Gulf of Maine. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. **31**: 123-133.
- Medeiros-Bergen, D.E., Olson, R.R., Conroy, J.A., and Kocher, T.D. 1995. Distribution of holothurian larvae determined with species-specific genetic probes. Limnol.
 Oceanogr. 40: 1225-1235.
- Robinson, S.M.C., Bernier, S., and MacIntyre, A. 2001. The impact of scallop drags on sea urchin populations and benthos in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. Hydrobiologia
 465: 103-114.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton, P. and Thomas, M.L.H. 1998. Feeding response of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) to changing food concentrations in the laboratory. Can. J. Zool. 76: 1842-1849.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Thomas, M.L.H. and Lawton, P. 1999. Patterns of seasonal and tidal feeding activity in the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 187: 133-145.
- Singh, R., MacDonald, B.A., Lawton, P. and Thomas, M.L.H. 2001. The reproductive biology of the dendrochirote sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Echinodermata:

Holothuroidea) using new quantitative methods. Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. 40: 125-141.

Smirnov, A. V. 1994. Arctic echinoderms: composition, distribution and history of the fauna. *In* Echinoderms through time. *Edited by* B. David, A. Guille, J.-P. Féral and M. Roux: A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam, Netherlands. pp. 135-143.

4.5 Tables

Table 4-1: Summar	y of ecological	and biological	characteristics of	Cucumaria frondosa
		0		.'

Traits	Characteristics	Sources
Feeding	Feeds on phytoplankton, phytodetritus and other particulate matter.	Hamel and Mercier 1998; This study
	Seasonal feeding attuned to food abundance; can withstand prolonged fasting periods with no detriment to reproduction.	Hamel and Mercier 1996a; 1998; Singh et al. 1998; 2001
	Non-feeding periods result in a shrinking of body size.	David and MacDonald 2002; This study
Reproduction	Iteroparous.	Hamel and Mercier 1995; 1996b; This study
	Size at sexual maturity: 8-11 cm, contracted length.	Hamel and Mercier 1996b; Grant 2006
	Massive annual broadcast spawning correlated with environmental factors.	Hamel and Mercier 1995; 1996b; Singh et al. 2001, This study
	High natural fertilization rates.	Hamel and Mercier 1996e
	Gametogenic synchrony between distant populations by chemical communication.	Hamel and Mercier 1996a; 1999
	Intermediate fecundity (ca. 9,000 eggs).	Hamel and Mercier 1996b, 2008
Larval development and ecology	Naturally long larval development times (ca. 4-7 weeks).	Hamel and Mercier 1996b; This study
	Environmentally dependent larval development rates.	Hamel and Mercier 1996b; This study
	Positively buoyant larvae found high in water column.	Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1995; Hamel and Mercier 1996b; 1996d
	Settle on hard substrates in cryptic habitats.	Hamel and Mercier 1996b; Medeiros-Bergen et al. 1997
Growth	Varies with depth, food availability and size class. From larvae in the lab: 2-16 mm y ⁻¹ .	Hamel and Mercier 1996b; This study
	From 35 mm in the field: $3-24$ mm y ⁻¹ .	
	Various size-classes in the lab: 0-3 mm y ⁻¹ (annual growth can be null or weakly negative).	
	All values = contracted length (CL).	
Population ecology	Distributed from shallows to great depths (ca. 20-1300 m).	Jordan 1972; Brinkhurst et al. 1975; Hamel and Mercier 1996a; 2008; JF. Hamel personal observation
	Sex ratio of 1:1.	Coady 1973; Hamel and Mercier 1995, 1996b, 2008
	Can colonize bedrock, boulder, gravely and sandy habitats.	Klugh 1923; Hamel and Mercier 1996b; Grant 2006; Grant et al. 2006; CSAR 2006; Kirshenbaum 2006; This study

Traits	Characteristics	Sources
Population ecology	Can be found in areas of intermediate salinity (e.g. estuaries).	Hamel and Mercier 1996a; Singh et al. 2001
	Adapted to Arctic conditions.	Smirnov 1994; Gudimova et al. 2004
Predation	Well developed anti-predatory response to a predator (<i>S. endeca</i>), from post-metamorphic juvenile to adult stages.	Legult and Himmelman 1993; This study
	Damaged sea cucumbers can attract predators and are vulnerable to scavengers.	Robinson et al. 2001; This study
	Juveniles are subject to grazing predation by Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis.	Hamel and Mercier 1996b, 2008
Genetic structure	High historical gene flow across the the North Atlantic.	This study
	Genetic patchiness at local levels.	This study
	High genetic diversity as a result of old populations.	This study

Table 4-1 continued

Table 4-2: Summary of ecological	and biological	characteristics	of Cucumaria	frondosa
on the St. Pierre Bank.				

Traits	Characteristics	Sources
Morphometrics	Dry and immersed weights are the most accurate measures of sea cucumber size.	This study
	Morphometric variations in relation to environment (e.g. smaller individuals found on soft sandy substrate).	This study
Reproduction	Annual spawning from March to May.	Grant et al. 2006; This study
	Size at sexual maturity ca. 9-11 cm contracted length, ca. 7.3 size index.	Grant et al. 2006
Growth	Maximum growth (ca. 1.4 cm mo ⁻¹ , 0.75 g mo ⁻¹ , 12- 25 % size increase) during periods of high food abundance (spring).	This study
	Various size-classes in the lab: annual [Dec-Dec] growth can be null or very low $(0-1.4 \text{ cm yr}^{-1}, 0.3-1.6 \text{ g yr}^{-1})$.	
	All values = contracted length and immersed weight.	
	Slow growth to commercial size (CL: 15cm) (estimated at min ca. 25 years).	This study
Population ecology	Distributed from 10 to 101 m.	DFO data
	Sex ratio of 1:1.	Grant et al. 2006
	Can colonize bedrock, boulder, gravely and sandy habitats.	Grant et al. 2006; CSAR 2006; This study
	Seasonal variations in body wall thickness.	Grant et al. 2006
Predation	Average size of sea star predator Solaster endeca ca. 7.5 cm radius.	DFO data
	Damaged sea cucumbers can attract predators	This study
	Predation rates of adult <i>Solaster endeca</i> on adult <i>C</i> . <i>frondosa</i> (2-4 sea cucumbers mo^{-1} , 0.012 ind m^{-2} removed annually).	
	Juveniles are subject to predation by juveniles of <i>Solaster endeca</i> .	This study
Genetic structure	High west to east gene flow in the North Atlantic.	This study
	Genetic patchiness at local levels.	This study
	High genetic diversity as a result of old populations.	This study

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: List of presentations delivered

- Science before the fishery Growth rates, predation, gene flow and substrate related health status of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*, Newfoundland and Labrador. Oral presentation at the Sea Cucumber Industry Meeting, May 14-15, 2007. Marystown, NL, Canada.
- 2. Growth rate and predation pressure as key factors in the management of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea) in Eastern Canada. Poster presentation at the Advancing the Science of Limnology and Oceanography (ASLO) conference, June 8-13, 2008. St. John's, NL, Canada.
- 3. Science before the fishery Growth rates, predation, and gene flow of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa*. Oral presentation at the Atlantic Sea Cucumber Workshop, June 17-18, 2008. Halifax, NS, Canada.
- 4. Growth rate and predation pressure as key factors in the management of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea) in Eastern Canada. Poster presentation at the 5th North American Echinoderm Conference, July 20-26, 2008. Melbourne, FL, USA.
- Mitochondrial DNA gene flow analysis in North Atlantic populations of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). Oral presentation at the 5th North American Echinoderm Conference, July 20-26, 2008. Melbourne, FL, USA.
- 6. Glacial persistence in North Atlantic populations of *Cucumaria frondosa* (Holothuroidea: Echinodermata). Poster presentation at the 13th International Echinoderm Conference, January 5-9, 2009. Hobart, TAS, Australia.
- 7. Assessment of the biology, ecology and gene flow of the sea cucumber *Cucumaria frondosa* for management of the fishery. Oral presentation at the Sea cucumber Regional Advisory Process, April 6-7, 2009. St. John's, NL, Canada.

ID	BIC	HSC	CHC	WHC	LLC	CBU	CNU	PIC	P2C	3KC	ACC	HBC	SPC	TWC	4WC	HPC	MON	SKN	BEN	AKI
Α	1	1		2		1	1	2				1		1			1			2
В	1		1	2																1
C	1	1									2				1		2			
D	1	1	1				1	1										3		
E	1																			
F	1				1		1	1	2		1	1					3			2
G	1					1		1	1	1				1				3		1
Н	1																			
Ι	1			2													3	2		
J	2	5	4		4	3	3	4	8	1	2	2	3	3	4	2	2	3		6
К	1																			
L	1		2	1	1	2	1				1	1	1		1	2	2	1		
M	1																			
N	1		1	1		1					1		2							2
0		1																		1
Р		1																		
Q		1	1		l	1	1	1												1
R		1																		
S		1	2		1											1				1
Т			1																	
U			2																	
V			1																	
W			1																	
X			1																	
Y			3																	
Z			1				1													
Al			1																	
BI			1																	
C1			1																	
DI			1				1													
E1			1												1					
F1			1																	
Gl			1																	
H1				1																
11				1																

Appendix 2: *Cucumaria frondosa* CO1 haplotypes and their frequencies across 20 sample sites in the North Atlantic. See Table 3-1 for sample site identification (ID).

Appendix 2 continued

ID	BIC	HSC	CHC	WHC	LLC	CBU	CNU	PIC	P2C	3KC	ACC	HBC	SPC	TWC	4WC	HPC	MON	SKN	BEN	AKI
JI				1	1							1								
K1				2			2	1	1	i			1				2			2
LI				1																
Ml				1																
NI				1																
OI D1				I	1															
PI					1															
Q1 D1					1															
S1					1															
TI					1															
III					1		1													
VI					1		ĩ													
W1					1															
XI					1															1
Y1						1														-
Z1						1											1			
A2						1														
B2						1														
C2						1														
D2						1														
E2							1													
F2							ł													
G2							1													
H2							1													2
12							1													
J2 KD							I	1												
K2 1.2								l 1												
M2								1												
N2								1												
T2								1									3			
U2								1	1			1					5			
V2									1			í		1						
W2									1			1		*						
X2									1			-								

Appendix 2 continued

ID	BIC	HSC	CHC	WHC	LLC	CBU	CNU	PIC	P2C	3KC	ACC	HBC	SPC	TWC	4WC	HPC	MON	SKN	BEN	AKI
Y2								_	2											
Z2									1					1						
A3									1											
B3									1											
C3									1											
D3									1											
E3									1											
F3									1											
G3										1										
H3											1									
13											1									
J3											1									
K3											1									
L3											1									
M3											1									
N3											1									
03											1									
P3												1								
Q3												1								
R3												1								
S 3												1								
T3												1								
U3												1								
V3												1								
W3												1								
X3												1								
Y3												1								I
Z3												1								
A4												i								
B 4												I								
C4												1								
D4													1							
E4													1							
F4														1						
G4														1						
H4														1						
I4														1						

Appendix 2 continued

ID	BIC	HSC	CHC	WHC	LLC	CBU	CNU	P1C	P2C	3KC	ACC	HBC	SPC	TWC	4WC	HPC	MON	SKN	BEN	AKI
J4														1						
K4														1						
L4														1						
M4														1						
N4														1						
04														1						
P4															1					
Q4															1					
R4															1					
S4															I					
T4															1					
U4															1					
V4															1					
W4																	1			
X4																	1			
Y4																	I			I
Z4																			1	
A5																			1	
82																			1	
CS																			I	1
D5																				1
ED																				1
FD																				1
U5 115																				1
п.) 15																				1
15																				1
JJ KS																1				1
15																1				
M5																1				
1410																L				

.



